ARIS P.E. 12-31-02 O-28074 RECD S.E.C. MAY 1 2 2003

















2002 ANNUAL REPORT

PROCESSED

MAY 1 3 2003

THOMSON FINANCIAL



For the fiscal year that ended December 31, 2002, consolidated service revenues were \$173.8 million, a 47-percent decrease over consolidated service revenues of \$325.2 million for 2001. Loss from continuing operations on a U.S. GAAP basis for the year totaled \$222.5 million, or \$1.78 per diluted share, compared to a loss of \$185.8 million, or \$1.50 per diluted share, for the year 2001.

During the second half of 2002, we began to see improvement in our service revenues. Our service revenues increased from \$39.7 million for the second quarter of 2002 to \$43.0 million and \$41.9 million for the third and fourth quarters of 2002, respectively. Our annualized service revenues per billable employee improved from \$109,000 for the second quarter of 2002 to \$137,000 for the fourth quarter of 2002. Our utilization rate improved from 52 percent for the second quarter of 2002 to 64 percent for the fourth quarter of 2002.

Throughout 2002, we also achieved continual reductions in our project-personnel costs, selling and marketing costs, and general and administrative costs. These costs declined 31 percent to \$50.0 million for the fourth quarter of 2002, from \$72.2 million for the first quarter of 2002. We took a number of restructuring and cost-cutting actions in 2002 that we expect will result in further cost reductions in 2003. We finished 2002 with a strong balance sheet, with combined cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and marketable investments of \$181.4 million at year-end.

# To our shareholders,

2002 was a year of transition for Sapient. In an extremely challenging market, we stabilized our revenues and, compared to the second quarter, experienced modest growth in the final six months of the year. We also made great strides in our cost structure, better preparing us to return to the profitability we enjoyed for almost ten years. We believe our performance in the latter part of 2002, when virtually all other consulting and systems integration companies saw revenue declines, indicates that the changes we made over the last two years are paying off. We knew it would not be easy to fundamentally change our execution model by leveraging a globally distributed workforce, particularly in the midst of such market turmoil, but it was necessary for the long-term success of the company. When combined with our proven fixed-price approach and extensive industry, business-process, technology, and Adoption Management<sup>5M</sup> expertise, the changes we made set us apart in a highly competitive market. We will remember 2002 as a year that was difficult but fruitful, as the hard choices and tough decisions we made began to solidify our position for the future.

# Some Highlights

- → We experienced modest growth in our revenues compared to the second quarter of 2002, marking an end to the significant declines we experienced in 2001 and early 2002.
- → We maintained our industry-leading track record for delivering high-value, advanced technology solutions on a fixed-price, fixed-time basis with more than 80 percent of engagements—three times better than the industry average—being on time and on budget since 1996.
- → Our client-satisfaction scores were among the highest levels we have experienced, indicating that our clients continue to be very satisfied with the results we deliver.
- → We completed a successful transition to our Globally Distributed Delivery<sup>SM</sup> (GDD) model, which allows us to provide high-value solutions and Application Management Services with significant cost benefits to our clients. Even with the most complex engagements, our clients responded favorably to our model, clearly embracing the value in terms of quality and total cost that GDD provides. By the end of 2002, 57 percent of our service revenues involved GDD, and Application Management Services represented 8 percent of Sapient's overall revenues, up from 4 percent in 2001.
- → We dramatically improved our cost structure and continue to weather soft market demand while making strategic investments to improve our business and client service.
- → We reaped the benefits of the business-development reengineering that we began in 2001. The percentage of engagements our teams won in competitive situations increased significantly from 2001 to 2002, and we had an overall increase in repeat business from existing clients as a percentage of service revenues over the same period.

	2002	2001	Change
Service Revenues (in thousands)	\$173,811	\$325,165	(\$151,354)
Loss From Continuing Operations (in thousands)	(\$222,462)	(\$185,809)	(\$36,653)
Loss Per Share From Continuing Operations	(\$1.78)	(\$1.50)	(\$0.28)

### The Market and Our Clients

2002 was another tough year for our industry. In addition to ongoing economic challenges, there was increased scrutiny of leading global organizations, their management teams, and boards of directors. Entire industry segments, such as Energy, Transportation, and Telecommunications, faced significant turmoil caused by bankruptcies, accounting issues, and other irregularities. This condition distracted many organizations and their executives from making strategic IT improvements and decisions.

The clients who did decide to invest in technology services demanded solutions tailored to their specific business needs at lower costs than in the past. Following two years of little to no investment by leading organizations, corporations began moving forward later in 2002 with their most strategic initiatives. Where clear business value could be demonstrated, clients began to invest to improve their businesses while remaining cost-conscious and requiring greater value from their external providers. Pressure to reduce prices was even more significant in 2002 as competitors aggressively discounted fees. In addition to demanding lower pricing, our clients expected deeper industry knowledge and technology expertise as well as skills in a wide variety of other areas. Finally, clients outsourced more of their technology support and operation needs to external providers, and we saw a continued trend to consolidate applications and technologies in order to drive down costs and increase efficiency.

### Sapient's Strategy

Our strategy positioned Sapient to meet the challenges posed by our clients and the market and has proven that we can weather these times of uncertainty and position ourselves for growth. We deploy services tailored to the demands our clients face every day, provide an infrastructure that gives clients greater value at a lower cost, and leverage talented professionals who are deeply committed to our clients' success. This formula allowed us to take advantage of the market dynamics described earlier by addressing our clients' specific needs while managing the realities of an overall soft demand for technology services. We delivered a range of services—from enterprise architecture planning, to developing, integrating, and deploying strategic applications, to supporting our clients' technology operations—all with a determined focus on delivering measurable results. We furthered this strategy in 2002 in a number of key areas.

### Measurable Business Results

In a market where organizations have struggled historically to realize business benefits from technology, Sapient's clients continue to experience substantive benefits from the projects we implement and support. Our passion and skill for delivering results can be measured by our high client-satisfaction ratings and our industry-leading track record of delivering over 80 percent of project engagements on time and on budget. While on-time, on-budget delivery has always been and will continue to be of great importance, buyer values have shifted, and more clients now demand clear, tangible results from their technology investments. We responded to this change by ensuring that our teams knew the results our clients expected and measured their performance against those expectations. And with our Performance Pricing offer, we have begun to align our fees with the attainment of specific measurable results—in terms of both placing our fees at risk and sharing the reward when results are exceeded. Our success in delivering clear results to our clients is demonstrated by the client-satisfaction ratings our teams received—among the highest in our history. This strengthened awareness of the value Sapient creates has contributed to new long-term agreements and an overall increase in repeat business from existing clients as a percentage of our service revenues.

## Globally Distributed Delivery

With GDD, we are well-positioned to exploit the growing offshore demand for technology services and overcome the pricing pressures prevalent in today's market. Our unique approach to global delivery increases the value our clients received from their technology investments by dramatically reducing the cost and increasing the speed of delivery. By the end of 2002, 57 percent of our revenue involved GDD—compared to 37 percent at the end of 2001.

GDD allows us to respond to our clients' desire to benefit from offshore cost differences for even the most complex application-development efforts. Because we employ a sophisticated requirements-capturing methodology, effective project management, and a proven fixed-price, fixed-time approach, our clients reap the value of offshore delivery without the risk.

#### Application Management Services

Leveraging our GDD model, we rapidly grew our services to support and manage our clients' existing and new applications, helping them maximize ongoing value from their investments at a substantially reduced cost over internal or other market alternatives. From the end of 2001 to the end of 2002, we expanded our Application Management Services business and maintained high service and client-satisfaction levels. This business represented 8 percent of revenues in the fourth quarter of 2002, up from 4 percent in 2001, and provides a recurring-revenue stream that adds to the predictability of our revenue performance.

#### Industry Focus

In the United States, our industry-aligned business model matured significantly, creating operational accountability across six industry leaders. We also gained significant traction in our other markets—Canada, the U.K., and Germany—toward an industry-aligned business model. This industry-based structure resulted in services tailored to the needs of specific industry segments, enabling us to commit resources—people, training, partnerships, and solutions—according to industry trends and client demands and create industry-specific solutions. One such solution, ClearTravel<sup>SM</sup>, is a corporate travel service that helps large corporations streamline their travel management programs and achieve maximum cost savings. Another, Energy Trading and Risk Management (ETRM), represents our deep understanding of the processes and needs that trading-related organizations have as the Energy industry navigates significant uncertainty and change brought on by the events of deregulation over the past several years. For our investors, industry alignment has created a stronger and more diversified client portfolio, which improves our ability to sustain and grow revenues and profitability.

#### Service Offerings

We leveraged existing and new services and solutions to address the growing need among clients to obtain value from previous investments. As a growing part of our strategy, we work with a number of clients to improve returns from IT investments by planning their application portfolio and enterprise architecture. With Rapid Enterprise Architecture Planning<sup>SM</sup> (REAP), we helped many clients streamline their IT operations and prioritize investments in technology. REAP defines and maps out a company's technology strategy and enables it to achieve tangible benefits in the short term while laying out a road map for long-term architecture planning and implementation. Another way to capture more value from previous investments is to ensure or increase the adoption of technology solutions. With Adoption Management<sup>SM</sup>, we employ unique user research expertise to increase user adoption of new and existing applications and processes in a client's organization. Today, Sapient is the only major firm in our industry that has maintained a deep user research capability to develop compelling solutions for our clients. We leverage both of these services across industries and geographies to solve the problem of obtaining value from previous investments.

#### Improved Cost Structure

To meet market demand, we moved our cost structure considerably closer to our desired state and managed our business-development operation to end the year in a healthier financial position. We have aligned our billable staff to better reflect our clients' geographic, skill, industry, and solution demands, resulting in higher staff utilization. We ended the year with a strong cash position, saw growth in the last two quarters of the year compared to the second quarter, and strengthened our recurring-revenue stream by emphasizing long-term relationships and Application Management Services with our clients.

# Looking Forward

For 2003, global economic and political uncertainty, industry turmoil in many market segments, and stiff competition will continue. But we believe the severe decline we experienced in demand for technology services has subsided, and, for some sectors, we are cautiously optimistic about growth.

We see a number of critical factors for buyers of advanced technology solutions and believe we are well-positioned to serve clients in the current climate:

- → Clients will only make investments that are justified clearly up front and can be realized in the near term. Business cases that are clear and measurable will be necessary before investments are made.
- → Buyers will expand their use of offshore resources in more situations and for varying levels of complexity while continuing to expect high quality from their providers.
- → Demand for skilled program management, architecture, business, and user experience expertise will continue to rise as companies try to manage the risk of strategic technology initiatives and complex projects, whether or not an offshore model is employed.
- → The value-to-cost relationship will remain just as important as buyers continue their cost-conscious behavior and as capacity in the technology services industry exceeds demand.

Through our unique combination of a proven fixed-price approach and extensive industry, business-process, technology, and Adoption Management expertise, Sapient provides truly singular value and quality. Also, as the trend toward outsourcing technology support and operations continues to gain momentum, we are well-positioned to offer excellence in quality and service at competitive rates.

We firmly believe our core services—planning, deploying, and supporting our clients' enterprise technology investments—combined with our laser-sharp focus on creating business impact, will position us to participate more often in our clients' critical business decisions and operations and lead to increases in recurring revenue and long-term commitments.

In 2003, we will remain focused on delivering more value to our clients, continuing and improving our industry-leading track record for engagement execution, creating more long-term relationships with our clients, and driving our business back to growth and profitability.

Thank you for your continued support,

J. Stuart Moore

Co-Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer

Jerry A. Greenberg

Co-Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer

# Helping Opodo Transform the Online Travel Market with the First Pan-European Travel Portal

Nine of Europe's leading airlines decided to create a company that would provide customers with good-value deals, a wide choice of destinations, and excellent customer service. Opodo-the joint venture of British Airways, Air France, Alitalia, Iberia, KLM, Lufthansa, Aer Lingus, Austrian Airlines, and Finnair-engaged with Sapient in the autumn of 2000 to rapidly enter a market where competitors were gaining momentum. Opodo aimed to capture share in the dramatically growing online travel market and provide a low-cost distribution channel for all its product providers. Opodo and Sapient, along with a number of suppliers, designed and delivered a consumer portal built on cross-market business systems integrated with all partners, which quickly established Opodo as one of the top travel sites and the first pan-European travel portal. Opodo launched in Germany in November 2001, in the U.K. in January 2002, and in France in April 2002. It has been ranked consistently with in the top five most trafficked travel sites in the U.K. and the top three in France and Germany (Source: Nielsen NetRatings).

Planning, Managing, Delivering, and Supporting on a Massive Scale Opodo offers consumers a range of travel products, including flights from over 400 airlines, hotel bookings from 30,000 hotel properties, a worldwide fleet of over 750,000 hire cars, and travel insurance. As its partner, Sapient assisted Opodo in almost every critical area of building the new business: technology development and integration, design for user adoption, integration with the customer service and fulfillment partners, rollout

planning, and round-the-clock ongoing application support and maintenance. Along the way, we engaged with over 20 different vendors, including Amadeus, Broadvision, Documentum, eSubstance, and TRX, and leveraged our Globally Distributed Delivery (GDD) model across offices in Europe, the United States, and India.

# Ensuring High-Value Results through Adoption and Use

To ensure adoption of the product by Opodo's target market, the portal was designed to directly address the way customers actually plan and purchase travel. Sapient established this knowledge with our proprietary research and analysis approach to understanding the needs of users and managing adoption throughout organizations. We integrated the localized content with booking functionality and created a comprehensive content taxonomy to support a seamless planning and booking experience. To make sure the site was simple, inspiring, and engaging, we tested, validated, and revised the design with actual customers every step of the way. And once the crossmarket business systems and offerings were in place, we created and localized the site content; language, currency, and methods of payment and delivery to ensure relevance in each of Opodo's marketplaces.

# Partnering for Success through Complex Global Delivery

In keeping with our commitment to delivering highly complex technology in expedited time frames for a reduced cost-without the risk-Sapient helped bring Opodo to market using a team of around 120 people and our GDD model. As part of the core solution, we integrated the Amadeus 1A-Res booking engine into Opodo's business infrastructure to provide flight, hotel, and car information and booking capability. Sapient also implemented Broadvision's One-to-One and Travel Commerce packages for page delivery and personalization and Documentum's solution for content entry and publishing, and we custom-developed content feeds and financial reconciliation in Java. The team worked across several locations to integrate the Amadeus travel distribution system in Munich; customer-service and fulfillment centers in Germany, the U.K., and other markets; back-office processing centers; and the paymentservice provider in Dublin. Since the launch, we have established on-site and offshore support and maintenance of the applications as well as a helpdesk, assisted with a data warehouse to manage customers and marketing efforts, and established and transitioned processes for the program management office. The strategic relationship between Opodo and Sapient is a proven partnership focused on achieving clear business value and introducing a fundamentally better offering to the travel industry.

# Partnering with Nissan to Bring Creative and Technological Leadership to the Automotive Industry

The past three years have been truly remarkable for Nissan North America. Once lagging well behind other automakers, Nissan now enjoys record sales based on an exciting, reinvigorated lineup of models and a well-executed web campaign to revive its Nissan and Infiniti brands-many supported by industry-leading interactive initiatives built and maintained by Sapient. For more than three years, Sapient has provided Nissan North America with critical thought leadership and solid execution to improve its business, brand, and relationships. As Nissan North America's key interactive partner for the past three years, we maintain a highly responsive agency-style relationship that involves strategy, design, implementation, and maintenance for Nissan's full portfolio of consumer-facing web services. Nissan is committed to web-based initiatives aimed at connecting with consumers, tightening relationships with dealers, and immersing users in an interactive experience that inspires and educates-all with a keen focus on increasing sales.

Delivering a Return on Investment from Interactive Experiences
Nissan North America's sites at
NissanUSA.com and Infiniti.com have generated over 9 million unique visits each month between the two brands.

The sites serve as both upper and lower purchase-funnel marketing tools, immersing consumers in inspirational brand environments that help consumers choose and locate the Nissan or Infiniti vehicle that best suits their needs and wants. We have helped Nissan accomplish this through clear brand messages, high-impact design, straightforward navigation, and a sophisticated and intuitive Locate-to-Order (LTO) system. These initiatives combined with Nissan's own powerful e-lead management activities have contributed to thousands of new vehicle sales.

The Internet is now an integral part of Nissan's sales and marketing business practices. In fact, industry experts estimate that approximately 70 percent of new car buyers use the website before they make a purchase. A December 2002 Forrester Research study rated Nissan as the best in overall performance out of eight major auto brand sites in converting visitors into test-drivers.

To bring upcoming vehicles to market, the initial teaser release offers the first glimpses of the automobile, and, as the overall positioning for the vehicle is developed, new versions of these smaller sites are released—all playing a role in the constant evolution of the main sites. Print and broadcast advertising often drive traffic to the site, and Sapient works closely with Nissan's other creative partners to ensure consistency across all channels. We have also developed methodologies to fully integrate and leverage the traditional one-off initiatives to increase both Nissan's ROI and market impact.

# Using Technology to Evolve the Brand

In 2002, Nissan launched SHIFT\_, a global brand communication platform that both invites and challenges car buyers to shift their perspectives in a variety of ways, including their views about Nissan. Sapient, working with Nissan's advertising agency, TBWA/Chiat/Day, used the Internet's richness and potential for intimacy to deepen the brand messages seen on television and in print advertising. Nissan's impressive, award-winning product portfolio—including the Altima and 350Z and the Infiniti G35—backed by honest, original, thrilling, and inspiring offline and online communications, has led to improved Nissan and Infiniti brand performance against its competitors in North America—a change that is mirrored by record sales growth in the region.

# Leading the Industry with a Locate-to-Order (LTO) System

Also in 2002, Nissan, Sapient, and a team of other firms implemented a sophisticated, integrated system that allows visitors to choose a vehicle, select a model trim, choose options and accessories, and then locate similar automobiles in nearby dealers' inventories. To accomplish this, we needed to integrate data from more than a dozen sources. The result is a quick, clean, efficient way to drive potential buyers to dealer showrooms, leading Forrester Research to call it one of the best examples of Locate-to-Order (LTO) functionality in the business and cite its excellence in many of its presentations. Sapient now provides Nissan with the strategic and technical support necessary to maintain and evolve this impressive capability.

# Maintaining Business Stability with Flexible, Dependable Support

To ensure the immediate and long-term value of the Nissan sites, Sapient provides high-impact strategic and creative support. In addition, we provide round-the-clock application support with our Globally Distributed Delivery (GDD) model. The sites are running at benchmarked performance levels, they are consistently up to date and accurate, and there is continuous improvement and planning for the future. From a technology perspective, we have established processes to rapidly update vehicle information, perform preemptive maintenance to minimize production problems, and monitor the application for preemptive identification and resolution of potential issues.

From strategy to implementation to support, Sapient has partnered with Nissan to deliver measurable business value and build a mutually beneficial relationship.

# Helping the NYISO Leverage Advanced Technology to Bring Efficiency and Standards to the Northeast Power Grid

Sapient and the New York Independent System Operator (NYISO) have been partners since 2000 and have worked together on a number of initiatives to bring technology leadership to the Northeast's energy markets. The relationship has led to a wide variety of business solutions that have leveraged all of Sapient's core competencies. In 2000, we executed a Rapid Enterprise Architecture Planning (REAP) project to define NYISO's future IT strategy. This involved thorough analysis of current and future business and technology requirements to define an enterprise architecture road map, which serves as a blueprint for many of NYISO's information technology initiatives. Additionally, we defined a billing strategy to shorten invoice schedules and improve accuracy, designed and delivered a market monitoring and reporting solution that maps data from multiple systems, implemented TIBCO adapters to deliver real-time data to the web and reporting tools, performed extensive user research to understand the needs of NYISO's market participants, and redesigned the NYISO public website. Most recently, using a web services architecture, we delivered an Open Scheduling System (OSS), which is a flexible application for solving inter-control area scheduling issues. The long-lasting relationship between NYISO and Sapient is a testament to the value of strong partnerships that focus on high-impact technology.

# Gaining Flexibility with an Open Scheduling System

Developing the OSS was the largest and most

challenging NYISO project by far. NYISO wanted to create an open standard among the marketplaces of neighboring control areas to solve "seams" issues in the Northeast region. With the OSS, NYISO planned to reduce market participants' cost of doing business by making the entire life cycle of power-market transactions more efficient. To help NYISO achieve its longterm vision of efficient interaction, trade, and communication within and across control areas, Sapient worked with NYISO to design a flexible application that includes a set of easily adopted tools. Prior to the launch of OSS, market participants had to enter trading information into multiple control areas' market systems. This exacerbated data entry errors and resulted in mismatched and derated transactions. To resolve these issues, we integrated disparate bidding and scheduling systems and provided a common set of business structures that are flexible enough to accommodate the specific business rules of individual control areas.

# Applying a Broad Set of Skills and a Flexible Delivery Model

To develop an improved user interface and enhanced functionality, Sapient started by applying our user research and design methodology. From here we created extensible messaging standards to prepare the OSS for evolving market rules. Using our Globally Distributed Delivery (GDD) model, we achieved a shortened testing cycle through round-the-clock fixing and testing in Cambridge, Massachusetts, and New Delhi,

India. Currently, NYISO and Sapient are talking to additional neighboring control areas in the Northeast with the goal of expanding the OSS to their power markets. Each additional control area that integrates and adopts the OSS will have an exponential impact on the efficiency of power-market transactions in the Northeast region.

# Using Advanced Technology to Raise the Bar for the Energy Industry

Throughout the OSS implementation,
Sapient leveraged considerable expertise in
web services and created powerful open
standards for the marketplace. We overcame
the technical challenges of distributing
transactions over Simple Object Access
Protocol (SOAP), maintaining "state" within
a web service (web services are "stateless" by
definition), ensuring secure transmissions
between control area nodes, and designing
for interoperability among nodes regardless of
the technology used in each control area.

The result is a strengthened partnership based on shared challenges, risks, and successes and a series of technology breakthroughs that will set the standard for the energy industry.

۰7۰

Case Study: BESSEMER TRUST

# Improving Client Retention for Bessemer Trust with Strategic Technology Enhancements

For over 95 years, Bessemer Trust has defined wealth management through personalized client service and expert financial counseling for high-net-worth individuals and select institutions. The firm, which has the leading client-to-staff ratio in the industry, knew that in order to retain its competitive position in the extremely attractive wealth management sector and meet growing client expectations, it needed to carefully examine how to use technology to better understand and service its clients.

Bessemer Trust knew that its existing systems had the potential to provide more consistent service for its clients. To capture the full value of its technology investments, Bessemer Trust partnered with Sapient to design, develop, integrate, and implement a client relationship management (CRM) solution and an enterprise architecture. As a result of the ream's work, Bessemer Trust's technology can now support the firm's overall imperative of 100 percent client retention. The scalable, enterprise-wide platform allows the firm to develop and integrate applications, and, more importantly, view and manage its client data in a consistent and reliable manner.

# Ensuring a Higher Level of Client Service and Reliability

Because of its size and focus, Bessemer Trust needed technology solutions that promised sustainability, easy maintenance, and reliability. The firm wanted to enhance its competitive position by leveraging technology to build on its already impressive client-to-staff ratio, but its existing systems did not meet the firm's client-service aspirations. For example, client teams required numerous manual reports to access current and historical data, and key client information and activities, such as birthdates, investment objectives, personal interests, and conversations, were stored in separate systems or spreadsheets. With the implementation of a CRM solution, Bessemer Trust is now able to view, retain, and manage its customer data in a consistent and reliable manner.

Customer data, including call scheduling, activity-tracking and alerts, mail merge, and relationship approval workflow, are now easily accessible to Bessemer Trust professionals, giving them the tools to serve their clients more effectively.

# Implementing a Framework to Reduce Costs and Support Technology Evolution

The firm also wanted to improve the infrastructure and organization required to deliver and integrate future technology solutions. Sapient designed an enterprise architecture to help Bessemer Trust reduce and, in some cases, eliminate costly development and maintenance of point-to-point integrations with various systems.

It also provides the firm with a single data source for all application and reporting needs. Finally, the enterprise architecture gives
Bessemer Trust a robust and extensible platform for developing future applications. These enhancements to Bessemer Trust's technology portfolio bring value to its clients in the form of improved reporting and more effective interactions with Bessemer Trust professionals.

"Sapient understood the importance of our client relationships and the role technology could play to deepen and improve those relationships. The team's technology expertise helped us implement a solution that will reap near- and long-term value for Bessemer Trust and its clients."

Mary Martinez, Managing Director, Gessemer Trust

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

# Form 10-K

✓ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 0-28074

# **Sapient Corporation**

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

#### Delaware

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization)

#### 04-3130648

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

#### ONE MEMORIAL DRIVE, CAMBRIDGE, MA 02142

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(617) 621-0200

(Registrant's Telephone Number, Including Area Code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, \$.01 par value per share

Indicate by check mark whether the Company (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Company was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes  $\square$  No  $\square$ 

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the Company's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendments to this Form 10-K.  $\square$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Yes  $\square$  No  $\square$ 

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Company was approximately \$89,100,000 on June 30, 2002 based on the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock on the Nasdaq National Market on June 30, 2002. There were 119,905,809 shares of the Company's common stock outstanding as of February 27, 2003.

#### DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on June 5, 2003 are incorporated by reference in Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Part III of this Report.

#### SAPIENT CORPORATION

# ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2002

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
Item 1.	Business	2
Item 2.	Properties	7
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings	7
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	7
Item 5.	Market for Company's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters	9
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data	9
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of	12
T4 7 A	Operations.	12
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	44
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	45
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	85
Item 10.	Directors and Executive Officers of the Company	85
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	85
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	85
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions	85
Item 14.	Statement of Fees Paid to Independent Auditors	85
Item 15.	Controls and Procedures	85
Item 16.	Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K	86
Signatures	_	87
	Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	88
Certification	Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	89
Certification	Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	90
Certification	Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	91

#### SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements included in this Annual Report, other than statements of historical facts, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives are forward-looking statements. When used in this Annual Report, the words "will," "believe," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "expect," "project" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. We cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including the risks described in Part II. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or strategic investments. In addition, any forward-looking statements represent our expectation only as of the day this Annual Report was first filed with the SEC and should not be relied on as representing our expectations as of any subsequent date. While we may elect to update forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we specifically disclaim any obligation to do so, even if our expectations change.

#### PART I

#### Item 1. Business

#### General

Sapient, a leading business and technology consultancy, helps Global 2000 clients achieve measurable business results through the rapid application and support of advanced technology, primarily on a fixed-price basis. We are focused on *making technology matter*<sup>SM</sup>, by identifying, implementing and supporting technology-enabled solutions that create near- and long-term business value for our clients. We create value for our clients through our unique approach: a passion for delivering measurable business results; a fundamentally different methodology; a commitment to fixed-price and fixed-time delivery; our expertise in globally distributed delivery; and our ability to design our solutions for adoption.

Through our global presence, we understand and address the business issues that our clients are facing in both local and global contexts. In addition to offices in nine cities throughout the United States, we have offices in Düsseldorf, London, Munich, New Delhi and Toronto, and we own 50% of the voting stock of a consulting joint venture in Milan. Further information about our international operations is located in Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report. We employed approximately 1,425 people worldwide as of February 28, 2003.

We have leveraged this global presence to create our Global Distributed Delivery<sup>SM</sup> (GDD) model, which enables us to deliver complex, customized technology solutions across multiple geographies. Many distributed development models involve simply building software applications from a remote location or augmenting domestic project teams with resources that travel from overseas. Our GDD model, on the other hand, involves the complex, daily interaction of development teams in a remote location (typically highly skilled technology specialists in our New Delhi office) working closely with development and client teams in North America or Europe in a single, coordinated effort. In order to work effectively in this globally distributed environment, we have built extensive expertise in managing the daily transitions of software code, specifications and project management issues between the various development teams that are needed for continuous, around-the-clock project work. By utilizing our GDD model, we can deliver complex, high-quality solutions to our clients at a lower cost, and deliver these solutions more rapidly by working across multiple time zones. In the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, projects involving a GDD component accounted for 45% of our total service revenues.

We deliver our services in the United States primarily through six industry business units: financial services; technology and communications; consumer and transportation; automotive and industrial; public services; and energy services. We deliver our services in Europe primarily through our United Kingdom and Germany business units, and we deliver our services in Canada primarily through our Canadian business unit. Within our international business units, we focus our sales and delivery efforts on certain industry specializations. Through our global industry focus, we have developed an extensive understanding of our clients' markets and are able to effectively address the market dynamics and business opportunities that our clients face. This understanding further enables us to identify and focus on critical, industry-specific business processes that are specifically enabled by advanced technologies. Further information about our operating segments is located in Note 2 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report.

Sapient was incorporated in Delaware in 1991. Our executive offices are located at One Memorial Drive, Cambridge, MA 02142, and our telephone number is (617) 621-0200. Our stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "SAPE". Our Internet address is http://www.sapient.com. Material contained on our Web site is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual Report to "Sapient," "we," "us" or "our" refer to Sapient Corporation and its subsidiaries.

#### **Our Services**

We provide a wide range of business and technology consulting services that enable our clients to realize tangible business value from their advanced technology investments. We have many years of experience implementing advanced technologies that can improve our clients' businesses, including more than twelve years of experience with client/server and UNIX solutions, more than ten years of experience integrating package applications with legacy systems, more than eight years of experience with Internet solutions and more than six years of experience with wireless technologies. More recently, we have been an early implementor of new technologies such as Microsoft.NET and Web Services. We combine this technology expertise with our design skills and our deep understanding of user needs to ensure that our client solutions are effectively adopted by their intended audiences. The following are examples of the types of services that generate business value for our clients:

Customer Relationship Management. We assist our clients in improving their customer relationships by focusing their business processes and technology infrastructure on the needs and wants of their customers. By increasing their customer focus, our clients can better retain their customers and reduce their costs of customer service. The primary aim of our customer relationship management solutions is to systematically use information about customer wants and needs to create and maintain the desired customer experience consistently across all channels of customer interaction. We focus on integrating our solutions across multiple sales channels and with diverse legacy systems, in order to create a user-centered experience that is consistent, reliable and easy-to-use.

High-Volume Transaction Systems. We have extensive experience designing and implementing online portals, exchanges, purchasing systems, retail Internet sites and other transaction-processing systems capable of reliably handling very large volumes of transactions. These systems also reduce processing time and lower our clients' operating costs. We further enhance the value provided by these systems by integrating the online channel with other distribution systems such as catalog systems and in-store kiosks. We also assist our clients in improving and integrating their business processes to optimize the effectiveness of these transaction systems.

Interactive Brand Experiences. We enable our clients to strengthen their communications with prospective customers by designing and developing high-impact interactive marketing applications and Internet "microsites." Our strong design capabilities and our expertise in understanding user experience create business value for our clients by allowing them to enhance their target customers' understanding of, and interest in, our clients' offerings.

Learning Services. We help our clients enhance interactions with their employees, customers and suppliers by developing learner-centered solutions that generate valuable feedback, improved user understanding and increased loyalty. These solutions include knowledge management systems and workflows, enhanced support tools, intranets and interactive training solutions. These learning solutions also offer cost savings to our clients by increasing the desired utilization of their technology systems and business processes by their employees, customers and suppliers.

Rapid Enterprise Architecture Planning (REAP). We partner with our clients to develop enterprise architecture blueprints in highly compressed time frames. Combining our deep expertise in diverse technologies, our understanding of our clients' business issues and our collaborative  $Fusion^{\rm SM}$  workshops, we can, within four to eight weeks, clarify and optimize our clients' technology infrastructure, redefine their supporting organizational and business processes and develop a road map to achieving their desired technology portfolio.

Software Packages and Legacy Systems. We are often able to provide the most value to our clients by leveraging existing high-quality software packages and our clients' own legacy systems in our solutions. We have many years of experience implementing solutions using package applications such as application integration packages, content management and delivery systems, customer relationship management software and order management systems. We combine our custom development expertise with these package applications, and we fully integrate the finished product with our clients' legacy systems.

Supply Chain Management. We have a successful history of developing supply chain management solutions that generate improved efficiency and faster processing times throughout our clients' supply chains: inventory; order management; customer and supplier integration; demand and production planning; and new product development. These solutions not only reduce cost by increasing efficiency, they can also improve customer loyalty by satisfying customer needs in a quicker time frame and at a lower price.

Support and Maintenance. In order to derive long-term value from an advanced technology solution, a client needs reliable, rapid, cost-effective support. We offer application support 24 hours per day utilizing our Global Distributed Delivery<sup>SM</sup> model, both for solutions that we develop and for systems developed by others. Our support capabilities help ensure very high up-time and improved performance, because of regular process improvements and system enhancements. Our preemptive maintenance further minimizes the risks of performance problems. By greatly reducing down-time and system performance problems, our support and maintenance offerings assist our clients in realizing significant long-term value from their technology investments.

### Our Approach

Our approach is designed to address the biggest problem that most companies face when pursuing technology projects: the majority of technology projects are finished late or over budget, lack promised capabilities or simply are never finished. Because of our approach, we are able to commit to delivering our solutions within the price and time frame that we have promised to our clients. Our approach enables us to create advanced technology solutions that bring together business, user and technology requirements to solve the business problems that our clients are facing. These solutions are designed to deliver tangible business value to clients in the form of increased revenues, reduced costs and more effective utilization of assets. We believe that our approach differentiates us from our competitors, and that our clients derive substantial benefits from the following elements of this approach:

We focus on measurable business results. We are passionate about delivering measurable business results to our clients and we are willing to put our fees at risk against those results. We define our success by whether we enable our clients to attain their desired business value. For more than a decade, we have helped many of the world's top companies realize significant value from their technology investments. Our culture is engineered around client value. It is collaborative, forthright and characterized by a determination to do whatever it takes to deliver meaningful results to our clients.

We use a fundamentally different methodology. We have a fundamentally different methodology for advanced technology projects, which is designed to rapidly create organizational ownership and momentum. The Sapient Approach<sup>SM</sup>, which has been refined and improved continuously for twelve years, is designed to ensure the success of our clients' technology investments. It is structured around an initial set of workshops (Fusions<sup>SM</sup>) that create alignment and momentum across all business and technology users. We then document the business, user and technical processes that will achieve the desired business value, and build and deploy a technology solution that addresses the client's needs within the promised time and price. We discover, assess, design and deliver these solutions at speed, while they still matter. From our industry-specific expertise that provides us with an understanding of the threats and opportunities our clients face, to our focused project planning and delivery methodologies, we have built our entire approach around rapid, collaborative delivery.

We are committed to fixed-price, fixed-time delivery. We have developed a strong legacy of delivering our solutions on a fixed-price, fixed-time basis, since our formation in 1991. Because of our extensive experience delivering these types of projects, and our expertise with large-scale, complex project management, we are able to successfully deliver our solutions within the price and time frame we have promised to our clients. Our fixed-price, fixed-time legacy helps our clients avoid the lost business value that occurs when technology projects are finished late or over budget, lack promised capabilities or are never finished.

We work on a globally distributed basis. We offer a fully integrated, Global Distributed Delivery<sup>SM</sup> capability. Through our GDD model, we are able to create high-value solutions for our clients quickly and at a competitive cost advantage, thereby increasing overall value. With team members located across different

time zones, we are able to work around-the-clock on design and implementation. We maintain the high quality of our solutions by utilizing India's highly skilled technology specialists. Because these specialists have been highly trained in managing complex projects on a globally distributed basis, and work closely each day with Sapient and client team members in North America or Europe, we are able to successfully deliver complex, customized technology projects that are typically not possible under traditional remote development models.

Our solutions are designed for adoption. We provide proprietary research-driven insights into people that enable us to implement technology solutions that are designed for adoption. Technology solutions deliver real business value only if they are designed with a deep understanding of the people who must use the technology. Through our user research, strategy and design capabilities, we ensure that our client solutions are effectively adopted by their intended audiences.

The principal risks and uncertainties facing our business, operations and financial condition are discussed in Part II, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Risk Factors" on page 39 of this Annual Report.

### People and Culture

We have developed a strong corporate culture that is critical to our success, and we have defined six core values that inspire our work and serve as guides for every engagement: client-focused delivery; leadership; relationships; creativity; openness; and people growth.

To encourage the achievement of these core values, we actively reward teamwork and use adoption of our core values as a measure to evaluate performance and give promotions. Also, we have an intensive orientation program for new employees to introduce them to our core values, as well as a number of internal communications and training initiatives defining and promoting these core values.

As of December 31, 2002, we had 1,491 full-time employees, composed of 1,163 project personnel, 264 general and administration personnel and 64 sales and marketing personnel. Although our rate of voluntary turnover increased during portions of 2002, our voluntary turnover rate began to return closer to our targeted level of 15% during the three months ended December 31, 2002. We attribute our low turnover rates, in large part, to the high caliber of our employees and our commitment to maintaining the values on which our success has been based. None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We believe that we have good relationships with our employees.

#### Selling and Marketing

The role of Sapient's marketing program is to create and sustain preference and loyalty for Sapient as our clients' preferred business and technology consultants. Marketing is performed at the corporate and industry business unit levels in the United States, and at the geographic level in the other countries where we operate.

Our dedicated marketing personnel undertake a variety of marketing activities, including developing and implementing our overall marketing strategy, communicating and strengthening Sapient's brand and reputation, sponsoring focused multi-client events to demonstrate our thought leadership, cultivating media and industry analyst relations, conducting market research and analysis, sponsoring and participating in targeted conferences, creating marketing assets to assist client-development teams and publishing our Web site, www.sapient.com.

Our sales professionals are primarily organized along industry lines, both within our United States business units and our other international offices. We believe that the industry and geographic focus of our sales professionals and of our business unit marketing teams enhances their knowledge and expertise in these industries and generates additional client engagements.

We continue to actively build relationships and strategic alliances with other technology companies and packaged technology vendors. These relationships involve a wide range of joint activities, including working jointly on client engagements, evaluating and recommending each other's technology solutions to customers, and training and transferring knowledge regarding each other's solutions. We believe that these relationships

and strategic alliances will enable us to provide better delivery and value to our existing clients and will attract new clients through referrals and joint engagements.

Our written agreements with our clients contain varying terms and conditions, including, in some instances, the right of the client to terminate the agreement with limited advance notice or penalty. We do not believe it is generally appropriate to characterize these agreements as backlog.

### Competition

The markets for the services we provide are highly competitive. We believe that we currently compete principally with large systems consulting and implementation firms and clients' internal information systems departments. We have begun to compete with offshore outsourcing companies, and we expect competition from these companies to increase in the future, especially on development, support and maintenance and outsourcing engagements. We compete to a lesser extent with specialized e-business consulting firms, strategy consulting firms and packaged technology vendors. Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources, generate higher revenues and have greater name recognition than we do. These competitors are often able to offer greater scale and breadth of products and services, which, in some instances, has enabled them to significantly discount their services in exchange for revenues in other areas or at later dates.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in our markets include: ability to solve business problems; expertise and talent with advanced technologies; global presence; expertise in delivering complex projects on a globally distributed basis; quality and speed of delivery; price of solutions; industry knowledge; understanding of user experiences; and sophisticated project and program management capability.

We believe that we compete favorably when considering these factors, and that our ability to rapidly deliver business value to our clients through advanced technology solutions on a fixed-price basis, and our successful track record in doing so, distinguishes us from our competitors.

#### **Intellectual Property Rights**

We rely upon a combination of trade secrets, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, and copyright and trademark laws to protect our proprietary rights. We enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, subcontractors, vendors, consultants and clients, and limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information.

Our services involve the development of business and technology solutions for specific client engagements. Ownership of these solutions is the subject of negotiation and is frequently assigned to the client, although we often retain ownership of certain development tools and may be granted a license to use the solutions for certain purposes. Certain of our clients have prohibited us from marketing the solutions developed for them for specified periods of time or to specified third parties, and we anticipate that certain of our clients will demand similar or other restrictions in the future.

#### Where To Find More Information

We make our public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and all exhibits and amendments to these reports, available free of charge at our Web site, www.sapient.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such material with the Commission. We also make available on our Web site reports filed by our executive officers and Directors on Forms 3, 4 and 5 regarding their ownership of our securities. These materials are available in the "Investor Relations" portion of our Web site, under the link "SEC Filings."

# Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters and principal administrative, finance, selling and marketing operations are located in approximately 47,000 square feet of leased office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts. We also lease offices in New York, Jersey City, San Francisco, Chicago, Atlanta, Dallas, Los Angeles, Washington D.C., Düsseldorf, London, Munich, New Delhi and Toronto.

# Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.

# Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Not Applicable.

# **Executive Officers of Sapient**

Below are the name, age and principal occupations for the last five years of each executive officer of Sapient, as of March 1, 2003. All such persons have been elected to serve until their successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal.

Sheeroy D. Desai	37	Mr. Desai joined Sapient in 1991 and has served as Executive Vice President since September 1994. Mr. Desai served as Co-Chief Operating Officer from October 1999 until May 2000, and has served as Chief Operating Officer since April 2001.
Jerry A. Greenberg	37	Mr. Greenberg co-founded Sapient in 1991 and has served as Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive Officer and as a Director since Sapient's inception.
Alan J. Herrick	37	Mr. Herrick joined Sapient in 1995. Mr. Herrick was appointed as Vice President in December 1996 and was appointed as Executive Vice President in June 2002.
Steven J. Hoffman	49	Mr. Hoffman joined Sapient in January 2001 as Senior Vice President. Prior to joining Sapient, Mr. Hoffman served as President of Concrete Media, Inc., a business consulting company, from January 2000 to July 2000, and as Managing Director of Exchange Partners LLC, a business consulting company, from May 1996 to January 2000.
Susan D. Johnson	37	Ms. Johnson joined Sapient in February 1994 and served as Chief Financial Officer from February 1994 until January 2000. Ms. Johnson resumed the position of Chief Financial Officer in February 2002. Ms. Johnson has served as Senior Vice President since January 2000.
Bradley T. Miller	41	Mr. Miller joined Sapient in March 2000 as Corporate Controller. Mr. Miller was appointed as Vice President in August 2001 and as Chief Accounting Officer in November 2002. Prior to joining Sapient, Mr. Miller served as Vice President and Corporate Controller of JuniorNet Corporation, an Internet content provider, from September 1999 until March 2000, and as Director of Financial Reporting of Wang, Inc., a computer hardware and services company, from August 1996 to September 1999.
J. Stuart Moore	41	Mr. Moore co-founded Sapient in 1991 and has served as Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive Officer and as a Director since Sapient's inception.
Jane E. Owens	49	Ms. Owens joined Sapient in September 2000 as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. Prior to joining Sapient, Ms. Owens served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of The Dial Corporation, a consumer products company, from May 1997 to September 2000, and as Vice President, General Counsel and Assistant Secretary of The Timberland Company, a footwear and apparel company, from September 1992 to May 1997.

#### PART II

# Item 5. Market for the Company's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters Market Price of Common Stock

Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "SAPE." The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low intraday sale prices for our common stock.

	_High_	Low
2001		
First Quarter	\$19.88	\$6.97
Second Quarter	\$15.25	\$5.23
Third Quarter	\$ 9.80	\$3.15
Fourth Quarter	\$ 8.60	\$3.54
2002		
First Quarter	\$ 7.55	\$3.50
Second Quarter	\$ 5.75	\$1.01
Third Quarter	\$ 1.36	\$0.67
Fourth Quarter	\$ 2.50	\$0.91

On February 27, 2003, the last reported sale price of our common stock was \$1.99 per share. As of February 27, 2003, there were approximately 400 holders of record of our common stock and approximately 23,000 beneficial holders of our common stock.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

#### Item 6. Selected Financial Data

### SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes thereto and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The Balance Sheet Data at December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the Statement of Operations Data for each of the three years ended December 31, 2002 have been derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements for such years, included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The Balance Sheet Data at December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 and the Statement of Operations Data for each of the two years ended December 31, 1999 have been derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements for such years, not included in this Annual Report.

	Years Ended December 31,						
	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998		
		(In thousand	ls, except per sl	iare data)			
Statement of Operations Data(1)(2)(3)(4):							
Service revenues  Operating expenses:	\$ 173,811	\$ 325,165	\$502,964	\$276,844	\$164,872		
Project personnel costs	133,275	230,581	247,981	134,638	80,543		
Selling and marketing costs	26,192	27,880	33,743	21,429	11,269		
General and administrative costs	79,338	128,574	134,241	69,388	41,675		
Restructuring and other related charges Impairment of goodwill and intangible	66,885	100,079	, <u> </u>		, 		
assets	107,430	29.126	11 220	2 204			
Amortization of intangible assets	4,328	28,126	11,328	2,284	687		
Stock-based compensation	3,161	4,449	2,165	2,029	4,499		
Acquisition costs				2,340	11,100		
Total operating expenses	420,609	519,689	429,458	232,108	149,773		
Income (loss) from operations	(246,798)	(194,524)	73,506	44,736	15,099		
Gain on equity investment change in interest	1,755	1,407					
Other income (expense)	33	(4,677)	(1,250)				
Interest income	4,312	9,393	11,678	4,227	2,925		
Income (loss) before income taxes, net equity loss from investees and loss from							
discontinued operations	(240,698)	(188,401)	83,934	48,963	18,024		
Income tax provision (benefit)	(18,585)	(3,091)	33,925	<u>18,506</u>	8,660		
Income (loss) before net equity loss from investees and loss from discontinued operations	(222,113)	(185,310)	50,009	30,457	9,364		
Net equity loss from investees	(349)	(499)	(878)	(157)			
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(222,462)	(185,809)	49,131	30,300	9,364		
Loss from discontinued operations	(6,741)	(3,959)	(2,171)				
Net income (loss)	<u>\$(229,203)</u>	<u>\$(189,768)</u>	<u>\$ 46,960</u>	\$ 30,300	\$ 9,364		
Basic net income (loss) per share: Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ (1.78)	\$ (1.50)	\$ 0.41	\$ 0.27	\$ 0.09		
Loss from discontinued operations	\$ (0.05)	\$ (0.03)	\$ (0.02)	\$ -	\$ -		
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	\$ (1.83)	\$ (1.53)	\$ 0.39	\$ 0.27	\$ 0.09		
Diluted net income (loss) per share:							
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ (1.78)	\$ (1.50)	\$ 0.37	\$ 0.24	\$ 0.08		
Loss from discontinued operations	\$ (0.05)	\$ (0.03)	\$ (0.02)	\$ 0.24	\$ 0.08		
Loss from discontinued operations	\$ (0.03)	\$ (0.03)	\$ 0.35	\$ 0.24	\$ 0.08		
Weighted average common shares	124,961	124,256	119,191	111,418	104,456		
Weighted average dilutive common share equivalents		124,230	14,573				
·				14,208	10,348		
Weighted average common shares and dilutive common share equivalents	124,961	124,256	133,764	125,626	114,804		

	Years Ended December 31,						
	2002	2001	2000	1999	1998		
		(In thousand	ls, except per s	hare data)			
Balance Sheet Data:							
Working capital	\$ 135,325	\$ 243,699	\$318,467	\$257,251	\$121,779		
Total assets	262,653	474,870	604,154	343,189	182,955		
Long-term debt, less current portion	_	_		_			
Total stockholders' equity(4)	\$ 155,804	\$ 380,770	\$525,400	\$304,959	\$154,814		

- (1) The Company ceased operations of its Japanese subsidiary in December 2002. As a result, operating results of this subsidiary for 2002 and for all prior periods presented have been collapsed and reclassified into a single line item under the caption "loss from discontinued operations." See Note 17 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
- (2) This selected consolidated financial data gives retroactive effect to our acquisition of Adjacency, Inc. (Adjacency) in March 1999, which has been accounted for as a pooling-of-interests. As a result of this business combination, the financial information shown above has been restated to include the accounts and results of operations of Adjacency for all periods presented.
- (3) All share and per share data have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the two-for-one stock splits effected as 100 percent stock dividends paid on August 28, 2000, November 5, 1999 and March 9, 1998.
- (4) On January 1, 2002, we adopted Statement of Accounting Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," and ceased amortizing goodwill. During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998, our operating results include \$18.9 million, \$7.5 million, \$1.4 million and \$397,000, respectively, of goodwill amortization. In addition, certain amounts in previously issued financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. The reclassifications had no effect on reported net income (loss).
- (5) We have never declared or paid any cash dividends.

## Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

#### Overview

Sapient, a leading business and technology consultancy, helps Global 2000 clients achieve measurable business results through the rapid application and support of advanced technology, primarily on a fixed-price basis. We are focused on *making technology matter*<sup>SM</sup>, by identifying, implementing and supporting technology-enabled solutions that create near- and long-term business value for our clients. We create value for our clients through our unique approach: a passion for delivering measurable business results; a fundamentally different methodology; a commitment to fixed-price and fixed-time delivery; our expertise in globally distributed delivery; and our ability to design our solutions for adoption.

The market for advanced technology consulting services, including our services, has declined significantly since the second half of 2000. As a result of this decrease in demand, our service revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 decreased 47% from our service revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001, and decreased 65% from our service revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2000. Our net loss from continuing operations increased to \$222.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 from \$185.8 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001. As a result of these losses, we reduced our work force and consolidated office space in cities where we had multiple office locations or excess office space at various times in 2001 and 2002. We also closed our Australia office in 2001 and discontinued our operations in Japan in December 2002. Our cash used in operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 was \$69.5 million and we have accrued restructuring costs, primarily related to vacated facilities, of \$73.6 million at December 31, 2002. Our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments at December 31, 2002 were \$181.4 million. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments will be sufficient to meet our working capital, capital expenditure, restructuring and stock repurchase program requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, if the demand for our services remains weak or declines further, we may incur additional losses and negative cash flows, and these could be significant.

During the second half of 2002, we began to see some stabilization in our service revenues. During the first half of 2002, our service revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2002 decreased 19% from our service revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2002, following a decline of 21% from our service revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2001. For the three month periods ended September 30, 2002 and December 31, 2002, however, our service revenues increased 8% and decreased 3%, respectively, from our service revenues during the preceding three month period. Our annualized service revenues per billable employee improved from \$109,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2002 to \$137,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2002. Our utilization rate improved from 52% for the three months ended June 30, 2002 to 64% for the three months ended December 31, 2002. Throughout the year, we have seen an increase in the percentage of our service revenues generated from governmental clients, both in the United States and in the United Kingdom, which increased from 8% for the three months ended March 31, 2002 to 21% for the three months ended December 31, 2002. We expect that service revenues from governmental clients will remain significant in the near future. On January 30, 2003, in a conference call announcing our financial results for the three months ended December 31, 2002, we estimated that our service revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2003 would be in the range of \$41.0 to \$44.0 million, based on our then-current revenue projections, and that we would recognize a net loss for this period. Within our individual business units, we do not expect any material changes in our service revenues compared to the three months ended December 31, 2002.

Throughout 2002, we also achieved continual reductions in our project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses, selling and marketing costs and general and administrative costs. Our project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses, selling and marketing costs and general and administrative costs declined 31% to \$50.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2002, from \$72.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2002. As a result of our restructuring actions and other cost-cutting actions, we expect to realize further cost reductions in 2003. On January 30, 2003, in a conference call announcing our financial

results for the three months ended December 31, 2002, we estimated that these costs for the three months ended March 31, 2003 would be in the range of \$47.0 to \$48.0 million.

Although we believe we are seeing signs of stabilization in our business, the economic outlook is still uncertain. We believe that technology spending by large companies will remain weak over the next several quarters and we cannot predict when the market for technology consulting services will significantly improve. When the market does improve, we cannot predict whether, and to what extent, the demand for our services will increase. Any decline in our service revenues will have a significant impact on our financial results, particularly because a significant portion of our operating costs (such as personnel, rent and depreciation) are fixed in advance of a particular quarter. As a result, despite cost savings realized from our restructuring plans, our costs for project personnel, sales and marketing and general and administrative could continue to increase as a percentage of revenues, thereby affecting our operating results.

Our Global Distributed Delivery<sup>SM</sup> (GDD) methodology continues to increase in importance, both as a percentage of our projects and as a percentage of our service revenues. We created this proprietary methodology in 2000, which allows us to provide high-quality solutions within accelerated 24-hour delivery time frames, by utilizing India's highly skilled technology specialists, lower costs and the time differences between India and the countries we serve. We also employ our GDD methodology to provide support and maintenance. Throughout the year, we saw an increase in our utilization rate relating to people based in India, from 63% for the three months ended March 31, 2002 to 76% for the three months ended December 31, 2002. We expect utilization rates in India to continue to increase in the first quarter of 2003. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, projects with a GDD component accounted for 45% of our total service revenues, compared to 27% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

Our future segment and overall Company revenues and operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on the number, size and scope of projects in which we are engaged, the contractual terms and degree of completion of such projects, any delays incurred in connection with a project, employee utilization rates, the adequacy of provisions for losses, the use of estimates of resources required to complete ongoing projects, general economic conditions and other factors. In addition, revenues from a large project or client may constitute a significant portion of our total revenues in a particular quarter.

#### Summary of Critical Accounting Policies; Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make significant estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These items are regularly monitored and analyzed by management for changes in facts and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in the future. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they become known. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from our estimates if past experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate.

A summary of those accounting policies that we believe are most critical to fully understanding and evaluating our financial results is set forth below. This summary should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

• Revenue Recognition and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We recognize revenue from the provision of professional services under written service contracts with our clients. We derive a significant portion of our revenue from fixed-price, fixed-time contracts. Revenue generated from fixed-price contracts, with the exception of support and maintenance contracts, is recognized based on the ratio of labor hours incurred to estimated total labor hours. This method is used because reasonably dependable estimates of the revenues and costs applicable to various stages of a contract can be made, based on historical experience and milestones set in the contract. Revenue generated from fixed-price support and maintenance contracts is recognized ratably over the contract term. Revenue from time-

and-materials contracts is recognized as services are provided. Our project delivery and business unit finance personnel continually review labor hours incurred and estimated total labor hours, which may result in revisions to the amount of recognized revenue for a contract. Certain contracts provide for revenue to be generated based upon the achievement of certain performance standards. Revenue will be recognized when those performance standards are achieved. No revenue has been recognized to date for performance standards.

If we do not accurately estimate the resources required or the scope of work to be performed for a contract or we do not manage the project properly within the planned time period, then we may recognize a loss on the contract. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on a contract-by-contract basis and are recognized in the period in which such losses are determined. We have committed unanticipated additional resources to complete projects in the past, which has resulted in lower than anticipated profitability or losses on those contracts. We expect that we will experience similar situations in the future. In addition, we may fix the price for some projects at an early stage of the process, which could result in a fixed price that turns out to be too low and, therefore, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In some instances during 2001 and 2000, we provided services to clients in exchange for equity instruments of the client. We measure the fair value of the equity instrument on the date the parties come to a mutual understanding of the terms of the arrangement and a commitment for performance by us to earn the equity instruments is reached, or when the equity is earned, whichever occurs earlier. We did not receive any equity for services rendered for the year ended December 31, 2002. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, \$156,000 and \$2.1 million, respectively, of equity was received for services rendered.

We recognize revenue for services where collection from the client is probable. We establish billing terms at the time project deliverables and milestones are agreed. Our normal payment terms are 30 days from invoice date. Earnings recognized in excess of the amounts invoiced to clients are classified as unbilled revenues. Amounts invoiced to clients in excess of revenue recognized are classified as deferred revenues. Our project delivery and business unit finance personnel continually monitor timely payments from our clients and assess any collection issues. We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our clients to make required payments. We base our estimates on our historical collection and write-off experience, current trends, credit policy, detailed analysis of specific client situations and percentage of our accounts receivable by aging category. While such credit losses have historically been within our expectations and the allowances we established, we cannot guarantee that we will continue to experience the same credit loss rates that we have in the past. If the financial condition of our clients were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payment, additional allowances may be required. Our failure to accurately estimate the losses for doubtful accounts and ensure that payments are received on a timely basis could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued Issue No. 01-14, "Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for "Out-Of-Pocket" Expenses Incurred." This pronouncement requires that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred be characterized as revenue in our statement of operations. We incur incidental expenses in the delivery of services to our clients that are commonly referred to as "out-of-pocket" expenses. These expenses include, but are not limited to, travel and related charges. Accordingly, we adjusted revenue for all periods reported to include the reimbursable expenses billed to clients. Previously, these expense reimbursements were classified as a reduction of project personnel costs. This change in classification had no effect on current or previously reported net income (loss) or net income (loss) per share.

• Accounting for Income Taxes. We record income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their

respective income tax bases, and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Our financial statements contain fully reserved deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of net operating losses incurred in 2001 and 2002, as well as other temporary differences between book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. We evaluate all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. As a result of net operating losses incurred in 2001 and 2002, anticipated additional net operating losses for the first quarter of 2003 and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of profitability in future periods, we have continued to record a full valuation allowance, which was approximately \$115.8 million as of December 31, 2002. The establishment and amount of the valuation allowance requires significant estimates and judgment and can materially affect our results of operations. If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future is considered more likely than not, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase net income in the period such determination was made. Our effective tax rate may vary from period to period based on changes in estimated taxable income or loss, changes to the valuation allowance, changes to federal, state or foreign tax laws, future expansion into areas with varying country, state, and local income tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and expenses by jurisdiction and as a result of acquisitions.

- Valuation of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," the carrying value of intangible assets and other long-lived assets is reviewed on a regular basis for the existence of facts or circumstances, both internally and externally, that may suggest impairment. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include:
  - significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;
  - significant negative industry or economic trends;
  - · significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and
  - our market capitalization relative to net book value.

If such circumstances exist, we evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, to determine if impairment exists based upon estimated undiscounted future cash flows over the remaining useful life of the assets and comparing that value to the carrying value of the assets. If the carrying value of the asset is greater than the estimated future cash flows, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. In determining expected future cash flows, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which cash flows are identifiable and independent of cash flows from other asset groups. We determined that an interim impairment test of long-lived assets at June 30, 2002 was necessary due to the significant decline in our market capitalization, as determined by our stock price. We determined as a result of this test that the expected undiscounted cash flows related to our long-lived asset groups would not recover the carrying value of the assets over their remaining useful lives. Accordingly, we compared the carrying amounts of our long-lived assets to their estimated fair values. Fair values were estimated using methods such as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. Based on the analysis at June 30, 2002, the fair values of certain intangible assets were below their carrying values and an impairment charge of \$5.6 million was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption "Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets" for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. The valuation of long-lived assets requires significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates such as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. These estimates contain management's best estimates, using appropriate and customary assumptions and projections at the time. If different estimates or adjustments were used, it is reasonably possible that our analysis would have generated materially different results.

In accordance with SFAS 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," beginning January 1, 2002, we ceased amortization of goodwill, which was approximately \$101.8 million at that time. We performed an impairment review of our goodwill as of January 1, 2002, under the transitional provisions of SFAS 142. We identified our reporting units, allocated assets and liabilities to the reporting units and performed impairment tests on the goodwill associated with each of the reporting units by comparing the reporting units' book value to their estimated fair value. Assets and liabilities, including goodwill, were allocated to reporting units based on factors such as specific identification, percentage of revenue and headcount. The fair value of the reporting units was estimated considering a market multiple of revenue approach. During the three months ended June 30, 2002, we completed the transitional impairment test of goodwill and concluded that no impairment of the goodwill had occurred as of January 1, 2002. By June 30, 2002, our stock price had declined significantly from January 1, 2002, at which point our market capitalization, based on our stock price, was below our book value, and we determined that an interim goodwill impairment test should be performed. Our stock price at January 2, 2002 was \$7.25 per share and declined to \$1.06 per share at June 28, 2002. Based on the analysis at June 30, 2002, the carrying amount of all reporting units exceeded their fair values and a goodwill impairment charge of \$101.8 million, representing 100% of the goodwill balance, was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption "Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets" for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. The valuation of long-lived assets requires significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates of reporting units based on a market multiple of revenue approach. These estimates contain management's best estimates, using appropriate and customary assumptions and projections at the time. If different estimates or adjustments were used, it is reasonably possible that our analysis would have generated materially different results.

Restructuring and Other Related Charges. We established exit plans for each of the restructuring activities which took place in 2001 and 2002 and accounted for these plans in accordance with EITF Issue No. 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs incurred in a Restructuring)." We specifically identified all employees whose employment was to be terminated and notified them prior to the end of the quarter in which the related restructuring charge was recorded. The consolidation of facilities required us to make estimates, including contractual rental commitments or lease buy-outs for office space being vacated and related costs, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. We review on at least a quarterly basis our sub-lease assumptions. These estimates include anticipated rates to be charged to a sub-tenant and the timing of the sub-lease arrangement. We changed our original estimates in 2001 and the fourth quarter of 2002 due to changing real estate markets, which resulted in net additional restructuring charges. During the third quarter of 2002, we recognized a restructuring credit, which primarily related to savings in outplacement services and facility costs. If the rental markets continue to change, our sub-lease assumptions may not be accurate and it is possible that changes in these estimates would materially affect our financial condition and results of operations. Our remaining cash lease commitments related to restructured facilities are approximately \$90.5 million, of which 67% is accrued in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, and the remaining 33% relates to sub-lease assumptions. We have entered into signed sub-lease arrangements for approximately \$8.0 million, with the remaining \$22.0 million for future estimated sub-lease arrangements. If the estimated sub-lease dates were to be extended by six months, based on our current estimates, we would potentially have to recognize an additional \$2.6 million in our statement of operations for restructuring and other related charges.

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities." SFAS 146 requires that a liability for a cost that is associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. It supersedes the guidance in EITF Issue No. 94-3. Under EITF 94-3, an entity recognized a liability for an exit cost on the date that the entity committed itself to an exit plan. In SFAS 146, an entity's commitment to a plan does not, by itself, create a present obligation to other parties that meets the definition of a liability. SFAS 146 also establishes that fair value is the objective for the initial measurement of the

liability. SFAS 146 will be effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, however, we will continue to follow the guidance of EITF No. 94-3 for any changes in our restructuring estimates for the initiatives implemented in 2001 and 2002.

• Contingent Liabilities. We have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of our business activities. We accrue contingent liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. We are subject to various pending or threatened legal claims and administrative audits which have arisen in the ordinary course of our business. We have an accrual at December 31, 2002 of approximately \$858,000 related to those items that remain outstanding. The ultimate outcome of these items is uncertain and the potential loss, if any, may be significantly higher or lower than amounts previously accrued by us.

#### Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not created, and are not party to, any special-purpose or off-balance sheet entities for the purpose of raising capital, incurring debt or operating parts of our business that are not consolidated into our financial statements, other than our 50%-owned joint venture in Milan, Italy. See "Equity Investments" in this Part II, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" on page 18 and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for a more detailed discussion of this joint venture. We do not have any arrangements or relationships with entities that are not consolidated into our financial statements that are reasonably likely to materially affect our liquidity or the availability of our capital resources.

#### Effect of Certain Transactions

### Acquisitions

We have consummated three acquisitions during the past three years. These acquisitions were accounted for as purchases, and, accordingly, the purchase price for each acquisition was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. The results of operations for each acquired company are included in our consolidated statement of operations from the date of acquisition. The following are details for each of these acquisitions:

- On October 25, 2000, we consummated an agreement to acquire The Launch Group Aktiengesell-schaft (TLG), a provider of strategy and business consulting services in Germany. In connection with the acquisition, we invested approximately \$2.2 million in cash directly into TLG, issued approximately 671,000 shares of our common stock to selling shareholders, and issued approximately 1,529,000 shares of our common stock to the former TLG employees continuing with the Company. These shares are restricted and subject to vesting based on continued employment with the Company. The restricted shares had a value of \$10.0 million upon issuance, and are being amortized over the vesting period of 4.0 years. Approximately \$2.0 million of deferred compensation relating to these restricted shares has been reversed due to employees leaving the Company prior to vesting.
- On August 28, 2000, we acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Human Code, Inc. (Human Code) in exchange for approximately 1,508,000 shares of our common stock and options to purchase approximately 471,000 shares of our common stock, and direct acquisition costs of approximately \$1.9 million. In 2001, 150,334 shares were returned to Sapient upon the resolution of an indemnification claim asserted by us pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement. These shares were valued at approximately \$944,000, the fair value of the shares on the date that the former Human Code shareholders agreed to the return of the shares, and were recorded as a reduction to goodwill. Prior to the acquisition, options to purchase approximately 2,864,000 shares of Human Code common stock were outstanding at exercise prices between \$0.10 and \$3.25 per share. As a result of the acquisition, we assumed these outstanding Human Code stock options and converted them into options to purchase approximately 471,000 shares of our common stock at exercise prices between \$1.00 and \$32.64 per share. The options vest ratably over periods up to four years. We recorded deferred compensation of

\$11.2 million related to the intrinsic value of the unvested options. Approximately \$7.3 million of deferred compensation has been reversed due to employees leaving the Company prior to vesting.

• On June 30, 2000, we invested \$2.0 million in HWT, Inc. (HWT, formerly HealthWatch Technologies, LLC) in connection with a reorganization of HWT. As a result of this investment and reorganization, our equity ownership of HWT increased to approximately 55%, which resulted in us assuming control of HWT as of that date. Prior to the reorganization, we had a less than 50%, non-controlling ownership interest in HWT and accounted for this investment using the equity method of accounting. Our consolidated statements of operations include the results of operations of HWT from the date of this additional investment.

On January 24, 2003, we increased our ownership percentage in HWT to 69% by purchasing a total of 587,092 shares of HWT common stock from Jerry A. Greenberg and J. Stuart Moore, our Co-Chairmen and Co-CEOs, for a total purchase price of \$557,737, in cash. The purchase price per share paid to Messrs. Greenberg and Moore was \$0.95, which represented a substantial loss from their cost basis per share of \$5.00. Messrs. Greenberg and Moore are no longer shareholders of HWT. We also commenced a tender offer on January 24, 2003 to purchase the remaining shares of HWT, for \$1.05 per share, in cash. The tender offer period expired on February 24, 2003. As a result of the tender offer, we purchased a total of 773,151 shares of HWT common stock, for a total purchase price of \$811,809, and our ownership percentage in HWT increased from 69% to 85%.

Prior to engaging in the above-referenced transactions, our Board of Directors first obtained an independent valuation of the fair market value of HWT's common stock. The valuation firm concluded that the fair market value of each share of HWT common stock was between \$1.05 per share and \$1.29 per share. After considering this valuation, our Board of Directors decided to offer to pay \$1.05 for each outstanding share of HWT common stock in the tender offer, and \$0.95 per share for each outstanding share of HWT common stock owned by Messrs. Greenberg and Moore. The Board of Directors believed that the \$0.95 per share price for Messrs. Greenberg and Moore was advisable to counter any perception that Messrs. Greenberg and Moore received a favorable price for their HWT shares because of their positions as executive officers and Directors of Sapient. The Board then obtained a fairness opinion, in which the valuation firm opined that the \$1.05 and \$0.95 purchase prices were fair, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Sapient. The firm did not express any opinion as to whether the \$1.05 or \$0.95 purchase prices were fair to the shareholders of HWT or Messrs. Greenberg and Moore, respectively.

We engaged in the above-described transactions for two reasons. First, we believe that HWT continues to be a good strategic fit with our long-term business objectives. By increasing our ownership in HWT, we are able to more closely align HWT's business, financial results and executive management with Sapient. Second, we purchased all of the HWT shares owned by Messrs. Greenberg and Moore in order to eliminate any appearance of a potential conflict of interest that might be deemed to arise from Messrs. Greenberg and Moore owning stock of both HWT and Sapient, while also serving as Sapient's Co-Chairmen and Co-CEOs. Although we do not believe that their ownership of HWT shares has presented any actual conflict of interest to date, we wanted to avoid the possibility of any such conflict arising in the future.

### **Equity Investments**

On October 25, 2000, we invested \$3.7 million in Dream Incubator, Inc. (DI), a management consulting company that develops strategies for e-businesses in Japan, and acquired a 19% interest. Under the terms of our investment agreement with DI, we had a seat on DI's board of directors, with special voting rights and other privileges, and we therefore used the equity method of accounting for this investment. During the year ended December 31, 2001, our equity ownership percentage in DI was diluted from 19% to approximately 17% due to the sale by DI of shares to new investors. In May 2002, our equity ownership percentage in DI was further diluted from approximately 17% to approximately 15.7%, as a result of a public offering of DI's common stock. Both rounds of financing were at a higher price per share than we previously paid and we

recorded gains of \$1.8 million and \$1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, as a result of the change in equity interest. On October 25, 2000, DI acquired a 12% equity interest in Sapient KK, our Japanese subsidiary, for \$1.3 million in cash. The excess cash payment of \$347,000 over our carrying value of Sapient KK was recorded as a component of stockholders' equity, due to the start up nature of Sapient KK. DI provided Sapient KK with start up services including strategy, temporary management, recruiting and other services. Prior to this transaction, we owned 100% of this subsidiary. We incurred costs of approximately \$9,000, \$361,000 and \$863,000 in start up services provided by DI to Sapient KK for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we discontinued our Sapient KK operations in Japan. On November 14, 2002, as part of the dissolution of Sapient KK, the Company and DI agreed to unwind the cross ownership position between DI and Sapient KK, in exchange for DI lifting certain trading restrictions on its common stock owned by us. We transferred approximately 1,400 shares of DI, having a fair market value of approximately \$1.0 million, to DI, in return for DI's transfer to us of DI's 12% minority interest in Sapient KK. Under the regulations of the Tokyo Stock Exchange, we were required to make a cash payment of approximately \$1.0 million to DI for the Sapient KK shares being transferred to us. The payment was then transferred back to us by DI for the DI shares being transferred to DI. This cash payment for the minority interest became part of our investment basis in Sapient KK, which was reduced to zero upon dissolution of Sapient KK and is included in our loss from discontinued operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. In addition, our designee on DI's Board of Directors resigned his position as a Director of DI. DI is a public company traded in Japan, and we are selling our remaining shares of DI common stock as market conditions permit. As of December 31, 2002, we sold 1,000 shares of the 11,273 remaining shares that we owned after the unwinding of the cross ownership, resulting in net cash proceeds of approximately \$585,000, and a gain of approximately \$43,000. As of November 2002, we will use the cost method of accounting for this investment, because we no longer have the ability to significantly influence DI. After that date, any gains or losses recognized on the sale of shares from this investment or any write-down of the investment due to the decline in the value of the investment below its book value that is considered "other than temporary" will be included as non-operating income (loss) in our consolidated statement of operations.

In September 1999, we commenced a joint venture, Sapient S.p.A., in Milan, Italy. The joint venture provides business and technology consulting in Italy. We own 50% of the voting stock of this joint venture and use the equity method of accounting because we have the ability to significantly influence, but not control, the joint venture. We had call option rights to purchase one additional share in January 2002 and January 2003 at a price equal to its nominal value, which were not exercised. We also have the option to purchase the remaining ownership interests in the joint venture in January 2004 and each quarter of 2004 at a price determined using a formula based on an appraised fair market value and a multiple of projected earnings. We cannot be sure when, or if, we will exercise these remaining options. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, we recognized approximately \$229,000, \$1.6 million and \$1.4 million, respectively, in net revenues from consulting services provided to Sapient S.p.A., in accordance with the joint venture agreement. In addition to recognizing revenue, we reduced general and administrative expenses by approximately \$100,000, \$322,000 and \$992,000 for start-up and administrative services billed to the joint venture during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. At December 31, 2001, we had receivables due from Sapient S.p.A., of approximately \$434,000. We had no net receivables due from this entity at December 31, 2002. We originally invested approximately \$2.0 million in the joint venture. Due to losses incurred by Sapient S.p.A. since its inception, our investment balance was reduced to zero during the second half of 2002.

In the future there may be changes to our equity investment and, if gain or loss recognition is appropriate, the amount will be recognized as non-operating income (loss) in our consolidated statement of operations.

#### Related Party Transactions

On January 31, 2000, we entered into a strategic relationship with a client which included, among other things, our becoming a preferred supplier to that client and its affiliated entities. As part of the relationship, our Co-CEOs and Co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors each issued a \$10.0 million convertible note to the client. The notes were convertible into shares of our common stock owned by the Co-CEOs and Co-Chairmen

at a conversion rate equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date the convertible notes were executed. The client's ability to convert the notes was subject to certain vesting restrictions, based upon the client's payment of certain levels of consulting revenues to Sapient within prescribed time frames. During the three months ended June 30, 2002, our Co-CEOs and Co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors each repaid these notes in full. The client had not converted any portion of the notes into shares of our common stock prior to the repayment and there are no future conversion rights which remain in existence.

# Discontinued Operations

In December 2002, we ceased operations in Japan. Our financial statements and all financial information included in this report for 2002 and prior periods reflect the results of operations for Japan as a single line item listed as "loss from discontinued operations."

## **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth the percentage of revenues of items included in our Consolidated Statements of Operations:

	Yea Dec		
	2002	2001	2000
Revenues:			
Service revenues	100%	100%	100%
Reimbursable expenses	5	6	7
Total gross revenues	105	106	107
Operating expenses:			
Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses	77	71	49
Reimbursable expenses	5	6	7
Total project personnel costs	82	77	56
Selling and marketing costs	15	8	7
General and administrative costs	46	40	27
Restructuring and other related charges	38	31	_
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	62	_	
Amortization of intangible assets	2	9	2
Stock-based compensation	2	_1	
Total operating expenses	<u>247</u>	<u>166</u>	<u>92</u>
Income (loss) from operations	(142)	(60)	15
Gain on equity investment change in interest	1		
Other expense	_	(1)	_
Interest income	2	3	2
Income (loss) before income taxes, net equity loss from investees and loss			
from discontinued operations	(139)	(58)	17
Income tax provision (benefit)	<u>(11</u> )	<u>(1</u> )	
Income (loss) before net equity loss from investees and loss from discontinued operations	(129)	(57)	10
Net equity loss from investees	(128)	(57)	10
* *	(130)		
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(128)	(57)	10
Loss from discontinued operations	<u>(4)</u>	<u>(1)</u>	<u>(1)</u>
Net income (loss)	<u>(132</u> )%	(58)%	$=\frac{9\%}{}$

## Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001

Service Revenues

Service revenues for 2002 decreased 47% from service revenues for 2001. The decrease in our service revenues was primarily attributable to a decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services in the United States, including our services. We began to see stabilization in our revenues in the second half of 2002, and we expect this stabilization to continue in the three months ended March 31, 2003. The percentage of our revenues attributable to support and maintenance projects is increasing, growing to 7% of our total service revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 from 4% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

In 2002, our five largest clients accounted for approximately 23% of our revenues in the aggregate; no client accounted for more than 10% of such revenues and one client accounted for more than 5% of such revenues. In 2001, our five largest clients accounted for approximately 23% of our revenues in the aggregate; no client accounted for more than 10% of such revenues and two clients each accounted for more than 5% of such revenues.

### Project Personnel Costs, Before Reimbursable Expenses

Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses, consist principally of salaries and employee benefits for personnel dedicated to client projects and direct expenses incurred to complete projects that were not reimbursed by the client, and represent the most significant expense we incur in providing our services. Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses, increased as a percentage of revenues to 77% in 2002 from 71% in 2001, due to declining billing rates for earned revenue and our lower revenue base. Due to the restructuring actions taken during 2002, project personnel costs decreased as a percentage of revenues and in total dollars over the course of the year. Project personnel costs as a percentage of revenues decreased from 84% for the three months ended March 31, 2002 to 66% for the three months ended December 31, 2002. Furthermore, the number of project personnel declined from 1,859 at December 31, 2001 to 1,163 at December 31, 2002. Project personnel costs for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased 42% from project personnel costs for the year ended December 31, 2001. In connection with the restructuring plans implemented in 2002 and other cost savings measures, we expect project personnel costs to decrease during 2003. If our service revenues decline during 2003, project personnel costs could increase as a percentage of revenues.

### Selling and Marketing Costs

Selling and marketing costs consist principally of salaries, employee benefits and travel expenses of selling and marketing personnel and promotional costs. Selling and marketing costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 15% in 2002 from 8% in 2001. This percentage increase was primarily due to a declining revenue base. The absolute decrease in selling and marketing costs for the year ended December 31, 2002 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of selling and marketing personnel from 92 at December 31, 2001 to 64 at December 31, 2002, due to workforce reductions from our restructuring actions and related decreases in travel expenses and marketing promotions. In connection with the restructuring plans implemented in 2002 and other cost savings measures, we expect selling and marketing costs to decrease during 2003. If our service revenues decline during 2003, selling and marketing costs could increase as a percentage of revenues.

### General and Administrative Costs

General and administrative costs relate principally to salaries and employee benefits associated with our management, legal, finance, information technology, recruiting, training and administrative groups, and depreciation and occupancy expenses. General and administrative costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 46% in 2002 from 40% in 2001 due primarily to fixed personnel, rent and depreciation costs incurred in anticipation of expected revenue stabilization earlier in the year, which did not materialize, and the decline in our revenue base. Due to the restructuring actions taken during 2002, general and administrative costs decreased as a percentage of revenues and in total dollars during the course of the year. General and

administrative costs as a percentage of revenues decreased from 50% for the three months ended March 31, 2002 to 39% for the three months ended December 31, 2002. Furthermore, the number of general and administrative personnel declined from 445 at December 31, 2001 to 264 at December 31, 2002. General and administrative costs for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased 38% from general and administrative costs for the year ended December 31, 2001. Our total headcount decreased from 2,396 at December 31, 2001 to 1,491 at December 31, 2002. Total occupancy at December 31, 2002 was approximately 332,000 square feet, compared to approximately 701,000 square feet at December 31, 2001. In connection with our restructuring plan implemented in December 2002, which will reduce our administrative workforce and office space, general and administrative costs should decrease further during 2003. If our service revenues decline during 2003, general and administrative costs could increase as a percentage of revenues.

### Restructuring and Other Related Charges

As a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services that began in the second half of 2000, and the resulting decline in our service revenues, we restructured our workforce and operations in March 2001, July 2001, February 2002, June 2002 and December 2002. In connection with the restructuring plan implemented in December 2002, we recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$12.0 million, consisting of \$7.1 million for workforce reductions. \$4.4 million for consolidation of facilities and \$0.5 million for the write-down of other depreciable assets during the three months ended December 31. 2002. The December 2002 restructuring is expected to result in the termination of 179 employees in total, of whom 74 remained employed by us as of December 31, 2002, who are expected to be terminated in the first and second quarters of 2003 upon completion of project assignments. Of the terminated employees, 70% are project personnel, 10% are selling and marketing personnel and 20% are general and administrative personnel. In connection with the termination of certain former TLG employees, we accelerated the vesting of approximately 138,000 shares of restricted common stock as part of their severance packages, resulting in a non-cash charge of approximately \$903,000, which is included in the \$7.1 million workforce reduction charge. The December 2002 restructuring plan also included further consolidation of office space. Estimated costs for the reduction in physical office space are composed of contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement writedowns, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space will be approximately 39,000 square feet, 93% of which was vacated as of December 31, 2002. We estimate future cost savings of approximately \$5.0 million per quarter upon full implementation of the plan, of which approximately 66% relates to project personnel costs, 9% relates to selling and marketing costs and 25% relates to general and administrative costs, including facilities. We recorded an additional \$0.6 million restructuring charge during the three months ended December 31, 2002 due to changes in estimates for charges recorded in prior quarters, primarily due to changing real estate markets.

For the three months ended September 30, 2002, we recorded a \$5.1 million restructuring credit for charges recorded in prior quarters. The credit is the result of savings in outplacement services and facility costs, net of restructuring charges of \$1.5 million for workforce reductions and facility charges primarily in connection with the planned closure of our Japan office in December 2002. Included in the restructuring charge is approximately \$662,000 related to Japan which is now included in our loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2002. The restructuring charge for the Japan office closure resulted in the termination of 33 employees in total. The total reduction of office space was approximately 8,600 square feet, all of which was vacated as of December 31, 2002.

In connection with the restructuring plan implemented in June 2002, we recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$9.8 million, consisting of \$3.1 million for workforce reductions, \$6.2 million for consolidation of facilities and \$0.5 million for the write-down of other depreciable assets during the three months ended June 30, 2002. The June 2002 restructuring resulted in the termination of 106 employees, none of whom remained employed by us as of December 31, 2002. Of the terminated employees, 76% were project personnel, 4% were selling and marketing personnel and 20% were general and administrative personnel. The June 2002 restructuring plan also included further consolidation of office space, including the closing of our Houston and Denver offices. Estimated costs for the reduction in physical office space are composed of

contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space was approximately 52,000 square feet, all of which was vacated as of December 31, 2002. We realized cost savings from the June 2002 restructuring actions of approximately \$4.4 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, of which approximately 65% relates to project personnel costs, 3% relates to selling and marketing costs and 32% relates to general and administrative costs, including facilities.

In connection with the restructuring plan announced in February 2002, we recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$48.7 million, consisting of \$12.9 million for workforce reductions, \$35.0 million for consolidation of facilities and \$0.8 million for the write-down of other depreciable assets during the three months ended March 31, 2002. We reduced our headcount by a total of 415 project personnel. Significant actions were also taken to streamline internal operations, including reductions in physical space and the reduction of 130 selling and marketing and general and administrative employees. In total, the February 2002 restructuring plan resulted in the termination of 545 employees, none of whom remained employed by us as of December 31, 2002. Of the terminated employees, 76% were project personnel, 3% were selling and marketing personnel and 21% were general and administrative personnel. Estimated costs for the reduction in physical office space are composed of contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space was approximately 291,000 square feet, all of which was vacated as of September 30, 2002. We realized cost savings from the February 2002 restructuring actions of approximately \$48 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, and we estimate future cost savings of approximately \$15 million per quarter, of which approximately 62% relates to project personnel costs, 2% relates to selling and marketing costs and 36% relates to general and administrative costs, including facilities.

In connection with the restructuring plans announced in March 2001 and July 2001, we recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$100.6 million during 2001. The restructuring plans resulted in the termination of 1,251 employees. The restructuring plans also included closing our Sydney, Australia office and consolidating office space in other cities where we had multiple office locations. Included in the restructuring charge is \$561,000 related to our Japan subsidiary which is now included in our loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2001. Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities are composed of contractual rental commitments for office space vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space resulting from these office closings and consolidations was approximately 639,000 square feet.

These restructuring charges and accruals require significant estimates and assumptions, including sublease income assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are monitored on at least a quarterly basis for changes in circumstances. It is reasonably possible that such estimates could change in the future resulting in additional adjustments and the effect could be material.

Charges for restructuring and other related activities as of, and for, the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were as follows (in thousands):

	Balance	Additional Charge-	Additional Charge-	Additional Charge-		Adiust-	Utili	zed	Balance
	12/31/01	Q1 Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	ments	Non-Cash	_Cash_	12/31/02
Workforce	\$ 1,635	\$12,967	\$3,100	\$ 697	\$ 7,119	\$ (643)	\$ (903)	\$(18,839)	\$ 5,133
Facilities	51,705	34,981	6,153	820	4,439	(3,883)	(3,968)	(21,804)	68,443
Depreciable assets		787	525		485		(1,797)	=	
	\$53,340	\$48,735	\$9,778	\$1,517	\$12,043	<u>\$(4,526)</u>	\$(6,668)	\$(40,643)	\$73,576
Current accrued restructuring costs									36,466
Non-current accrued restructuring costs									\$37,110

	Original	Additional		Utili	Balance	
	Charge	Charge	Adjustments	Non-Cash	Cash	12/31/01
Workforce	\$11,948	\$11,691	\$ 852	\$ (67)	\$(22,789)	\$ 1,635
Facilities	33,285	23,549	13,217	(6,470)	(11,876)	51,705
Depreciable assets	2,109	2,769	1,220	(6,098)		
	\$47,342	\$38,009	\$15,289	<u>\$(12,635)</u>	<u>\$(34,665)</u>	\$53,340
Current accrued restructuring costs						17,829
Non-current accrued restructuring costs						\$35,511

### Amortization of Intangible Assets

For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, amortization of intangible assets consists primarily of amortization of marketing assets, customer lists and developed technology resulting from our acquisitions. The decrease in amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily related to the cessation of amortization of goodwill as of January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and other Intangible Assets." We recorded approximately \$18.9 million of amortization of goodwill for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001. We performed an impairment review of our goodwill as of January 1, 2002, under the transitional provisions of SFAS 142. We identified our reporting units, allocated assets and liabilities to the reporting units and performed impairment tests on the net goodwill associated with each of the reporting units by comparing the reporting units' book value to their estimated fair value. Assets and liabilities, including goodwill, were allocated to reporting units based on factors such as specific identification, percentage of revenue and headcount. The fair value of the reporting units was estimated considering a market multiple of revenue approach. During the three months ended June 30, 2002, we completed the transitional impairment test of goodwill as of January 1, 2002, concluding that no impairment of the goodwill had occurred at that date. By June 30, 2002, our stock price had declined significantly from January 1, 2002, at which point our market capitalization, based on our stock price, was below our book value, and we determined that an interim goodwill impairment test should be performed. Based on our analysis at June 30, 2002, the carrying amount of all reporting units exceeded their fair values and a goodwill impairment charge of \$101.8 million was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption "Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets," for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. This charge represented 100% of the goodwill balance at January 1, 2002. Our Japanese subsidiary did not have intangible assets and therefore goodwill amortization had no effect on discontinued operations.

The following is a summary of reported income (loss) from continuing operations and basic and diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 as adjusted to remove the amortization of goodwill (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Years Ended December 31,					
	2002	2001	2000			
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations  Add back: Goodwill amortization	\$(222,462) 	\$(185,809) 	\$49,131 			
Adjusted income (loss) from continuing operations	<u>\$(222,462</u> )	<u>\$(166,912)</u>	\$56,674			
Basic income (loss) per share from continuing operations:  Reported basic income (loss) per share from continuing operations	\$ (1.78) \$ —	\$ (1.50) \$ 0.15	\$ 0.41 \$ 0.06			
Adjusted basic income (loss) per share from continuing operations	<u>\$ (1.78)</u>	<u>\$ (1.35)</u>	\$ 0.47			

	Years Ended December 31,					
		2002	_	2001		2000
Diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations:  Reported diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations		(1.78)	\$	(1.50) 0.15		0.37 0.05
Adjusted diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations	\$	(1.78)	<u>\$</u>	(1.35)	\$	0.42

Also, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 144, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of," we determined that an interim impairment test of our long-lived intangible assets at June 30, 2002 was necessary due to the significant decline in our market capitalization, as determined by our stock price. Utilizing the lowest level of identifiable cash flows for each long-lived asset group, we determined that the expected undiscounted cash flows related to our long-lived asset groups would not recover the carrying value of the assets over their remaining useful lives. Accordingly, we compared the carrying amounts of our long-lived assets to their estimated fair values. Fair values were estimated using methods such as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. Based on the analysis at June 30, 2002, the fair values of certain intangible assets were below their carrying values and an impairment charge of \$5.6 million was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption "Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets," for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. Amortization expense related to the intangible assets was \$4.3 million and \$9.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets is \$598,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and \$1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The current balance of amortizable intangible assets will be fully amortized in 2003.

## Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation consists of expenses for deferred compensation associated with the Human Code, TLG and Adjacency acquisitions. The decrease in stock-based compensation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 relative to the comparable period in 2001 was primarily due to the reduction of deferred compensation for people that were no longer employed by the Company. In connection with the TLG acquisition, in July 2001, we issued \$10.0 million of restricted common stock to the former TLG employees continuing with the Company, of which approximately \$1.9 million has not been amortized as of December 31, 2002. In connection with the termination of certain TLG employees to whom the deferred compensation relates, approximately \$2.0 million of deferred compensation was reversed through additional paid-in-capital and approximately \$903,000 was charged to restructuring and other related charges during the three months ended December 31, 2002. The total compensation charge was approximately \$2.7 million and \$2.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Stock-based compensation for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 includes a non-recurring catch-up adjustment of approximately \$461,000 to correct the amortization period. We began to amortize the deferred compensation over a period of 4.75 years, commencing on the date of acquisition. The period should have been 4.0 years, which was corrected during the three months ended September 30, 2002. The remaining deferred compensation will be charged to operations at the rate of approximately \$267,000 per quarter for each of the next seven quarters, and \$91,000 for the final quarter.

In connection with the acquisition of Human Code, we assumed the outstanding options granted under the Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan. The options vest ratably over periods up to four years. We originally recorded deferred compensation of \$11.2 million related to the intrinsic value of the unvested options, of which \$184,000 has not been amortized as of December 31, 2002. Due to the termination of Human Code employees to whom the deferred compensation relates, \$374,000 and \$6.9 million of deferred compensation was reversed through additional paid-in-capital during the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Stock-based compensation was approximately \$342,000 and \$2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The remaining deferred compensation will be charged

to operations at the rate of approximately \$75,000 for the next two quarters, and \$34,000 in total thereafter, spread over approximately two quarters.

In connection with the acquisition of Adjacency, we assumed options under the Adjacency 1998 Stock Option Plan, and converted them into options to purchase 253,016 shares of our common stock. The shares vested ratably over three years starting on the date of employment, except for certain employees who were granted accelerated vesting upon a change-in-control of Adjacency. Stock-based compensation expense relating to these options was approximately \$247,000 and \$440,000 for the years ending December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The deferred compensation has been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001.

On October 23, 2002, we granted 324,500 shares of restricted common stock to senior officers of the Company. We did not make grants of restricted shares to Messrs. Greenberg and Moore. These shares will vest ratably over a period of four years. The stock-based compensation charge was approximately \$17,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2002, and will be approximately \$25,000 per quarter for the next 47 quarters, or \$101,000 annually.

### Gain on Equity Investment Change in Interest

In May 2002, our equity ownership percentage in DI was diluted from approximately 17% to approximately 15.7%, as a result of a public offering of DI's common stock. Our equity ownership percentage in DI was previously diluted from approximately 19% to approximately 17% during the year ended December 31, 2001. In both periods, the dilution was due to the sale by DI of shares to new investors, which occurred at a higher price per share than we previously paid, we recorded gains of \$1.8 million and \$1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, our designee on DI's Board of Directors resigned as a Director of DI and we sold a portion of our DI investment. As of December 31, 2002, this investment is now classified as a cost method equity investment because we no longer have the ability to significantly influence DI. There will be no future gains or losses on equity investment change in interest related to this investment.

### Other Income (Expense)

We classify all cost method equity investments of publicly traded companies as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale investments are reported at fair value as of each balance sheet date. Fair value is determined based on market quotations. Investments in equity securities for which fair value is not readily determinable are carried at cost. If the fair value of the investment declines below cost, we consider available evidence, including the duration and extent to which the market value has been less than cost, to evaluate the extent to which the decline is "other than temporary." If the decline is considered other than temporary, the cost basis of the investment is adjusted down to fair value and the adjustment is included in our consolidated statement of operations. If the decline is considered temporary in nature, the adjustment is reflected as a component of other comprehensive income in the statement of stockholders' equity. In 2002 and 2001, we recorded charges of approximately \$271,000 and \$4.8 million, respectively, to write-down certain investments we made in certain businesses because we considered the decline in the value of these investments to be other than temporary. Offsetting this charge, in 2002, we realized gains on the sale of DI shares of approximately \$259,000 and recognized other income of approximately \$44,000. Based on the market value of DI stock, we had approximately \$290,000 of unrealized losses as of December 31, 2002.

### Interest Income

Interest income was derived primarily from investment of the proceeds from our public stock offerings, which were invested primarily in U.S. government securities, tax-exempt, short-term municipal bonds and commercial paper. The decrease in interest income for the year ended December 31, 2002 was due to the decrease in the average cash and investment balances and lower interest rates, offset in part by transferring investment balances to higher interest bearing taxable securities.

### Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

We have deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of net operating losses incurred in 2001 and 2002, as well as other temporary differences between book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against the net deferred tax assets. As a result of net operating losses incurred in 2001 and 2002 and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of profitability in future periods, we recorded a full valuation allowance of \$115.8 million and \$72.6 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. We recorded a net income tax benefit of \$18.6 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, of which \$17.2 million relates to the enactment of "The Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002," enacted March 9, 2002, which allowed us to carry back our tax net operating loss for U.S. federal purposes for an additional three years to 1996. We recorded a net income tax benefit of \$3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, which related primarily to a tax benefit for net operating loss carrybacks, reversals of temporary differences between book and tax accounting and foreign tax liabilities. Our effective tax rate may vary from period to period based on changes in estimated taxable income or loss, changes to the valuation allowance, changes to federal, state or foreign tax laws, future expansion into areas with varying country, state, and local income tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and expenses by jurisdiction and as a result of acquisitions.

### Net Equity Loss from Investees

We use the equity method of accounting for investments when we have an ownership interest of 20% to 50% or the ability to exercise significant influence over an investee's operating activities. Net equity loss from investees for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was approximately \$349,000 and \$499,000, respectively. This consisted of net losses from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately \$506,000, offset by equity in net income from DI of approximately \$157,000, for the year ended December 31, 2002 and net losses from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately \$296,000 and from DI of approximately \$203,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, our designee on DI's Board of Directors resigned as a Director of DI and we sold a portion of our DI investment. There will be no future net equity income (loss) from this investment. Also, due to losses incurred by Sapient S.p.A. since its inception, our investment balance was reduced to zero during the second half of 2002. We will not recognize our share of Sapient S.p.A.'s earnings or losses until our investment recovers its value to above zero. We do not expect to recognize net equity income (loss) from this investment in 2003.

### Results by Operating Segment

We are engaged in business activities which involve the provision of business and technology consulting services, primarily on a fixed-price basis. Through December 31, 2001, we operated in one operating segment. Effective January 1, 2002, we have discrete financial data by operating segments available based on our new method of internal reporting, which disaggregates our operations on a business unit basis for our United States operations and on a geographic basis for our international operations. Operating segments are defined as components of the Company for which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker. Management uses this information to manage resources and evaluate performance. Data was not available for comparative periods prior to January 1, 2002.

We do not allocate certain selling and marketing and general and administrative expenses to our business unit segments in the United States, because these activities are managed separately from the business units. We did not allocate the costs associated with the February 2002, June 2002 and December 2002 restructuring plans across our operating segments, given that the majority of the restructuring costs represent consolidation of facilities and other items that are not specific to individual operating segments. Asset information by operating segment is not reported to or reviewed by the chief operating decision maker and, therefore, we have

not disclosed asset information for each operating segment. In prior quarters during 2002, our Japanese subsidiary was included in "All Other." During the fourth quarter of 2002, we discontinued operations in Japan and classified the results of operations as discontinued for all periods presented.

The table below presents the service revenues and operating income (loss) attributable to these operating segments for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 (in thousands).

	Financial Services	Public Services	Automotive/ Industrial	Consumer/ Transportation	Technology/ Communication	United Kingdom	Germany	Sub-Total
Service revenues	\$39,382	\$20,799	\$15,120	\$12,411	\$16,079	\$39,738	\$11,102	\$154,631
Operating income (loss)	\$ 3,672(1)	\$(3,770)(1)	\$ 3,106(1)	\$ 1,116(1)	\$(1,311)(	1) \$(1,466)	\$(3,964)	\$ (2,617)(1)
				b-Total ble Segments	All Other	Reconciling Items	Consol Tot	
Service revenues Operating income (loss)			•	54,631 (2,617)(1)	\$19,180 \$ 1,750(1)	\$ — \$(239,831)	\$ 173 (2) \$(240	3,811 (),698) (2)

- (1) The business unit segment operating income (loss) reflects only the direct controllable expenses of each business unit segment. The total operating results for each business unit segment in the U.S. do not contain an allocation of certain corporate, selling and marketing, or general and administrative expenses incurred in support of the U.S. business unit segments.
- (2) Represents consolidated loss before income taxes, net equity loss from investees and loss from discontinued operations. Adjustments that are made to the total of the segments' operating income (loss) in order to arrive at consolidated loss before income taxes include the following:

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	\$107,430
Restructuring and other related charges	66,885
Amortization of intangible assets	4,328
Stock-based compensation	3,161
Other income	(1,788)
Interest income	(4,312)
Unallocated expenses	<u>64,127</u> (3)
	\$239,831

(3) Includes corporate and U.S. selling and marketing and general and administrative costs.

Our international service revenues have increased as a percentage of total service revenues, from 23% for the year ended December 31, 2001 to 34% for the year ended December 31, 2002. For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, Sapient Limited, our UK subsidiary, had revenues of \$39.7 million and \$56.6 million, respectively, or 68% and 77% of total service revenues, respectively, of total international revenues. We do not expect any material changes in these percentages during the three months ending March 31, 2003 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2002.

### Loss on Discontinued Operations

On October 25, 2002, as a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services in Japan and the resulting declines in Sapient KK's service revenues, we announced that we would discontinue our Sapient KK operations in Japan. In December 2002, Sapient KK ceased its operating activities and the Japan office was closed.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," which was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2002, the results of operations of a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale shall be reported in discontinued operations if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the operations and cash flows of the component have been (or will be) eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity as a result of the disposal transaction and (b) the entity will not have any significant continuing involvement in the

operations of the component after the disposal transaction. A component of an entity that will be abandoned through the liquidation or run-off of operations shall be classified as a discontinued operations when operations cease. SFAS 144 supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30 (APB 30), "Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions," for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 retains the basic provisions of APB 30 for the presentation of discontinued operations in the statement of operations but broadens that presentation to include a component of an entity (rather than a segment of a business). A component of an entity comprises operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 144 in 2002, under the rules of APB 30, we would not have classified Japan as discontinued operations.

Japan's operating results for 2002 and for all prior periods presented have been collapsed and reclassified into a single line item under the caption "Loss from discontinued operations." The table below presents the carrying amount of Sapient KK's assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

Assets.	
Current assets	
Other assets	1,061
Total assets	1,508
Liabilities:	

 Current liabilities
 167

 Net assets
 \$1,341

The table below presents service revenues and pre-tax loss from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

	2002		
Service revenues	<u>\$ 2,401</u>	\$ 4,533	\$ 375
Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations	<u>\$(6,741)</u>	<u>\$(3,959)</u>	<u>\$(2,171)</u>

The \$6.7 million pre-tax loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 includes losses on discontinued operations of approximately \$1.0 million for a charge related to the repurchase of minority interest and approximately \$1.1 million for a write-off of cumulative translation adjustments.

### Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

### Service Revenues

Service revenues for 2001 decreased 35% from service revenues for 2000. The decrease in our service revenues was primarily attributable to a decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services, including our services, in the United States. In 2001, our five largest clients accounted for approximately 23% of our revenues in the aggregate; no client accounted for more than 10% of such revenues and two clients each accounted for more than 5% of such revenues. In 2000, our five largest clients accounted for approximately 25% of our revenues in the aggregate; no clients accounted for more than 10% of such revenues and two clients each accounted for more than 5% of such revenues.

### Project Personnel Costs, Before Reimbursable Expenses

Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses, increased as a percentage of revenues to 71% in 2001 from 49% in 2000, due to lower billable utilization of project personnel, higher average compensation and declining bill rates for earned revenue. Project personnel costs increased as a percentage of revenues from 68% in the three months ended March 31, 2001 to 72% in the fourth quarter of 2001 for similar reasons. The

decrease in total project personnel costs for the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of project personnel from 2,595 at December 31, 2000 to 1,859 at December 31, 2001. Project personnel costs for the year ended December 31, 2001 decreased 7% from project personnel costs for the year ended December 31, 2000. Project personnel costs for the three months ended December 31, 2001 decreased 39% from project personnel costs for the three months ended March 31, 2001 and were \$44.6 million and \$73.2 million, respectively. Project personnel costs were higher in the early part of 2001 due to the higher number of project personnel that we employed at the beginning of the year, which decreased during the year primarily as a result of our restructuring actions.

### Selling and Marketing Costs

Selling and marketing costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 8% in 2001 from 7% in 2000. This percentage increase was primarily due to a declining revenue base. The decrease in selling and marketing costs for the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of selling and marketing personnel from 117 at December 31, 2000 to 92 at December 31, 2001 due to workforce reductions from our restructuring actions and related decreases in travel expenses and marketing promotions.

### General and Administrative Costs

General and administrative costs increased as a percentage of revenues to 40% in 2001 from 27% in 2000. General and administrative costs increased as a percentage of revenue from 36% in the three months ended March 31, 2001 to 43% in the fourth quarter of 2001. This percentage increase was due primarily to fixed personnel, rent and depreciation costs incurred in anticipation of expected revenue stabilization or growth which did not materialize and a declining revenue base. The decrease in general and administrative costs for the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily due to a decrease in the number of general and administrative personnel, occupancy costs and depreciation costs related to our restructuring actions. For the three months ended December 31, 2001, general and administrative costs decreased 31% from general and administrative costs for the three months ended March 31, 2001, and were \$26.9 million and \$39.2 million, respectively. General and administrative personnel decreased from 623 employees at December 31, 2000 to 445 at December 31, 2001. Our total headcount decreased from 3,335 at December 31, 2000 to 2,396 at December 31, 2001. Total occupancy at December 31, 2001 was approximately 701,000 square feet, compared to approximately 1.0 million square feet at December 31, 2000.

### Restructuring and Other Related Charges

In connection with the restructuring plans announced in March 2001 and July 2001, we recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$100.6 million during 2001. The restructuring plans resulted in the termination of 1,251 employees. The restructuring plans also included closing our Sydney, Australia office and consolidating office space in other cities where we had multiple office locations. Included in the restructuring charge is \$561,000 related to our Japan subsidiary which is now included in our loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2001. Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities are composed of contractual rental commitments for office space vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space resulting from these office closings and consolidations was approximately 639,000 square feet.

### Amortization of Intangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets consists primarily of amortization of marketing assets, customer lists, assembled workforce and other employee items, developed technology and goodwill resulting from our acquisitions. The increase in amortization of intangible assets costs for 2001 compared to 2000 was primarily related to a full year of amortization in 2001 for the Human Code, HWT and TLG acquisitions, compared to a partial year of amortization in 2000 related to these acquisitions. Amortization periods range from three to seven years. Amortization of intangible assets increased as a percentage of revenues from 2% for the year

ended December 31, 2000 to 9% for the year ended December 31, 2001, and was primarily due to the Human Code acquisition, which occurred on August 28, 2000, and a declining revenue base.

### Stock-Based Compensation

The increase in stock-based compensation costs for 2001 compared to 2000 was primarily related to a full year of amortization of deferred compensation in 2001 for the Human Code and TLG acquisitions, compared to a partial year of amortization in 2000. In connection with the acquisition of Human Code, we assumed the outstanding options granted under the Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan. The options vest ratably over periods up to four years. We recorded deferred compensation of \$11.2 million related to the intrinsic value of the unvested options, of which approximately \$899,000 had not been amortized as of December 31, 2001. In connection with the termination of certain Human Code employees to whom the deferred compensation related, \$6.9 million was reversed through additional paid-in-capital during 2001.

Prior to our acquisition of Adjacency in March 1999, Adjacency granted stock options at below fair market value. The options were granted in November of 1998 with a three-year vesting schedule commencing on the date of employment. The deferred compensation has been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001.

### Gain on Equity Investment Change in Interest

During the year ended December 31, 2001, our equity ownership percentage in DI was diluted from 19% to approximately 17%. The dilution was due to the sale by DI of shares to new investors, which occurred at a higher price per share than we previously paid. We recorded a \$1.4 million gain as a result of the change in equity interest.

#### Other Expense

In 2001 and 2000, we recorded charges of \$4.8 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, to write-down certain investments we made in certain businesses because we considered the decline in the value of these investments to be other than temporary.

#### Interest Income

Interest income for 2001 and 2000 was derived primarily from investment of the proceeds from our public stock offerings and cash provided by operations, which were invested primarily in tax-exempt, short-term municipal bonds, commercial paper and U.S. government securities. The decrease in interest income for the year ended December 31, 2001 was primarily due to the decrease in the average cash and investment balances and lower interest rates.

### Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

We have deferred tax assets which have arisen primarily as a result of net operating losses incurred in 2001, as well as other temporary differences between book and tax accounting. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. For the three months ended March 31, 2001 and June 30, 2001, we recorded an income tax benefit. At that time, it was determined that the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets for federal and state income tax purposes was considered more likely than not, due to taxable income in the federal carry back period and anticipated sufficient future taxable income. As a result of net operating losses incurred in 2001, anticipated additional net operating losses for the first quarter of 2002 and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of profitability in future periods, we recorded a full valuation allowance of approximately \$72.6 million on our deferred tax assets during the third and fourth quarters of 2001. If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future is considered more likely than not, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase income in the period such determination is made. We recorded a net income tax benefit of \$3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001, which relates primarily to a tax

benefit for net operating loss carrybacks, reversals of temporary differences between book and tax accounting and foreign tax liabilities. Our effective tax rate may vary from period to period based on changes in estimated taxable income or loss, changes to the valuation allowance, changes to federal, state or foreign tax laws, future expansion into areas with varying country, state, and local income tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and expenses by jurisdiction and as a result of acquisitions.

### Net Equity Loss from Investees

Net equity loss from investees for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was approximately \$499,000 and \$878,000, respectively. This consisted of net losses from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately \$296,000 and from DI of approximately \$203,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001 and net losses from Sapient S.p.A. of approximately \$918,000, offset by equity in net income from DI of approximately \$40,000, for the year ended December 31, 2000.

### **Quarterly Financial Results**

The following tables set forth a summary of our unaudited quarterly results of operations for 2002 and 2001. In the opinion of management, this information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and all necessary adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly the quarterly information when read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations.

	Three Months Ended			
	March 31, 2002	June 30, 2002	September 30, 2002	December 31, 2002
		(In thousands, except per share data) (Unaudited)		
Revenues:		(Olia	iduited)	
Service revenues	\$ 49,123	\$ 39,741	\$ 43,042	\$ 41,905
Reimbursable expenses	2,672	2,050	1,893	1,947
Total gross revenues	51,795	41,791	44,935	43,852
Operating expenses:	31,773	71,771	77,233	73,632
Project personnel costs, before				
reimbursable expenses	41,019	33,201	31,189	27,866
Reimbursable expenses	2,672	2,050	1,893	1,947
Total project personnel costs	43,691	35,251	33,082	29,813
Selling and marketing costs	6,803	7,002	6,532	5,855
General and administrative costs	24,344	21,350	17,333	16,311
Restructuring and other related charges	48,735	9,778	(4,269)	12,641
Impairment of goodwill and intangible		107.420		
Amortination of intensible coasts	1 566	107,430	<u> </u>	<del></del> 598
Amortization of intangible assets  Stock-based compensation	1,566 638	1,566 701	598 1,358	398 464
			<del></del>	
Total operating expenses	125,777	183,078	54,634	65,682
Loss from operations	(73,982)	(141,287)	(9,699)	(21,830)
Gain on equity investment change in interest		1,755	_	_
Other income (expense)	(4)	8	(246)	275
Interest income	1,184	1,229	975	924
Loss before income taxes, net equity from	<del></del>	<del></del> _		
investees and loss from discontinued				
operations	(72,802)	(138,295)	(8,970)	(20,631)
Income tax provision (benefit)	(19,460)	451	174	<u>250</u>
Loss before net equity from investees and	(50.040)	(120.7.40)	(0.1.11)	(20.001)
loss from discontinued operations	(53,342)	(138,746)	(9,144)	(20,881)
Net equity income (loss) from investees	(6)	(529)	162	24
Loss from continuing operations	(53,348)	(139,275)	(8,982)	(20,857)
Loss from discontinued operations	(624)	(453)	(1,855)	(3,809)
Net loss	<u>\$(53,972</u> )	<u>\$(139,728</u> )	<u>\$(10,837</u> )	<u>\$(24,666)</u>
Basic and diluted loss per share:				
Continuing operations	\$ (0.42)	\$ (1.10)	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.17)
Discontinued operations	<u>\$ (0.01)</u>	<u>\$ (0.00)</u>	<u>\$ (0.02)</u>	<u>\$ (0.03)</u>
	<u>\$ (0.43)</u>	<u>\$ (1.10)</u>	<u>\$ (0.09)</u>	<u>\$ (0.20)</u>

	Three Months Ended				
	March 31, 2001	June 30, 2001	September 30, 2001	December 31, 2001	
			except per share de		
Revenues:					
Service revenues	\$107,608	\$ 86,394	\$ 69,037	\$ 62,126	
Reimbursable expenses	6,039	5,752	4,458	5,047	
Total gross revenues  Operating expenses:	113,647	92,146	73,495	67,173	
Project personnel costs, before	72 150	62.401	50 205	11 615	
reimbursable expenses	73,150	62,401	50,385	44,645	
Reimbursable expenses	6,039	5,752	4,458	5,047	
Total project personnel costs	79,189	68,153	54,843	49,692	
Selling and marketing costs	7,516	8,375	5,897	6,092	
General and administrative costs	39,168	34,035	28,474	26,897	
Restructuring and other related charges	47,342	3,470	42,047	7,220	
Amortization of intangible assets	6,593	6,593	7,504	7,436	
Stock-based compensation	1,501		939	700	
Total operating expenses	181,309	121,935	139,704	98,037	
Loss from operations	(67,662)	(29,789)	(66,209)	(30,864)	
Gain on equity investment change in interest	1,407	_	_		
Other income (expense)	(2,357)	(2,339)	(131)	150	
Interest income	3,020	2,671	2,306	1,396	
Loss before income taxes, net equity from investees, and loss from discontinued					
operations	(65,592)	, , ,	(64,034)	(29,318)	
Income tax provision (benefit)	(17,622)	(13,134)	29,030	(1,365)	
Loss before net equity from investees and	(47.070)	(1 ( 222)	(02.0(4)	(27.052)	
loss from discontinued operations	(47,970)	,	(93,064)	(27,953)	
Net equity loss from investees	(110)		(113)	(35)	
Loss from continuing operations	(48,080)		(93,177)	(27,988)	
Loss from discontinued operations	<u>(173</u> )	(806)	(1,474)	(1,506)	
Net loss	<u>\$(48,253)</u>	<u>\$(17,370)</u>	<u>\$(94,651</u> )	<u>\$(29,494)</u>	
Basic and diluted loss per share:		- <del></del>			
Continuing operations	\$ (0.39)	\$ (0.13)	\$ (0.75)	\$ (0.22)	
Discontinued operations	\$ (0.00)		\$ (0.01)	\$ (0.01)	
-	\$ (0.39)		\$ (0.76)	\$ (0.23)	

As a Percentage of Total Revenues Three Months Ended

		Tillee	Months Endea	
	March 31, 2002	June 30, 2002	September 30, 2002	December 31, 2002
		J)	Jnaudited)	
Revenues:				
Service revenues	100%	100%	100%	100%
Reimbursable expenses	5	5	4	5
Total gross revenues	105	105	104	105
Operating expenses:				
Project personnel costs, before reimbursable				
expenses	84	84	72	66
Reimbursable expenses	5	5	4	5
Total project personnel costs	89	89	76	71
Selling and marketing costs	14	17	15	14
General and administrative costs	50	54	41	39
Restructuring and other related charges	99	25	(10)	31
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	_	270		_
Amortization of intangible assets	3	4	1	1
Stock-based compensation	1	2	3	1
Total operating expenses	256	<u>461</u>	<u>126</u>	<u>157</u>
Loss from operations	(151)	(356)	(22)	(52)
Gain on equity investment change in interest	_	5	<del></del>	_
Other income (expense)	_	_	(1)	1
Interest income	3	3	2	2
Loss before income taxes, net equity from investees and loss from discontinued				
operations	(148)	(348)	(21)	(49)
Income tax provision (benefit)	<u>(40</u> )	1		_1
Loss before net equity from investees and loss from discontinued operations	<u>(108</u> )	(349)	<u>(21</u> )	<u>(50</u> )
Net equity loss from investees		(1)		
Loss from continuing operations	(108)	(350)	(21)	(50)
Loss from discontinued operations	(1)	(1)	(4)	(9)
Net loss	<u>(109</u> )%	<u>(351</u> )%	·	<u>(59</u> )%

As a Percentage of Total Revenues Three Months Ended

	March 31, 2001	June 30, 2001	September 30, 2001	December 31, 2001
_		J)	Jnaudited)	
Revenues:				
Service revenues	100%	100%	100%	100%
Reimbursable expenses	<u>_6</u>	7	6	8
Total gross revenues	106	107	106	108
Operating expenses:				
Project personnel costs, before reimbursable	68	72	73	72
expenses	• •	. –		72
Reimbursable expenses	<u>6</u>		6	8
Total project personnel costs	74	79	79	80
Selling and marketing costs	7	10	9	10
General and administrative costs	36	39	41	43
Restructuring and other related charges	44	4	61	11
Amortization of intangible assets	6	7	11	12
Stock-based compensation	2	2	1	1
Total operating expenses	<u>169</u>	<u>141</u>	_202	<u>157</u>
Loss from operations	(63)	(34)	(96)	(49)
Gain on equity investment change in interest	1			<del></del>
Other expense	(2)	(3)	_	
Interest income	3	3	3	_2
Loss before income taxes, net equity from investees and loss from discontinued				
operations	(61)	(34)	(93)	(47)
Income tax provision (benefit)	<u>(16</u> )	<u>(15</u> )	42	<u>(2</u> )
Loss before net equity from investees and loss from discontinued operations	<u>(45</u> )	<u>(19</u> )	<u>(135</u> )	<u>(45</u> )
Net equity loss from investees			_=	
Loss from continuing operations	(45)	(19)	(135)	(45)
Loss from discontinued operations	` <u>_</u> ´	(1)	(2)	(2)
Net loss	<u>(45</u> )%	<u>(20</u> )%	<u>(137</u> )%	<u>(47</u> )%

### Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have primarily funded our operations from cash flows generated from operations and the proceeds from our public stock offerings. We invest our excess cash predominantly in instruments that are highly liquid, investment grade securities. At December 31, 2002, we had approximately \$181.4 million in cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments, compared to \$244.5 million at December 31, 2001.

In March 2002, we canceled our bank revolving line of credit, which provided for borrowings of up to \$5.0 million. At the time of cancellation and at all times throughout 2001 and 2002, we had no borrowings outstanding. We had letters of credit outstanding under the line of credit of approximately \$2.3 million at the time of cancellation. We have deposited approximately \$10.6 million with various banks as collateral for letters of credit and performance bonds and have classified this cash as restricted on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002. There were no material capital commitments at

December 31, 2002. The following summarizes our contractual obligations of non-cancelable operating leases, excluding restructured properties, at December 31, 2002:

	(In thousands)
2003	\$ 9,631
2004	6,815
2005	3,462
2006	3,296
2007	2,652
Thereafter	10,838

Cash used in operating activities from continuing operations was \$65.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This resulted primarily from a loss from continuing operations of \$222.5 million, increases in restricted cash of \$10.6 million and decreases in deferred revenues on contracts of \$2.5 million, offset by net non-cash charges of \$127.9 million, which includes \$107.4 million of impairment charges and other items such as depreciation and amortization, loss recognized on write-down of investments and stock-based compensation; non-cash restructuring charges of \$7.3 million, increases in accrued restructuring costs of \$19.6 million, increases in income taxes of \$12.5 million and decreases in accounts receivable of \$6.5 million. Overall, the change was primarily due to the market decline for advanced technology services, which resulted in a loss from continuing operations. As a result of our restructurings and other cost-cutting actions, we expect to realize overall cost reductions in 2003. However, we do expect to recognize a net loss for the first quarter of 2003. Our days sales outstanding (DSO) for accounts receivable has increased from 40 days for the year ended December 31, 2001 to 68 days for the year ended December 31, 2002 primarily due to increases in governmental and United Kingdom clients as a percent of total revenue. The governmental clients continue to be slower payers, because of negotiated billing terms based on performance milestones, and the U.K. revenue has associated value added tax, which is included in the accounts receivable balance but not included in the revenue balance. We expect DSO for the three months ended March 31, 2003 to be in the range of 75-80 days.

Cash provided by investing activities from continuing operations was \$51.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This was due primarily to sales and maturities of short-term investments (net of purchases) of \$54.9 million and proceeds from the sale of DI shares of \$1.6 million, offset by capital expenditures of \$4.4 million primarily for expansion of our foreign office locations and the purchase of the minority interest in Sapient KK of \$1.0 million.

Cash used in financing activities from continuing operations was \$1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, as a result of the repurchase of 5,457,563 shares of our common stock for approximately \$5.2 million under our previous stock repurchase program, offset by cash provided from the sale of common stock through our employee stock purchase plan and the exercise of stock options of \$3.4 million. Our previous stock repurchase program was effective for one year, commencing on September 20, 2001. Under this program, we repurchased \$5.6 million of our common stock in total, since its inception.

On October 24, 2002, we announced a new stock repurchase program of up to \$20.0 million over the next year. This program became effective immediately. Purchases under our stock repurchase program may be made from time-to-time, in the open market, through block trades or otherwise. We expect to purchase shares of our common stock under this program when market conditions, and our business and financial goals, permit. To date, we have repurchased 1,875,679 shares of our common stock for approximately \$3.4 million under our new program, all of which was repurchased during 2003.

The total cash outlay for the restructuring and other related activities implemented in 2001 and 2002 is expected to be approximately \$141.1 million. The remaining \$27.1 million of restructuring and other related costs consists of non-cash charges primarily for asset write-offs and leasehold improvements for facilities being vacated. As of December 31, 2002, \$75.3 million of cash had been used for restructuring and other related costs, of which \$40.6 million had been expended during 2002. Lease termination payments were \$1.2 million

and \$1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The following summarizes our estimated future restructuring and other related activities' cash outlay at December 31, 2002:

	(In thousands)
2003	\$32,965
2004	14,546
2005	5,631
2006	3,806
2007	2,130
Thereafter	6,672

We believe that existing cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments will be sufficient to meet our working capital, capital expenditure, restructuring, and stock repurchase program requirements for at least the next 12 months.

### **New Accounting Pronouncements**

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities." SFAS 146 requires that a liability for a cost that is associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. It supersedes the guidance in EITF Issue No. 94-3. Under EITF 94-3, an entity recognized a liability for an exit cost on the date that the entity committed itself to an exit plan. Under SFAS 146, an entity's commitment to a plan does not, by itself, create a present obligation to other parties that meets the definition of a liability. SFAS 146 also establishes that fair value is the objective for the initial measurement of the liability. SFAS 146 will be effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002.

In November 2002, the FASB's Emerging Issues Task Force finalized EITF Issue No. 00-21 (EITF 00-21), "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables." EITF 00-21 addresses how to determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 also addresses how arrangement consideration should be measured and allocated to the separate units of accounting in the arrangement. However, it does not address when the criteria for revenue recognition are met or provide guidance on the appropriate revenue recognition convention for a given unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 is effective for all revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003, and early application is permitted. Upon adoption, entities may elect to either apply EITF 00-21 prospectively or report the change in accounting as a cumulative-effect adjustment. The adoption of EITF 00-21 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34." FIN 45 elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantees such as standby letters of credit and warranty obligations. It also clarifies that at the time a company issues a guarantee, a company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee and must disclose that information in its interim and annual financial statements. The provisions of FIN 45 relating to initial recognition and measurement must be applied on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. We do not expect the adoption of the initial recognition and measurement provisions in the first quarter of 2003 to have a significant impact on our financial condition or results of operations. The disclosure requirements of FIN 45, which are effective for both interim and annual periods that end after December 15, 2002, were adopted by us for the year ended December 31, 2002.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123," which amends SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. The transition

and annual disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. We will continue to account for stock-based compensation to employees under APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations. We adopted the disclosure requirements of this Statement as of December 31, 2002.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities." FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN 46 is required to be applied to preexisting entities of the Company as of the beginning of the first quarter after June 15, 2003. FIN 46 is required to be applied to all new entities with which the Company becomes involved beginning February 1, 2003. Based upon the accounting guidance and other information available, we do not believe our joint venture meets the definition of a variable interest entity. We currently believe the adoption of FIN 46 will not have a significant impact on the Company. We believe the interpretive accounting guidance necessary for FIN 46 will continue to evolve. Additional interpretive guidance could affect the accounting for our joint venture.

### **Risk Factors**

The following important factors, among others, could cause our actual business and financial results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report or presented elsewhere by management from time to time.

## The demand for business and technology consulting services has weakened significantly and demand will likely remain weak for some time because of the current economic climate

The market for our consulting services and the technologies used in our solutions has changed rapidly over the last four years. The market for advanced technology consulting services expanded dramatically during 1999 and most of 2000, but declined significantly in 2001 and 2002. Since the second half of 2000, many companies have experienced financial difficulties or uncertainty, and canceled or delayed spending on technology initiatives as a result. These companies typically are not demonstrating the same urgency regarding technology initiatives that existed during the economic expansion that stalled in 2000. This trend has worsened for some companies following the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States and the accounting scandals involving Enron, Worldcom and other companies. The economic uncertainty caused by the threat of military action in Iraq will likely further depress technology spending. If large companies continue to cancel or delay their business and technology consulting initiatives because of the current economic climate, or for other reasons, our business, financial condition and results of operations will continue to be materially and adversely affected.

### Our market is highly competitive and we may not be able to continue to compete effectively

The markets for the services we provide are highly competitive. We believe that we currently compete principally with large systems consulting and implementation firms and clients' internal information systems departments. We have begun to compete with offshore outsourcing companies, and we expect competition from these companies to increase in the future, especially on development, support and maintenance and outsourcing engagements. We compete to a lesser extent with specialized e-business consulting firms, strategy consulting firms and packaged technology vendors. We compete frequently for client engagements against companies with far higher revenues and larger numbers of consultants than we have. Recent consolidations of large consulting companies within our market have further increased the size and resources of some of these competitors. These competitors are often able to offer more scale, which in some instances has enabled them to significantly discount their services in exchange for revenues in other areas or at later dates. Additionally, in an effort to maintain market share, many of our competitors are heavily discounting their services to

unprofitable levels. Some of our competitors have gone out of business. If we cannot keep pace with the intense competition in our marketplace, our business, financial condition and results of operations will suffer.

### Our growing international operations and Global Distributed Delivery model subject us to increased risk

We currently have offices in the United Kingdom, Germany, India and Canada and we have a joint venture in Italy. Our international operations are growing as a percentage of our total revenues, and our Global Distributed Delivery<sup>SM</sup> (GDD) model is a key component of our ability to successfully deliver our services. International operations are subject to inherent risks, including:

- · economic recessions in foreign countries;
- · fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
- · political instability, war or military conflict;
- changes in regulatory requirements;
- · costs and management of staffing multi-national operations;
- significant changes in United States immigration policies or difficulties in obtaining required immigration approvals for international assignments;
- U.S. imposed restrictions on the import and export of technologies; and
- reduced protection for intellectual property in some countries.

In particular, our GDD model depends heavily on our office in New Delhi, India. Any escalation in the political or military instability in India, Pakistan, Iraq or the surrounding countries could hinder our ability to successfully utilize GDD, and could result in material adverse effects to our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, the delivery of our services from remote locations causes us to rely on data, phone, power and other networks which are not as reliable as those in other countries where we operate. Any failures of these systems could affect the success of our GDD model. Remote delivery of our services also increases the complexity and risk of delivering our services, which could affect our ability to satisfy our clients' expectations or perform our services within the estimated time frame and budget for each project.

## We have significant fixed operating costs, which may be difficult to adjust in response to unanticipated fluctuations in revenues

A high percentage of our operating expenses, particularly personnel, rent and depreciation, are fixed in advance of any particular quarter. As a result, an unanticipated decrease in the number or average size of, or an unanticipated delay in the scheduling for, our projects may cause significant variations in operating results in any particular quarter and could have a material adverse effect on operations for that quarter.

An unanticipated termination or decrease in size or scope of a major project, a client's decision not to proceed with a project we anticipated or the completion during a quarter of several major client projects could require us to maintain underutilized employees and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our revenues and earnings may also fluctuate from quarter to quarter because of such factors as:

- the contractual terms and timing of completion of projects;
- · any delays incurred in connection with projects;
- the adequacy of provisions for losses and bad debts;
- the accuracy of our estimates of resources required to complete ongoing projects;
- · loss of key highly skilled personnel necessary to complete projects; and
- · general economic conditions.

### We may lose money if we do not accurately estimate the costs of fixed-price engagements

Most of our projects are based on fixed-price, fixed-time contracts, rather than contracts in which payment to us is determined on a time and materials basis. Our failure to accurately estimate the resources required for a project, or our failure to complete our contractual obligations in a manner consistent with the project plan upon which our fixed-price, fixed-time contract was based, could adversely affect our overall profitability and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects in the past, which has resulted in losses on those contracts. We will likely experience similar situations in the future. In addition, we may fix the price for some projects at an early stage of the process, which could result in a fixed price that turns out to be too low and, therefore, could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

### Our clients could unexpectedly terminate their contracts for our services

Some of our contracts can be canceled by the client with limited advance notice and without significant penalty. Termination by any client of a contract for our services could result in a loss of expected revenues and additional expenses for staff which were allocated to that client's project. We could be required to maintain underutilized employees who were assigned to the terminated contract. The unexpected cancellation or significant reduction in the scope of any of our large projects could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

## We may be liable to our clients for damages caused by our services or by our failure to remedy system failures

Many of our projects involve technology applications or systems that are critical to the operations of our clients' businesses and handle very large volumes of transactions. If we fail to perform our services correctly, we may be unable to deliver applications or systems to our clients with the promised functionality or within the promised time frame, or to satisfy the required service levels for support and maintenance. While we have taken precautionary actions to create redundancy and back-up systems, any such failures by us could result in claims by our clients for substantial damages against us. Although we attempt to limit the amount and type of our contractual liability for defects in the applications or systems we provide, and carry insurance coverage which mitigates this liability in certain instances, we cannot be assured that these limitations and insurance coverages will be applicable and enforceable in all cases. Even if these limitations and insurance coverages are found to be applicable and enforceable, our liability to our clients for these types of claims could be material in amount and affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

## We have begun to put a portion of our fees at risk based on project results and may lose these fees if we do not succeed

Our business model focuses heavily on delivering measurable business results for our clients, and increasingly we have begun to agree to align our interests with our client's interests by putting a portion of our fees at risk, dependent on our client's attainment of the business value we promised to our client. No revenue has been recognized to date for performance standards. Our inability to deliver the business value that we have promised on a project could materially affect the profitability of that project, because we typically will incur the same level of project costs regardless of whether the promised business value is attained. We could also experience delays in payment because the measurement of business value is often complex and may involve a verification process between us and our client. As a result, our failure to deliver the business value that we promise to our clients could materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

### Businesses may decrease or delay their use of advanced technologies as a means for conducting commerce

Our future success depends heavily on the acceptance and use of advanced technologies as a means for conducting commerce and streamlining operations. We focus our services on the development and implementation of advanced technology strategies and solutions. If use of these advanced technologies does not grow, or

grows more slowly than expected, our revenue could be less than we anticipate and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Consumers and businesses may delay adoption of advanced technologies for a number of reasons, including:

- inability to implement and sustain profitable business models using advanced technologies;
- inadequate network infrastructure or bandwidth;
- delays in the development or adoption of new technical standards and protocols required to handle increased levels of usage;
- adoption of new laws and regulations applicable to new technologies and electronic commerce by federal, state or international governments that hinder the growth of new technologies;
- delays in the development of security and authentication technology necessary to effect secure transmission of confidential information; and
- failure of companies to meet their customers' expectations in delivering goods and services using advanced technologies.

## If we do not attract and retain qualified professional staff, we may not be able to adequately perform our client engagements and could be limited in accepting new client engagements

Our business is labor intensive, and our success depends upon our ability to attract, retain, train and motivate highly skilled employees. Although many specialized e-business and other business and technology companies have reduced their work forces or slowed their hiring efforts, and although we reduced our work force at various times during 2001 and 2002, intense competition still exists for certain employees who have specialized skills or significant experience in business and technology consulting. We may not be successful in attracting a sufficient number of these highly skilled employees in the future. Furthermore, the industry turnover rates for these types of employees is high, and we may not be successful in retaining, training and motivating the employees we are able to attract. Our rate of voluntary turnover increased during portions of 2002, although our voluntary turnover rate began to return closer to our targeted level of 15% during the fourth quarter of 2002. Any inability to attract, retain, train and motivate employees could impair our ability to adequately manage and complete existing projects and to bid for or accept new client engagements. We must also devote substantial managerial and financial resources to monitoring and managing our workforce and other resources. Our future success will depend on our ability to manage the levels and related costs of our workforce and other resources effectively. Almost all of our employees participate in one or more of our stock option plans as a component of long-term incentive compensation, and many of the stock options held by current employees have exercise prices that significantly exceed the recent trading range of our common stock. A future prolonged decline or low stock price could result in reduced incentives for employees and in increased turnover.

### Our common stock may not remain in compliance with Nasdaq National Market listing requirements

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq National Market (the "NNM"), which requires that listed stocks maintain a minimum per share closing bid price of \$1. Between July 2002 and October 2002, the closing bid price of our stock dropped below \$1 for certain periods of time. The closing bid price of our stock has been above \$1 since October 7, 2002. If our closing bid price drops below \$1 per share in the future for 30 consecutive trading days, Nasdaq may notify us of the resulting deficiency. If this happens, we must return to compliance within a specified grace period, or request a Nasdaq hearing to present our compliance plan. Unless we develop a satisfactory plan for returning to compliance, Nasdaq could eventually delist our stock from the NNM. This would impact the liquidity of shares of our common stock.

### Our stock price is volatile and may result in substantial losses for investors

The trading price of our common stock has been subject to wide fluctuations. Our trading price could continue to be subject to wide fluctuations in response to:

- quarterly variations in operating results and achievement of key business metrics by us or our competitors;
- changes in operating results estimates by securities analysts;
- any differences between our reported results and securities analysts' published or unpublished expectations;
- announcements of new contracts or service offerings made by us or our competitors;
- announcements of acquisitions or joint ventures made by us or our competitors; and
- general economic or stock market conditions.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. The commencement of this type of litigation against us could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management attention and resources.

### We may be unable to protect our proprietary methodology

Our success depends, in part, upon our proprietary methodology and other intellectual property rights. We rely upon a combination of trade secrets, nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements, and copyright and trademark laws to protect our proprietary rights. We enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, subcontractors, vendors, consultants and clients, and limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information. We cannot be certain that the steps we take in this regard will be adequate to deter misappropriation of our proprietary information or that we will be able to detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps to enforce our intellectual property rights. In addition, although we believe that our services and products do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of others, infringement claims may be asserted against us in the future, and, if asserted, these claims may be successful. A successful claim against us could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

## Our co-Chairmen and co-CEOs have significant voting power and may effectively control the outcome of any stockholder vote

Jerry A. Greenberg and J. Stuart Moore, our Co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors and Co-Chief Executive Officers, own approximately 34.3% of our common stock in the aggregate. As a result, they have the ability to substantially influence, and may effectively control the outcome of corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, including the election of Directors. This concentration of ownership may also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of Sapient, even if such a change in control would benefit other investors.

### We are dependent on our key employees

Our success will depend in large part upon the continued services of a number of key employees, including Messrs. Greenberg and Moore. Our employment arrangements with Messrs. Greenberg and Moore and with our other key personnel provide that employment is terminable at will by either party. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if our key employees resign from Sapient to join a competitor or to form a competing company, the loss of such personnel and any resulting loss of existing or potential clients to any such competitor could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Although we require our employees to sign agreements prohibiting them from joining a competitor, forming a competing company or soliciting our clients or employees for certain periods of time, we cannot be certain that these agreements will be effective in preventing our key employees from engaging in

these actions or that courts or other adjudicative entities will substantially enforce these agreements. Furthermore, for those employees whom we involuntarily terminated in connection with our restructurings in 2001 and 2002, we have waived the non-competition clause of their agreements in exchange for releases of claims. We granted these waivers only in connection with the restructuring actions, and our general practice is not to waive the non-competition obligations of other departing employees.

## We may not be able to comply in a timely manner with all of the recently enacted or proposed corporate governance provisions

Beginning with the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in July 2002, a significant number of new corporate governance requirements have been adopted or proposed. We believe that we currently comply with all of the requirements that have become effective thus far, and with many of the requirements that will become effective in the future. Although we currently expect to comply with all current and future requirements, we may not be successful in complying with these requirements at all times in the future. In addition, certain of these requirements will require us to make changes to our corporate governance practices. For example, one Nasdag proposal under review by the Securities and Exchange Commission will require that a majority of our Board of Directors be composed of independent directors by our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Currently, only three of the six members of our Board of Directors are considered to be independent. We may not be able to attract a sufficient number of directors in the future to satisfy this requirement, if enacted. Additionally, the Commission recently passed a final rule that requires companies to disclose whether a member of their Audit Committee satisfies certain criteria as a "financial expert." Although we currently have two Audit Committee members that satisfy this requirement and expect this to continue, we may not be able to satisfy this, or other, corporate governance requirements at all times in the future, and our failure to do so could cause the Commission or Nasdaq to take disciplinary actions against us, including an action to delist our stock from the Nasdaq National Market.

### Our corporate governance provisions may deter a financially attractive takeover attempt

Provisions of our charter and by-laws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including a transaction in which stockholders would receive a premium for their shares. These provisions include the following:

- our Board of Directors is staggered into three classes and the members may be removed only for cause upon the affirmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote;
- our Board of Directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to fix the rights and preferences of and issue shares of preferred stock;
- any action that may be taken by stockholders must be taken at an annual or special meeting and may not be taken by written consent;
- stockholders must comply with advance notice requirements before raising a matter at a meeting of stockholders or nominating a director for election; and
- a Chairman of the Board or a Chief Executive Officer are the only persons who may call a special meeting of stockholders.

Provisions of Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring us or merging with us.

### Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We do not believe that we have any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other financial instruments. At December 31, 2002, our exposure to market risk relates primarily to changes in interest rates on our investment portfolio. Our marketable investments consist primarily of fixed income securities. We invest only with high credit quality issuers and we do not use derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. We do not believe that a significant increase or decrease in interest rates would have a material adverse impact on the fair value of our investment portfolio.

### Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

### SAPIENT CORPORATION

### INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Accountants	46
Consolidated Balance Sheets	47
Consolidated Statements of Operations	48
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity	49
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	50
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	52
Financial Statement Schedule:	
Report of Independent Accountants on Financial Statement Schedule	83
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves	84

### REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Sapient Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of changes in stockholders' equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sapient Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, pursuant to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill in 2002. As discussed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, pursuant to the adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, the Company changed its method of accounting for discontinued operations in 2002.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Boston, Massachusetts

January 29, 2003, except for the last paragraph in Note 15, for which the date is March 6, 2003.

# SAPIENT CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	December 31, 2002	December 31, 2001
	(In thousands	, except share
ASSETS	•	,
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 91,229	\$109,744
Marketable investments, current	59,085	120,674
Restricted cash	3,963	_
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of \$2,246 and \$3,220 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively	29,134	37,036
Unbilled revenues on contracts	11,468	11,289
	642	13,562
Income tax receivable	4,442	3,212
Prepaid expenses		,
Other current assets	2,282	2,444
Total current assets	202,245	297,961
Marketable investments	20,426	14,119
Restricted cash	6,659	_
Property and equipment, net	24,262	41,466
Intangible assets, net	1,386	11,349
Goodwill	_	101,795
Other assets	7,675	8,180
Total assets	\$ 262,653	<u>\$474,870</u>
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 4,005	\$ 5,668
Accrued expenses	12,888	13,194
Accrued restructuring costs, current portion	36,466	17,829
Accrued compensation	7,138	7,199
Income taxes payable	513	907
Deferred revenues on contracts	5,910	9,465
Total current liabilities	66,920	54,262
Accrued restructuring costs, net of current portion	37,110	35,511
Other long term liabilities	2,819	3,883
<u> </u>		
Total liabilities	106,849	93,656
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)		
Minority interest	_	444
Stockholders' equity:		
Preferred stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 5,000,000 shares authorized and		
none outstanding at December 31, 2002 and 2001		_
Common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, 200,000,000 shares authorized,		
127,648,747 and 126,314,050 shares issued at December 31, 2002 and	1,276	1,263
2001, respectively	469,648	468,447
Treasury stock, at cost, 5,867,259 and 110,000 shares at December 31, 2002	<del>702,070</del>	700,77
and 2001, respectively	(5,688)	(422)
Deferred compensation	(2,143)	(8,443)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	511	(0,473) $(1,478)$
Accumulated deficit	(307,800)	(78,597)
Total stockholders' equity	155,804	380,770
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	<u>\$ 262,653</u>	<u>\$474,870</u>

### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

	Years Ended December 31,			
	2002	2001	2000	
	(In thousar	ds, except per sl	ıare data)	
Revenues:				
Service revenues	\$ 173,811 8,562	\$ 325,165 21,296	\$502,964 <u>35,310</u>	
Total gross revenues	182,373	346,461	538,274	
Operating expenses:  Project personnel costs, before reimbursable expenses (exclusive of stock-based compensation of \$2,863, \$3,421 and \$1,397 for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively)  Reimbursable expenses	133,275 8,562	230,581 21,296	247,981 35,310	
Total project personnel costs	141,837	251,877	283,291	
Selling and marketing costs (exclusive of stock-based compensation of \$236, \$258 and \$95 for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively)	26,192	27,880	33,743	
respectively)	79,338	128,574	134,241	
Restructuring and other related charges	66,885	100,079	·	
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	107,430	´ <del></del>	_	
Amortization of intangible assets	4,328	28,126	11,328	
Stock-based compensation	3,161	4,449	2,165	
Total operating expenses	429,171	540,985	464,768	
	(246,798)	(194,524)	73,506	
Income (loss) from operations	1,755	1,407	73,300	
Other income (expense)	33 4,312	(4,677) 9,393	(1,250) 11,678	
Income (loss) before income taxes, net equity from investees and loss from discontinued operations	(240,698) (18,585)	(188,401) (3,091)	83,934 33,925	
Income (loss) before net equity from investees and loss from discontinued operations	(222,113) (349)	(185,310) (499)	50,009 (878)	
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(222,462) (6,741)	(185,809) (3,959)	49,131 (2,171)	
Net income (loss)	\$(229,203)	\$(189,768)	\$ 46,960	
Basic net income (loss) per share:				
Continuing operations	\$ (1.78) \$ (0.05) \$ (1.83)	\$ (1.50) \$ (0.03) \$ (1.53)	\$ 0.41 \$ (0.02) \$ 0.39	
	<del>+ (1.03</del> )		<del>* 0.57</del>	
Diluted net income (loss) per share:  Continuing operations  Discontinued operations	\$ (1.78) \$ (0.05) \$ (1.83)	\$ (1.50) \$ (0.03) \$ (1.53)	\$ 0.37 \$ (0.02) \$ 0.35	
Weighted average common shares	124,961	124,256	119,191 14,573	
Weighted average common shares and dilutive common share equivalents	124,961	124,256	133,764	
m1		10		

### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

	Commo	n Stock	Additional	Treasur	y Stock	<b>.</b> .		Accumulated Other Comprehensive		Total
	Shares	Amount	Paid-in Capital		Amount	<del></del>	Income (Loss)	Income (Loss)	Earnings (Deficit)	Stockholders' Equity
Balance at December 31, 1999	114,947	\$1,150	\$240,400			(In thousa \$ (688)	inds)	\$ (114)	\$ 64,211	\$ 304,959
Shares issued under stock option and	114,247	\$1,150	\$240,400			\$ (000)	•	3 (114)	<del>5 04,211</del>	\$ 304,939
purchase plans	4,919	49	36,890	_	-		_	-	_	36,939
Change in interest in subsidiary	-	_	347	_	-	_	_	<del></del>	_	347
Common stock issued for acquisition of Human Code	1,508	15	131,098	_	_	(11,185)	_	-	_	119,928
Tax benefit of disqualifying dispositions of stock options	-	_	15,200	_		_		~	_	15,200
Amortization of deferred compensation	_		_	_	_	1,815	_		_	1,815
Comprehensive income:  Net income	_	_	_	_	_	_	\$ 46,960	_	46,960	46,960
Other comprehensive income:							(400)	(422)		(422)
Currency translation adjustments Net unrealized loss on investments	_	_	_	_	_	_	(422) (326)	(422) (326)	_	(422) (326)
Comprehensive income							\$ 46,212			
Balance at December 31, 2000	121,374	1,214	423,935			(10,058)		(862)	111,171	525,400
Shares issued under stock option and purchase plans	2,890	29	17,637	_	_	_	_	_	_	17,666
Common stock issued for acquisition of TLG	2,200	22	14,151	_	_	(8,596)		_	_	5,577
Common stock received from Human Code purchase price adjustment	(150)	(2)	(942)	_		_		_	_	(944)
Repurchases of common stock	_	_		(110)	(422)	_	_	_		(422)
Tax benefit of disqualifying dispositions of stock options	_	_	20,600	_	_	_		_	_	20,600
Amortization of deferred compensation		_	_	_	_	3,277	_	_		3,277
Reversal of deferred compensation	_	_	(6,934)	_	_	6,934	_	_	_	_
Comprehensive loss:  Net loss							\$(189,768)		(189,768)	(189,768)
Other comprehensive loss:	_	_	_	_	_		\$(169,700)	_	(109,700)	(109,700)
Currency translation adjustments	_	_	_	_	_	_	(1,642)	(1,642)	_	(1,642)
Net unrealized gain on investments	_	_		_	_		1,026	1,026	_	1,026
Comprehensive loss							<u>\$(190,384)</u>			
Balance at December 31, 2001.	126,314	_1,263	468,447	<u>(110</u> )	(422)	(8,443)		(1,478)	(78,597)	380,770
Shares issued under stock option and purchase plans	1,335	13	3,532		_	_	_	_		3,545
Repurchases of common stock	_	_		(5,757)	(5,266)	_	_	-	_	(5,266)
compensation	_	_	- (2.221)	_		3,066	-	_		3,066
Reversal of deferred compensation Comprehensive loss:	_	_	(2,331)	_	-	3,234	-	_	_	903
Net loss	_	_	_	_	_	_	\$(229,203)		(229,203)	(229,203)
Other comprehensive loss:							,		, , ,	
Currency translation adjustments	_	_	_	-	_	_	2,352	2,352		2,352
Net unrealized loss on investments	_	_	_	_	_	_	(363)	(363)	_	(363)
Comprehensive loss							\$(227,214)	<del></del> _	<del></del>	<del></del>
Balance at December 31, 2002.	127,649	<u>\$1,276</u>	\$469,648	(5,867)	\$(5,688)	<u>\$ (2,143)</u>		\$ 511	\$(307,800)	\$ 155,804

### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

	Years Ended December 31,			
	2002	2001		2000
		(In thousands)		
Cash flows from operating activities:				
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$(222,462)	\$(185,809)	\$	49,131
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing operations to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities from continuing operations:				
Loss recognized on write-down of investments	271	4,677		1,250
Realized gains on investments	(279)	<del></del>		_
Gain on equity investment change in interest	(1,755)	(1,407)		_
Loss recognized on disposition of fixed assets	456	1,723		_
Depreciation and amortization	13,701	18,293		13,928
Amortization of intangible assets	4,328	28,126		11,328
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	107,430	_		
Deferred income taxes		7,716		(7,923)
Allowance for doubtful accounts	263	2,706		6,347
Stock-based compensation	3,161	4,449		2,165
Equity received for services rendered	_	(156)		(2,076)
Non-cash restructuring costs	7,321	19,972		
Net equity loss from investees	349	499		878
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquired assets and liabilities:				
Increase in restricted cash	(10,622)			_
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable	6,539	38,304		(14,767)
(Increase) decrease in unbilled revenues on contracts	(179)	(4,135)		7,371
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses	(1,230)	2,291		(1,181)
Decrease (increase) in other current assets	162	3,662		(2,071)
Decrease (increase) in other assets	304	279		(2,807)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable	(1,026)	3,568		(2,730)
(Decrease) increase in accrued expenses	(306)	1,287		1,693
Increase in accrued restructuring costs	19,583	44,929		
(Decrease) increase in accrued compensation	(61)	(16,159)		11,320
Increase (decrease) in income taxes	12,526	(559)		25,244
(Decrease) increase in other long term liabilities	(1,407)	(252)		3,838
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenues on contracts	(2,455)	(3,473)		3,080
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities from continuing operations	(65,388)	(29,469)		104,018
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operations	(4,077)	(4,105)		(2,245)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities	(69,465)	(33,574)		101,773
Cash flows from investing activities:				
Purchases of property and equipment	(4,391)	(18,088)		(42,739)
Proceeds from sale of equity investment	1,562			_
Purchase of minority interest	(991)			
Net cash received from acquisition				435

	Years	Ended Decembe	r 31,
	2002	2001	2000
		(In thousands)	
Investments in and advances to affiliates		(962)	(8,036)
Long term investments	55	312	(3,751)
Sales and maturities of marketable investments	177,463	266,594	177,850
Purchases of marketable investments	(122,524)	(217,977)	(216,774)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing operations	51,174 (120)	29,879 (120)	(93,015) (1,009)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	51,054	29,759	(94,024)
			(21,021)
Cash flows from financing activities:  Proceeds from stockholders for notes receivable			71
	2 444	17.510	71 26.020
Proceeds from stock option and purchase plans	3,444	17,510	36,939
Contributions from minority interest of consolidated subsidiary	(5.266)	(422)	1,350
Repurchases of common stock	(5,266)	(422)	
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities from continuing operations	(1,822)	17,088	38,360
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	1,718	(1,112)	(108)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents	(18,515)	12,161	46,001
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	109,744	97,583	51,582
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$ 91,229	\$ 109,744	\$ 97,583
Schedule of non-cash operating activities:  Tax benefit of disqualifying dispositions of stock options	<u>\$</u>	\$ 20,600	\$ 15,200
Schedule of non-cash investing activities:  Common stock received from Human Code purchase price			
adjustment	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$ 944</u>	<u> </u>
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:  Net assets and liabilities recognized upon acquisitions:			
Cash and cash equivalents	_	_	\$ 435
Accounts receivable		_	1,166
Unbilled revenues on contracts		_	1,051
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		_	454
Property and equipment			3,282
Other assets			137
Accounts payable		_	393
Accrued expenses	_	_	9,258
Accrued compensation			356
Deferred revenues on contracts			104
Other long term liabilities		_	133
Accrued acquisition costs			\$ 2,271
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash financing activities:			
Common stock and options issued for acquisition of Human			121 112
Code	_	<del>_</del>	131,113 \$ 5,573
Acquisition payable for TLG		_	\$ 5,573

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### (1) Nature of Business

Sapient Corporation (Sapient or the Company), a leading business and technology consultancy, helps Global 2000 clients achieve measurable business results through the rapid application and support of advanced information technology, primarily on a fixed-price basis. The Company is focused on *making technology matter*<sup>SM</sup>, by identifying, implementing and supporting technology-enabled solutions that create near-term and long-term business value for its clients. The Company creates value for its clients through its unique approach: a passion for delivering measurable business results; a fundamentally different methodology; a commitment to fixed-price and fixed-time delivery; its expertise in globally distributed delivery; and its ability to design its solutions for adoption. The Company currently has offices in Cambridge, Massachusetts, New York, Jersey City, San Francisco, Chicago, Atlanta, Dallas, Los Angeles, Washington D.C., Düsseldorf, London, Munich, New Delhi and Toronto.

The market for advanced technology consulting services expanded dramatically during 1999 and most of 2000, but declined significantly in 2001 and 2002. As a result of this decrease in demand, the Company's service revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased 47% from its service revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001, and decreased 65% from its service revenues for the twelve months ended December 31, 2000. The Company's loss from continuing operations increased to \$222.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 from \$185.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. As a result of the losses incurred, the Company reduced its work force and consolidated office space in cities where it had multiple office locations or excess office space at various times in 2001 and 2002. The Company also closed its Australia office in 2001 and discontinued its operations in Japan in December 2002. The Company's cash used in operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 was \$69.5 million and the Company has accrued restructuring costs, primarily related to vacated facilities, of \$73.6 million at December 31, 2002. The Company's cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments at December 31, 2002 were \$181.4 million. The Company believes that its existing cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and marketable investments will be sufficient to meet its working capital, capital expenditure, restructuring and stock repurchase program requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, if the demand for the Company's services remains weak or declines further, the Company may incur additional losses and negative cash flows, and these could be significant.

### (2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

### (a) Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned and majority-owned, controlled subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain amounts in previously issued financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. In December 2002, the Company ceased operations in Japan. The financial statements and financial information included in this report for 2002 and prior periods reflect the results of operations for Japan as a single line item listed as "loss from discontinued operations." See Note 17.

### (b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant estimates relied upon in preparing these financial statements include estimated costs to complete long term contracts, allowances for bad debts, estimated fair value of investments, including whether any decline in such fair value is other than

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

temporary, expected future cash flows used to evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets, estimated fair values of long-lived assets and reporting units used to record impairment charges related to intangible assets and goodwill, restructuring and other related charges, contingent liabilities and recoverability of the Company's net deferred tax assets and related valuation allowance. Although the Company regularly assesses these estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they become known. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from the Company's estimates if past experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate.

### (c) Foreign Currency Translation

For non-U.S. subsidiaries, which operate in a local currency environment, assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates, and income statement items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. The local currency for all foreign subsidiaries is considered to be the functional currency and, accordingly, translation adjustments are reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity under the caption "accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)." In connection with the closure and dissolution of the Company's operations in Japan, \$1.1 million of cumulative translation adjustments were written off and are included in the Company's loss from discontinued operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in the statement of operations, and were approximately \$793,000 of gains and approximately \$420,000 of losses for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These amounts were primarily related to intercompany foreign currency transactions that are of a short-term nature. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions were not material to the Company's consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2000.

### (d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are considered cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalent balances consist of deposits and repurchase agreements with a large U.S. commercial bank and high-grade commercial paper. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company has classified its cash equivalent investments, totaling approximately \$54.8 million and \$5.4 million, respectively, as available-for-sale. These investments are stated at amortized costs, which approximates fair value.

### (e) Marketable Investments

Marketable investments are available-for-sale securities which are recorded at fair market value. The difference between amortized cost and fair market value, net of tax effect, is shown as a separate component of stockholders' equity. The cost of securities available-for-sale is adjusted for amortization of premiums and discounts to maturity. Interest and amortization of premiums and discounts for all securities are included in interest income. Realized gains and losses from sales of available-for-sale securities were not material for any period presented. The Company considers available evidence, including the duration and extent to which declines in fair value compares to cost and the associated unrealized loss is "other than temporary." If the decline is considered other than temporary, the unrealized loss is removed from other comprehensive income (loss) and recorded as other expense.

### (f) Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, marketable investments and accounts receivable.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral on accounts receivable. The Company maintains allowances for potential credit losses and such

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

losses have been within management's expectations. No customer accounted for greater than 10 percent of total revenues in 2002, 2001 or 2000.

The fair market values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and income taxes payable at both December 31, 2002 and 2001 approximate their carrying amounts.

### (g) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. When an item is sold or retired, the cost and related accumulated depreciation is relieved, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of operations.

### (h) Other Assets

Other assets include long term investments recorded under both the cost and equity methods of accounting. The Company uses the equity method of accounting for investments when it has an ownership interest of 20% to 50% or the ability to exercise significant influence over an investee's operating activities. Investments accounted for under the equity method and cost method amounted to approximately \$0 and \$5.6 million at December 31, 2002, respectively, and approximately \$5.7 million and \$200,000 at December 31, 2001, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company's designee on Dream Incubator, Inc.'s (DI) Board of Directors resigned as a Director of DI, and the Company sold a portion of its DI shares. At December 31, 2002, this investment is now classified as a cost method equity investment because the Company no longer has the ability to significantly influence DI. At December 31, 2001, the investment was classified as an equity method investment. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded \$259,000 of realized gains on the sale of DI shares in the public market. See Note 7 for Investments and Minority Interest.

The Company classifies all cost method equity investments of publicly traded companies as "available-for-sale." Available-for-sale investments are reported at fair value as of each balance sheet date. Fair value is determined based on market quotations. Investments in equity securities for which fair value is not readily determinable are carried at cost. If the fair value of the investment declines below cost, the Company considers available evidence, including the duration and extent to which the market value has been less than cost, to evaluate the extent to which the decline is "other than temporary." If the decline is considered other than temporary, the cost basis of the investment is adjusted down to fair value and the amount of the adjustment is included in the Company's consolidated statement of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded \$271,000, \$4.8 million and \$1.3 million, respectively, in charges to write down certain investments because the decline in the value of these investments was considered to be other than temporary.

#### (i) Change in Interest Gains and Losses

The Company includes gains and losses on changes in its interest in its subsidiaries and equity method investees in net income (loss). If the change in interest is a gain and the subsidiary or equity method investee is a research and development, start-up or development stage company or an entity whose viability as a going concern is under consideration, the Company accounts for the change in interest as a component of stockholders' equity.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

### (j) Revenue Recognition and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company recognizes revenue from the provision of professional services under written service contracts with its clients. The Company derives a significant portion of its revenue from fixed-price, fixed-time contracts. Revenue generated from fixed-price contracts, with the exception of support and maintenance contracts, is recognized based on the ratio of labor hours incurred to estimated total labor hours. This method is used since reasonably dependable estimates of the revenues and costs applicable to various stages of a contract can be made, based on historical experience and milestones set in the contract. Revenue generated from fixed-price support and maintenance contracts is recognized ratably over the contract term. Revenue from time-and-material contracts is recognized as services are provided. Certain contracts provide for revenue to be generated based upon the achievement of certain performance standards. Revenue will be recognized when those performance standards are achieved. No revenue has been recognized to date for performance standards. In some instances during 2001 and 2000, services were provided to clients in exchange for equity instruments of the client. The Company measures the fair value of the equity instrument on the date the parties come to a mutual understanding of the terms of the arrangement and a commitment for performance by the Company to earn the equity instruments is reached, or when the equity is earned, whichever occurs earlier. The Company did not receive any equity for services rendered for the year ended December 31, 2002. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, \$156,000 and \$2.1 million, respectively, of equity was received for services rendered. Subsequent changes in the value of equity are measured as indicated in the "Other Assets" policy above.

Recognized revenues and profits are subject to revisions as the contract progresses to completion. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made on a contract-by-contract basis and are recognized in the period in which such losses are determined. For the year ended December 31, 2002, \$2.6 million was provided for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts. Earnings recognized in excess of the amounts invoiced to clients are classified as unbilled revenues. Amounts invoiced to clients in excess of revenue recognized are classified as deferred revenues.

The Company recognizes revenue for services only in those situations where collection from the client is probable. The Company establishes billing terms at the time project deliverables and milestones are agreed. The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. The Company bases its estimates on its historical collection and write-off experience, current trends, credit policy, detailed analysis of specific client situations and percentage of its accounts receivable by aging category. If the financial condition of Sapient's clients were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payment, additional allowances may be required. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, \$263,000, \$2.7 million and \$6.3 million, respectively, was provided for doubtful accounts.

In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued Issue No. 01-14, "Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for "Out-Of-Pocket" Expenses Incurred." This pronouncement requires that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred be characterized as revenue in the Company's statement of operations. The Company incurs incidental expenses in the delivery of services to its clients that are commonly referred to as "out-of-pocket" expenses. These expenses include, but are not limited to, travel and related charges. Accordingly, the Company adjusted revenue for all periods reported to include the reimbursable expenses billed to clients. Previously, these expense reimbursements were classified as a reduction of project personnel costs. This change in classification had no effect on current or previously reported net income (loss) or net income (loss) per share.

### (k) Stock-Based Compensation

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (SFAS 123), "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," requires that companies either recognize compensation expense for grants of stock options

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

and other equity instruments based on fair value, or provide pro forma disclosure of net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share in the notes to the financial statements. At December 31, 2002, the Company has nine stock-based compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 12. The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized under SFAS 123 for the Company's employee stock option plans. Had compensation cost for the awards under those plans been determined based on the grant date fair values, consistent with the method required under SFAS 123, the Company's net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

	2002			2001		2000
	(In thousands except per share data					
Net income (loss) as reported	\$(	229,203)	\$(	189,768)	\$	46,960
Add back: Stock-based compensation, included in net income (loss), as reported	\$	3,161	\$	4,449	\$	2,165
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all		(11.150)		(5.050)		
awards, net of related tax effects		(44,460)		<u>(64,350)</u>	_(	(58,117)
Pro forma	\$(	<u>270,502</u> )	<u>\$(</u>	<u>249,669</u> )	\$	(8,992)
Basic net income (loss) per share						
As reported	\$	(1.83)	\$	(1.53)	\$	0.39
Pro forma	\$	(2.16)	\$	(2.01)	\$	(0.08)
Diluted net income (loss) per share						
As reported	\$	(1.83)	\$	(1.53)	\$	0.35
Pro forma	\$	(2.16)	\$	(2.01)	\$	(0.07)

The stock-based compensation expense appearing in the financial statements relates to the Human Code, Inc. (Human Code), The Launch Group Aktiengesellschaft (TLG) and Adjacency, Inc. (Adjacency) acquisitions. The Company assumed the Human Code options granted to Human Code employees, which vest ratably over periods up to four years. Deferred compensation expense relates to the intrinsic value of the unvested options on the date of purchase. TLG employees were issued \$10.0 million of restricted Sapient stock in July 2001. The \$10.0 million is being amortized over a period of four years. Adjacency stock options were granted, prior to the acquisition by the Company, at below fair market value. The deferred compensation was being amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of three years and was fully amortized as of December 31, 2001.

#### (1) Advertising Costs

The Company charges the costs of advertising to expense as incurred, and includes them in selling and marketing costs in the consolidated statements of operations. Such costs totaled approximately \$83,000, \$156,000 and \$1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

### (m) Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective income tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences, operating losses, or tax credit carry forwards are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets. Significant management judgment is required in determining the Company's provision for income taxes, its deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against its net deferred tax assets. The Company evaluates the weight of all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. See Note 10.

### (n) Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, the Company presents basic income (loss) per share and diluted income (loss) per share for each of the following line items: income (loss) from continuing operations, loss from discontinued operations and net income (loss). Basic income (loss) per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted income (loss) per share reflects the per share effect of dilutive common stock equivalents. Common stock equivalents were outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the Company recorded losses for each of the years.

### (o) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income" (SFAS 130) establishes standards for reporting comprehensive income (loss) and its components in the body of the financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income (loss) as currently reported under generally accepted accounting principles and also considers the effect of additional economic events that are not required to be recorded in determining net income (loss) but are rather reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity. The Company reports foreign currency translation gains and losses and unrealized gains and losses on investments which are considered temporary as components of comprehensive income (loss).

#### (p) Segment Reporting

Through December 31, 2001, the Company operated in one operating segment. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company has discrete financial data by operating segments available based on the Company's new method of internal reporting, which disaggregates its operations on a business unit basis for its United States operations and on a geographic basis for its international operations. Operating segments are defined as components of the Company concerning which discrete financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker. Management uses this information to manage resources and evaluate performance. Data was not available for comparative periods prior to January 1, 2002.

The Company does not allocate certain selling and marketing and general and administrative expenses to its business unit segments in the United States, because these activities are managed separately from the business units. The Company did not allocate the costs associated with the February 2002, June 2002 and December 2002 restructuring plans across its operating segments, given that the majority of the restructuring costs represent consolidation of facilities and other items that are not specific to individual operating segments. Asset information by operating segment is not reported to or reviewed by the chief operating decision maker and, therefore, the Company has not disclosed asset information for each operating segment. In prior quarters during 2002, the Company's Japanese subsidiary was included in "All Other." During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company discontinued operations in Japan and classified the results of operations as discontinued for all periods presented.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The table below presents the service revenues and operating income (loss) attributable to these operating segments for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 (in thousands).

	Financial Services	Public Services	Automotive/ Industrial	Consumer/ Transportation	Technolog Communicat	•	United Kingdom	Germany	Sub-Total
Service revenues	\$39,382	\$20,799	\$15,120	\$12,411	\$16,079		\$39,738	\$11,102	\$154,631
Operating income (loss)	\$ 3,672(1)	\$(3,770)(1)	\$ 3,106(1)	\$ 1,116(1)	\$(1,311	(1)	\$(1,466)	\$(3,964)	\$ (2,617)(1)
			Sub-Tota Reportable Seg		All Other		nciling ems	Consol Tot	
Service revenues			\$154,631	!	19,180	\$		\$ 173	3,811
Operating income (loss)			\$ (2,617	7)(1) \$	1,750(1)	\$(2	39,831)(2)	\$(240	),698) (2)

<sup>(1)</sup> The business unit segment operating income (loss) reflects only the direct controllable expenses of each business unit segment. The total operating results for each business unit segment in the U.S. do not contain an allocation of certain corporate, selling and marketing, or general and administrative expenses incurred in support of the U.S. business unit segments.

(2) Represents consolidated loss before income taxes, net equity loss from investees and loss from discontinued operations. Adjustments that are made to the total of the segments' operating income (loss) in order to arrive at consolidated loss before income taxes include the following:

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	\$107,430
Restructuring and other related charges	66,885
Amortization of intangible assets	4,328
Stock-based compensation	3,161
Other income	(1,788)
Interest income	(4,312)
Unallocated expenses	<u>64,127</u> (3)
	\$239,831

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes corporate and U.S. selling and marketing and general and administrative costs.

### (q) Geographic Data

Data for the geographic regions in which the Company operates is presented below for the periods presented in the consolidated statements of operations and the consolidated balance sheets:

	2002	2001	2000
		(In thousands)	
Service revenues:			
North America	\$115,487	\$251,446	\$459,460
International	58,324	73,719	43,504
Total service revenues	<u>\$173,811</u>	<u>\$325,165</u>	\$502,964
Long-lived assets:			
North America	\$ 16,862	\$144,290	
International	8,786	10,320	
Total long-lived assets	\$ 25,648	<u>\$154,610</u>	

During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, Sapient Limited, the Company's subsidiary in the U.K., had \$39.7 million, \$56.6 million and \$33.8 million of service revenues, respectively, or 68%, 77% and 78%, respectively, of total international revenues.

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

### (r) New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities." SFAS 146 requires that a liability for a cost that is associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. It supersedes the guidance in EITF Issue No. 94-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)." Under EITF 94-3, an entity recognized a liability for an exit cost on the date that the entity committed itself to an exit plan. Under SFAS 146, an entity's commitment to a plan does not, by itself, create a present obligation that meets the definition of a liability. SFAS 146 also establishes that fair value is the objective for the initial measurement of the liability. SFAS 146 will be effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, however, the Company will continue to follow the guidance of EITF No. 94-3 for any changes in its restructuring estimates for the initiatives implemented in 2001 and 2002.

In November 2002, the FASB's Emerging Issues Task Force finalized EITF Issue No. 00-21 (EITF 00-21), "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables." EITF 00-21 addresses how to determine whether an arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 also addresses how arrangement considerations should be measured and allocated to the separate units of accounting in the arrangement. However, it does not address when the criteria for revenue recognition are met or provide guidance on the appropriate revenue recognition convention for a given unit of accounting. EITF 00-21 is effective for all revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003, and early application is permitted. Upon adoption, entities may elect to either apply EITF 00-21 prospectively or report the change in accounting as a cumulative-effect adjustment. The adoption of EITF 00-21 is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34." FIN 45 elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantees such as standby letters of credit and warranty obligations. It also clarifies that at the time a company issues a guarantee, a company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value of the obligations it assumes under that guarantee and must disclose that information in its interim and annual financial statements. The provisions of FIN 45 relating to initial recognition and measurement must be applied on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The Company does not expect the adoption of the initial recognition and measurement provisions in the first quarter of 2003 to have a significant impact on its financial condition or results of operations. The disclosure requirements of FIN 45, which are effective for both interim and annual periods that end after December 15, 2002, were adopted by the Company for the year ended December 31, 2002, as reflected in Note 11.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123," which amends SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," to provide alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. The transition and annual disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company will continue to account for stock-based compensation to employees under APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations. The Company adopted the disclosure requirements of this Statement as of December 31, 2002, as reflected above in Note 2(k).

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (FIN 46), "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities." FIN 46 requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. FIN 46 is required to be applied to preexisting entities of the Company as of the beginning of the first quarter after June 15, 2003. FIN 46 is required to be applied to all new entities with which the Company becomes involved beginning February 1, 2003. Based upon the accounting guidance and other information available, the Company does not believe its joint venture, discussed in Note 7, meets the definition of a variable interest entity. The Company currently believes the adoption of FIN 46 will not have a significant impact on the Company. The Company believes the interpretive accounting guidance necessary for FIN 46 will continue to evolve. Additional interpretive guidance could affect the accounting for the Company's joint venture.

#### (3) Marketable Investments

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, all of the Company's marketable investments were classified as available-for-sale. Marketable investments are carried on the balance sheet at their fair market value.

The following tables summarize the Company's marketable investments in thousands of dollars:

2002

		20	102	
	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Market Value
Commercial paper	\$ 7,409	\$ 10	\$ —	\$ 7,419
U.S. government agencies		207	(79)	61,452
Municipal notes and bonds	1,641	15		1,656
Corporate debt securities	8,934	53	(3)	8,984
Marketable investments	<u>\$79,308</u>	<u>\$285</u>	<u>\$(82</u> )	\$79,511
Current marketable investments				59,085
Non-current marketable investments				<u>\$20,426</u>
		200	)1	
	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Gains	Gross Unrealized Losses	Market Value
Commercial paper	\$ 8,095	\$ 6	\$ <del>-</del>	\$ 8,101
U.S. government agencies	73,613	474	(19)	74,068
Municipal notes and bonds	46,288	207	(100)	46,395
Corporate debt securities	6,204	<u>48</u>	(23)	6,229
Marketable investments	<u>\$134,200</u>	<u>\$735</u>	<u>\$(142)</u>	\$134,793
Current marketable investments				120,674
Non-current marketable investments				<u>\$ 14,119</u>

### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Contractual maturities of marketable investments at December 31, 2002:

	Amortized Cost	Market Value
Less than one year	\$57,977	\$58,085
Due in 1-2 years	20,331	20,426
Due in 2-5 years	_	_
Due after 5 years	1,000	1,000
Marketable investments	\$79,308	\$79,511

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because some borrowers have the right to call or prepay obligations. Gross realized gains and losses on the sale of securities are calculated using the specific identification method, and were not material to the Company's consolidated results of operations for the years ended 2002, 2001 and 2000.

### (4) Property and Equipment

The cost and accumulated depreciation of property and equipment at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

	2002	2001	Estimated Useful Life
	(In thou	ısands)	
Leasehold improvements	\$ 22,539	\$ 26,978	Lesser of lease term or life of asset
Furniture and fixtures	4,639	5,799	5 years
Office equipment	5,931	7,793	5 years
Computer equipment	19,231	42,388	3 years
	52,340	82,958	
Less accumulated depreciation	(28,078)	(41,492)	
Property and equipment, net	<u>\$ 24,262</u>	<u>\$ 41,466</u>	

Depreciation and amortization expense was approximately \$13.7 million, \$18.3 million and \$13.9 million for the years ended 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

### (5) Goodwill

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations," (SFAS 141) and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets" (SFAS 142). SFAS 141 requires that all business combinations be accounted for under the purchase method only and that certain acquired intangible assets in a business combination be recognized as assets apart from goodwill. SFAS 142 requires that ratable amortization of goodwill be replaced with at least annual tests of the goodwill's impairment and that intangible assets other than goodwill be amortized over their useful lives to their estimated value. Companies had six months from the date of adoption of SFAS 142 to complete a transitional goodwill impairment test, which is applied as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the standard was first adopted. SFAS 141 is effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 and for all business combinations accounted for by the purchase method for which the date of acquisition is after June 30, 2001. The provisions of SFAS 142 were adopted by the Company, as required, on January 1, 2002.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

As a result of the provisions of SFAS 142, beginning January 1, 2002, the Company ceased amortization of goodwill, which was approximately \$101.8 million at that time. The Company performed an impairment review of its goodwill as of January 1, 2002, under the transitional provisions of SFAS 142. The Company identified its reporting units, allocated assets and liabilities to the reporting units and performed impairment tests on the goodwill associated with each of the reporting units by comparing the reporting units' book value to their estimated fair value. Assets and liabilities, including goodwill, were allocated to reporting units based on factors such as specific identification, percentage of revenue and headcount. The fair value of the reporting units was estimated considering a market multiple of revenue approach. During the three months ended June 30, 2002, the Company completed the transitional impairment test of goodwill and concluded that no impairment of the goodwill had occurred as of January 1, 2002. By June 30, 2002, the Company's stock price had declined significantly from January 1, 2002, at which point the Company's market capitalization, based on its stock price, was below its book value, and the Company performed an interim goodwill impairment test. The Company's stock price at January 2, 2002 was \$7.25 per share and declined to \$1.06 per share at June 28, 2002. Based on the analysis at June 30, 2002, the carrying amount of all reporting units exceeded their fair values and a goodwill impairment charge of \$101.8 million was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption "Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets," for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. This charge represented 100% of the goodwill balance at January 1, 2002. The valuation of the estimated fair value of reporting units based on a market multiple of revenue approach required significant estimates and assumptions. These estimates contain management's best estimates, using appropriate and customary assumptions and projections at the time. If different estimates or assumptions were used, it is reasonably possible that the analysis would have generated materially different results. Our Japanese subsidiary did not have intangible assets and therefore goodwill amortization had no effect on discontinued operations.

The following is a summary of reported income (loss) from continuing operations and basic and diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, as adjusted to remove the amortization of goodwill (in thousands, except per share amounts):

	Years Ended December 31,			
	2002	2001	2000	
Reported income (loss) from continuing operations	\$(222,462)	\$(185,809)	\$49,131	
Add back: Goodwill amortization		18,897	7,543	
Adjusted income (loss) from continuing operations	<u>\$(222,462)</u>	<u>\$(166,912</u> )	<u>\$56,674</u>	
Basic income (loss) per share from continuing operations:  Reported basic income (loss) per share from continuing operations	\$ (1.78) \$ —	\$ (1.50) \$ 0.15	\$ 0.41 \$ 0.06	
Adjusted basic income (loss) per share from continuing operations	<u>\$ (1.78)</u>	<u>\$ (1.35)</u>	\$ 0.47	
Diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations:  Reported diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations	\$ (1.78) \$	\$ (1.50) 0.15	\$ 0.37 \$ 0.05	
Adjusted diluted income (loss) per share from continuing operations	<u>\$ (1.78)</u>	<u>\$ (1.35)</u>	<u>\$ 0.42</u>	

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The changes in allocated goodwill for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002, are as follows:

	Financial Services	Public Services	Automotive/ Industrial	Consumer/ Transportation	Technology/ Communications	United Kingdom	Germany	All Other	Total
Balance as of January 1, 2002	\$ 25,138	\$ 12,060	\$ 7,140	\$ 339	\$ 26,568	\$ 11,092	\$ 8,396	\$ 11,062	\$ 101,795
Impairment charges	(25,138)	(12,060)	(7,140)	(339)	(26,568)	(11,092)	(8,396)	(11,062)	(101,795)
Balance as of December 31, 2002	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>	<u> </u>	<u>\$</u>	<u> </u>	<u>\$</u>	<u>\$</u>

#### (6) Intangible Assets

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" (SFAS 144). SFAS 144 supersedes FASB Statement No. 121 (SFAS 121), "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of." SFAS 144 applies to all long-lived assets (including discontinued operations), except goodwill, and consequently amends Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 (APB 30), "Reporting Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business." SFAS 144 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and was adopted by the Company, as required, on January 1, 2002. In accordance with SFAS 144, the carrying value of intangible assets and other long-lived assets is reviewed on a regular basis for the existence of facts or circumstances, both internally and externally, that may suggest impairment. Factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include:

- significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;
- significant negative industry or economic trends;
- significant decline in our stock price for a sustained period; and
- our market capitalization relative to net book value.

If such circumstances exist, we evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets, other than goodwill, to determine if impairment exists based upon estimated undiscounted future cash flows over the remaining useful life of the assets and comparing that value to the carrying value of the assets. If the carrying value of the asset is greater than the estimated future cash flows, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. In determining expected future cash flows, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which cash flows are identifiable and independent of cash flows from other asset groups. The Company determined that an interim impairment test of its long-lived assets was necessary at June 30, 2002 due to the significant decline in the Company's market capitalization, as determined by its stock price. Utilizing the lowest level of identifiable cash flows for each long-lived asset group, the Company determined that the expected undiscounted cash flows related to its long-lived asset groups would not recover the carrying value of the assets over their remaining useful lives. Accordingly, the Company compared the carrying amounts of its long-lived assets to their estimated fair values. Fair values were estimated using methods such as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. Based on the analysis at June 30, 2002, the fair values of certain intangible assets were below their carrying values and an impairment charge of \$5.6 million was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption "Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets," for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. The intangible assets at December 31, 2002 are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their remaining useful lives, which are less than one year. The valuation of long-lived assets requires significant estimates and assumptions, including fair value estimates such as estimated replacement cost and relief from royalty. These estimates contain management's best estimates, using appropriate and customary

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

assumptions and projections at the time. If different estimates or adjustments were used, it is reasonably possible that our analysis would have generated materially different results.

The following is a summary of intangible assets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands):

	December 31, 2002					
	Gross Carrying Amount	Accumulated Amortization	Impairment Charge	Net Book Value		
Amortizable intangible assets						
Marketing assets and customer lists	\$ 4,100	\$ (2,481)	\$(1,519)	\$ 100		
Employment agreements	1,000	(778)		222		
Developed technology	16,160	(10,980)	(4,116)	1,064		
Total	<u>\$21,260</u>	<u>\$(14,239)</u>	<u>\$(5,635)</u>	<u>\$1,386</u>		
		Dec	ember 31, 2001			
		Gross Carrying Amount	Accumulated Amortization	Net Book Value		
Amortizable intangible assets						
Marketing assets and customer lists		\$ 4,100	\$(2,109)	\$ 1,991		
Employment agreements		1,000	(444)	556		
Developed technology		16,160	(7,358)	8,802		
Total		\$21,260	\$(9,911)	\$11,349		

Amortization expense related to the intangible assets was \$4.3 million and \$9.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets is expected to be \$598,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2003 and \$1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The current balance of amortizable intangible assets will be fully amortized in 2003.

#### (7) Investments and Minority Interest

On October 25, 2000, the Company invested \$3.7 million in DI, a management consulting company that develops strategies for e-businesses in Japan, and acquired a 19% interest. Under the terms of the Company's investment agreement with DI, the Company had one seat on DI's board of directors, with special voting rights and other privileges, and therefore used the equity method of accounting for this investment. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company's equity ownership percentage in DI was diluted from 19% to approximately 17% due to the sale by DI of shares to new investors. In May 2002, the Company's equity ownership percentage in DI was further diluted from approximately 17% to approximately 15.7%, as a result of a public offering of DI's common stock. Both rounds of financing by DI were at a higher price per share than the Company previously paid and recorded gains of \$1.8 million and \$1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, as a result of the change in equity interest. On October 25, 2000, DI acquired a 12% equity interest in Sapient KK, the Company's Japanese subsidiary, for \$1.3 million in cash. The excess cash payment of \$347,000 over the Company's carrying value of Sapient KK was recorded as a component of stockholders' equity, due to the start up nature of Sapient KK. DI provided Sapient KK with start up services, which included strategy, temporary management, recruiting and other services. Prior to this transaction, the Company owned 100% of this subsidiary.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company discontinued its Sapient KK operations in Japan (See Note 17). On November 14, 2002, as part of the dissolution of Sapient KK, the Company and DI agreed to unwind the cross ownership position between DI and Sapient KK in exchange for DI lifting certain trade restrictions on its common stock owned by the Company. The Company transferred approximately 1,400 shares of DI, having a fair market value of approximately \$1.0 million, to DI, in return for DI's transfer to us

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

of DI's 12% minority interest in Sapient KK. Under the regulations of the Tokyo Stock Exchange, the Company was required to make a cash payment of approximately \$1.0 million to DI for the Sapient KK shares being transferred to the Company. This payment was then transferred back to the Company by DI for the DI shares being transferred to DI. The cash payment for the minority interest became part of the Company's investment basis in Sapient KK, which was reduced to zero upon dissolution of Sapient KK and is included in the Company's loss from discontinued operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. In addition, the Company's designee on DI's Board of Directors resigned his position as a Director of DI. DI is a public company traded in Japan, and the Company is selling its remaining shares of DI common stock as market conditions permit. As of November 2002, the Company uses the cost method of accounting, since the Company no longer has the ability to significantly influence DI. As of December 31, 2002, the Company sold 1,000 shares of the 11,273 remaining shares that the Company owned after the unwinding of the cross ownership, resulting in net cash proceeds of approximately \$585,000, and a gain of approximately \$43,000.

In September 1999, the Company commenced a joint venture, Sapient S.p.A., in Milan, Italy. The joint venture provides business and technology consulting in Italy. The Company owns 50% of the voting stock of this joint venture and uses the equity method of accounting because the Company has the ability to significantly influence, but not control, the joint venture. The Company had call option rights to purchase one additional share in January 2002 and January 2003 at a price equal to its nominal value, which were not exercised. The Company also has the option to purchase the remaining ownership interests in the joint venture in January 2004 and in each quarter of 2004 at a price determined using a formula based on an appraised fair market value and a multiple of projected earnings. The Company invested approximately \$2.0 million in the joint venture. Due to the losses incurred by Sapient S.p.A. since its inception, the Company's investment balance was reduced to zero during the second half of 2002.

## (8) Bank Loan Facility

In March 2002, the Company canceled its bank revolving line of credit, which provided for borrowings of up to \$5.0 million. At the time of cancellation and at all times throughout 2001 and 2002, the Company had no borrowings outstanding. The Company had letters of credit outstanding under the line of credit of approximately \$2.3 million at the time of cancellation. The Company has deposited approximately \$10.6 million with various banks as collateral for letters of credit and performance bonds and has classified this cash as restricted on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002.

#### (9) Restructuring and Other Related Charges

As a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services that began in the second half of 2000, and the resulting decline in the Company's service revenues, the Company restructured its workforce and operations in March 2001, July 2001, February 2002, June 2002 and December 2002. In connection with the restructuring plan implemented in December 2002, the Company recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$12.0 million, consisting of \$7.1 million for workforce reductions, \$4.4 million for consolidation of facilities and \$0.5 million for the write-down of other depreciable assets during the three months ended December 31, 2002. The December 2002 restructuring is expected to result in the termination of 179 employees in total, of whom 74 remained employed by the Company as of December 31, 2002, and who are expected to be terminated in the first and second quarters of 2003 upon completion of project assignments. Of the terminated employees, 70% are project personnel, 10% are selling and marketing personnel and 20% are general and administrative personnel. In connection with the termination of certain former TLG employees, the Company accelerated the vesting of approximately 138,000 shares of restricted common stock as a part of their severance packages, resulting in a non-cash charge of approximately \$903,000, which is included in the \$7.1 million workforce reduction charge. The December 2002 restructuring plan also included further consolidation of office space. Estimated costs for the reduction in physical office space are composed of contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space will be approximately 39,000 square feet, 93% of which was vacated as of December 31, 2002. The Company recorded an additional \$0.6 million restructuring charge during the three months ended December 31, 2002 due to changes in estimates for charges recorded in prior quarters, primarily due to changing real estate markets.

For the three months ended September 30, 2002, the Company recorded a \$5.1 million restructuring credit for charges recorded in prior quarters. The credit is the result of savings in outplacement services and facility costs, net of restructuring charges of \$1.5 million for workforce reductions and facility charges in connection primarily with the planned closure of its Japan office in December 2002. Included in the restructure charge is approximately \$662,000 related to Japan which is now included in the Company's loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2002. The restructuring charge for the Japan office closure resulted in the termination of 33 employees in total. The total reduction of office space was approximately 8,600 square feet, all of which was vacated as of December 31, 2002.

In connection with the restructuring plan implemented in June 2002, the Company recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$9.8 million, consisting of \$3.1 million for workforce reductions, \$6.2 million for consolidation of facilities and \$0.5 million for the write-down of other depreciable assets during the three months ended June 30, 2002. The June 2002 restructuring resulted in the termination of 106 employees in total, none of whom remained employed by the Company as of December 31, 2002. Of the terminated employees, 76% were project personnel, 4% were selling and marketing personnel and 20% were general and administrative personnel. The June 2002 restructuring plan also included further consolidation of office space, including the closing of the Company's Houston and Denver offices. Estimated costs for the reduction in physical office space is composed of contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space was approximately 52,000 square feet, all of which was vacated as of December 31, 2002.

In connection with the restructuring plan announced in February 2002, the Company recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$48.7 million, consisting of \$12.9 million for workforce reductions, \$35.0 million for consolidation of facilities and \$0.8 million for the write-down of other depreciable assets during the three months ended March 31, 2002. The Company reduced its headcount by a total of 415 project personnel. Significant actions were also taken to streamline internal operations, including reductions in physical space and the reduction of 130 selling and marketing and general and administrative employees. In total, the February 2002 restructuring plan resulted in the termination of 545 employees, none of whom remained employed by the Company as of September 30, 2002. Of the terminated employees, 76% were project personnel, 3% were selling and marketing personnel and 21% were general and administrative personnel. Estimated costs for the reduction in physical office space are composed of contractual rental commitments for office space being vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space was approximately 291,000 square feet, all of which was vacated as of September 30, 2002.

In connection with the restructuring plans announced in March 2001 and July 2001, the Company recorded restructuring and other related charges of \$100.6 million during 2001. The restructuring plans resulted in the termination of 1,251 employees. The restructuring plans also included closing the Sydney, Australia office and consolidating office space in other cities where the Company had multiple office locations. Included in the restructure charge is approximately \$561,000 related to the Company's Japan subsidiary which is now included in our loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2001. Estimated costs for the consolidation of facilities are composed of contractual rental commitments for office space vacated and related costs, brokerage and related costs to sublet the office space, leasehold improvement write-

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

downs, offset by estimated sub-lease income. The total reduction of office space resulting from these office closings and consolidations was approximately 639,000 square feet.

These restructuring charges and accruals require significant estimates and assumptions, including sublease income assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are monitored on at least a quarterly basis for changes in circumstances. It is reasonably possible that such estimates could change in the future resulting in additional adjustments and the effect could be material.

Charges for restructuring and other related activities as of, and for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were as follows (in thousands):

	Balance	Additional Charge-	Additional Charge-	Additional Charge-	Additional Charge-	Adjust-	Util	ized	Balance
	12/31/01	Q1 Q	<u>Q2</u>	Q3	Q4	ments	Non-Cash	Cash	12/31/02
Workforce	\$ 1,635	\$12,967	\$3,100	\$ 697	\$ 7,119	\$ (643)	\$ (903)	\$(18,839)	\$ 5,133
Facilities	51,705	34,981	6,153	820	4,439	(3,883)	(3,968)	(21,804)	68,443
Depreciable assets		787	525		485		(1,797)		
	<u>\$53,340</u>	\$48,735	\$9,778	\$1,517	\$12,043	\$(4,526)	\$(6,668)	<u>\$(40,643)</u>	\$73,576
Current accrued restructuring costs			?						36,466
Non-current accrued restructuring costs									<u>\$37,110</u>

	Original Additional			Utili	Balance	
	Charge	Charge	Adjustments	Non-Cash	Cash	12/31/01
Workforce	\$11,948	\$11,691	\$ 852	\$ (67)	\$(22,789)	\$ 1,635
Facilities	33,285	23,549	13,217	(6,470)	(11,876)	51,705
Depreciable assets	2,109	2,769	1,220	(6,098)		
	<u>\$47,342</u>	\$38,009	\$15,289	\$(12,635)	<u>\$(34,665)</u>	\$53,340
Current accrued restructuring costs						17,829
Non-current accrued restructuring costs						\$35,511

#### (10) Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

	2002	2001	2000
	(	In thousands)	
Federal, current	\$(17,217)	\$(11,634)	\$31,320
State, current	201	117	4,741
Foreign, current	(648)	710	1,534
Subtotal, current income tax provision (benefit)	(17,664)	(10,807)	37,595
Federal, deferred		6,674	(3,174)
State, deferred	(921)	1,042	(496)
Foreign, deferred			
Subtotal, deferred income tax provision (benefit)	(921)	7,716	(3,670)
Income tax provision (benefit)	<u>\$(18,585</u> )	\$ (3,091)	<u>\$33,925</u>

The Company recorded a net income tax benefit of \$18.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, of which \$17.2 million relates to the enactment of "The Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002," enacted March 9, 2002, which allowed the Company to carry back its tax net operating loss for U.S. federal purposes for an additional three years to 1996. The income tax benefit of the employee stock option

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

compensation expense for tax purposes in excess of amounts recognized for financial reporting purposes credited to additional paid-in capital was \$20.6 million and \$15.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. No amounts were credited to additional paid-in capital for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. statutory income tax rate to pre-tax income as a result of the following:

	2002	2001	2000
Statutory income tax (benefit) rate	(35.0)%	(35.0)%	35.0%
Impact of the Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002	(6.9)	_	_
State income taxes, net of federal benefit	(3.2)	(4.8)	5.2
Non-deductible goodwill	13.3	3.1	2.4
Tax exempt interest		(.9)	(2.0)
Valuation allowance	23.5	35.4	_
Other, net	0.6	0.6	(0.2)
Effective income tax (benefit) rate	<u>(7.7</u> )%	<u>(1.6</u> )%	40.4%

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, deferred income tax assets and liabilities resulted from differences in the recognition of income and expense for tax and financial reporting purposes. The sources and tax effects of these temporary differences are presented below:

		2002		2001
		(In thou	sand	ls)
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), current:				
Deferred revenue	\$	1,888	\$	9,372
Allowance for doubtful accounts		717		1,241
Other reserves and accruals		1,430		867
Unbilled revenue		(2,966)		(5,410)
Restructuring charges		1,346		6,899
Gross deferred income tax assets (liabilities), current		2,415		12,969
Valuation allowance		(2,415)	_(	(12,969)
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities), current	\$		\$	
Deferred income tax assets (liabilities), non-current:				
Property and equipment	\$	3,148	\$	1,849
In-process research and development		3,194		3,494
Goodwill and other intangibles		5,075		(1,470)
Less than 100% owned consolidated investments		_		(679)
Tax credits		4,786		3,249
Unused net operating losses		71,431		38,871
Restructuring charges		25,739	_	14,359
Gross deferred income tax assets (liabilities), non-current		113,373		59,673
Valuation allowance	_(	113,373)	_(	(59,673)
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities), non-current	\$		<u>\$</u>	

The Company has net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately \$144 million and \$83 million related to U.S. federal purposes, \$239 million and \$132 million related to state jurisdictions, and \$20 million

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

and \$7 million related to foreign jurisdictions at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. If not utilized, the net operating loss carry-forwards will begin to expire at various times beginning in 2007. The Company's federal research and development and alternative minimum tax credit carry-forwards for income tax purposes are approximately \$4.8 million and \$3.2 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. If not utilized, the federal tax credit carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2017. In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. As a result of operating losses incurred in 2001 and 2002 and uncertainty as to the extent and timing of profitability in future periods, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance of approximately \$115.8 million and \$72.6 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The assessment of the valuation allowance requires significant judgment and can materially affect net income. If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future becomes more likely than not, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase net income in the period such determination is made.

The Company has a deferred tax asset pertaining to net operating loss carry-forwards resulting from the exercise of employee stock options of approximately \$4.4 million at both December 31, 2002 and 2001. When recognized, the tax benefit of these loss carry-forwards will be accounted for as a credit to additional paid-incapital.

The Company did not provide for United States income taxes and foreign withholding taxes on a cumulative total of approximately \$5.2 million and \$10.5 million of undistributed earnings for certain non-United States subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001. The Company intends to reinvest any earnings indefinitely in operations outside the United States.

Net total income taxes (received) paid in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were approximately \$(33.0) million, \$565,000 and \$16.4 million, respectively.

## (11) Commitments and Contingencies

The Company maintains its executive offices in Cambridge, Massachusetts and operating offices in several locations throughout the United States and abroad. Future minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2002 were as follows (in thousands):

	Total
2003	\$42,596
2004	
2005	9,093
2006	•
2007	4,782
Thereafter	17,510

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was approximately \$10.9 million, \$22.4 million and \$25.4 million, respectively.

The Company has certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of its business activities. The Company accrues contingent liabilities when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. The Company is subject to various pending or threatened legal claims and administrative audits which have arisen in the ordinary course of its business. The Company has an accrual at December 31, 2002 of approximately \$858,000 related to those items that remain outstanding. The ultimate outcome of these items is uncertain and the potential loss, if any, may be significantly higher or lower than amounts previously accrued by the Company.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

As permitted under Delaware law, the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Company will indemnify its officers and Directors for certain claims asserted against them in connection with their service as an officer or Director of the Company. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make under these indemnification provisions is unlimited. However, the Company has purchased certain Directors' and Officers' insurance policies that reduce its monetary exposure and enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result of the Company's insurance coverage, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification arrangements is minimal.

The Company frequently has agreed to indemnification provisions in professional services agreements with its clients and in its real estate leases in the ordinary course of its business. Pursuant to these provisions, the Company indemnifies the indemnified party for certain losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party. With respect to the Company's professional services agreements, these indemnification provisions typically apply to any claim asserted against its client for infringement of intellectual property rights, but may also include claims asserted against its client relating to personal injury or property damage, violations of law or certain breaches of the Company's contractual obligations. With respect to lease agreements, these indemnification provisions typically apply to claims asserted against the landlord relating to personal injury and property damage caused by the Company, violations of law or to certain breaches of the Company's contractual obligations. In each case, the term of these indemnification provisions generally survives the termination of the agreement, although the provision has the most relevance during the contract term and for a short period of time thereafter. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be required to make under these indemnification provisions is unlimited, although in many cases the Company's liability for indemnification is limited to a specific dollar amount in the applicable contract. The Company also has purchased insurance policies covering professional errors and omissions, property damage and general liability that reduce its monetary exposure for indemnification and enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. The Company has never paid any material amounts to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification provisions. Accordingly, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification arrangements is minimal.

The Company frequently warrants that the technology solutions it develops for its clients will operate in accordance with the project specifications without defects for a specified warranty period, subject to certain limitations that the Company believes are standard in the industry. In the event that defects are discovered during the warranty period, and none of the limitations apply, the Company is obligated to remedy the defects until the solution that the Company provided operates within the project specifications. The Company is not typically obligated by contract to provide its clients with any refunds of the fees they have paid, although a small number of its contracts provide for the payment of liquidated damages upon default. The Company has purchased insurance policies covering professional errors and omissions, property damage and general liability that reduce its monetary exposure for warranty-related claims and enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. The Company typically provides in its contracts for testing and client acceptance procedures that are designed to mitigate the likelihood of warranty-related claims, although there can be no assurance that such procedures will be effective for each project. The Company has never paid any material amounts with respect to the warranties for its solutions, although the Company sometimes commits unanticipated levels of effort to projects to remedy defects covered by its warranties. Deferred revenues on contracts related to warranties is immaterial as of December 31, 2002 and 2001.

#### (12) Stock Plans

## (a) 1992 Stock Option Plan

During 1992, the Company approved the 1992 Stock Plan (the 1992 Plan) for its employees. The 1992 Plan provided for the Board of Directors to grant stock options, stock purchase authorizations and stock bonus

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

awards up to an aggregate of 20,000,000 shares of non-voting common stock. Since consummation of the Company's initial public offering of common stock in April 1996, no further grants or awards may be made pursuant to the 1992 Stock Plan. Previously outstanding awards remain outstanding, and are exercisable for shares of the Company's common stock.

Most stock options granted under the 1992 Plan qualify as Incentive Stock Options (ISO) under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code. The price at which shares may be purchased with each option was specified by the Board at the date the option was granted, but in the case of an ISO, was not less than the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The duration of each option was specified by the Board, but no option designated as an ISO can be exercised beyond ten years from the date of grant. Stock options granted under the 1992 Plan generally become exercisable over a four-year period, are nontransferable, and expire six years after the date of grant (subject to earlier termination in the event of the termination of the optionee's employment or other relationship with the Company).

#### (b) 1996 Equity Stock Incentive Plan

The Company's 1996 Equity Stock Incentive Plan (the 1996 Plan) authorizes the Company to grant options to purchase common stock, to make awards of restricted common stock and to issue certain other equity-related awards to employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company. A total of 19,200,000 shares of common stock may be issued under the 1996 Plan. The 1996 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which selects the persons to whom stock options and other awards are granted and determines the number of shares, the exercise or purchase prices, the vesting terms and the expiration dates of options granted. Non-qualified stock options may be granted at exercise prices which are above, equal to or below the grant date fair market value of the common stock. The exercise price of options qualifying as Incentive Stock Options may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the grant date. Stock options granted under the 1996 Plan are nontransferable, generally become exercisable over a four-year period and expire ten years after the date of grant (subject to earlier termination in the event of the termination of the optionee's employment or other relationship with the Company).

#### (c) 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Purchase Plan) authorized the issuance of up to 3,600,000 shares of common stock to participating employees through a series of semi-annual offerings. The maximum number of shares available in each offering was 200,000 shares (plus any unpurchased shares available from previous offerings) for the first six offerings, 240,000 shares (plus any unpurchased shares available from previous offerings) for the seventh through ninth offerings, 480,000 shares (plus any unpurchased shares available from previous offerings) for the tenth offering and 600,000 shares (plus any unpurchased shares available from previous offerings) for the eleventh and twelfth offerings. As of June 30, 2002, all twelve offerings had occurred, and the Purchase Plan expired.

An employee became eligible to participate in the Purchase Plan when he or she was regularly employed by the Company for at least 20 hours a week and for more than five months in a calendar year on the first day of the applicable offering. The price at which employees could purchase common stock in an offering was 85 percent of the closing price of the common stock on the Nasdaq National Market on the day the offering commenced or on the day the offering terminated, whichever was lower. Approximately 39 percent, 56 percent and 58 percent of eligible employees participated in at least one of the two offerings under the Purchase Plan during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Under the Purchase Plan, the Company sold 1,198,002, 856,849, and 377,044 shares of common stock in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

#### (d) 1996 Director Stock Option Plan

The Company's 1996 Director Stock Option Plan (the Director Plan) authorizes the issuance of 240,000 shares of common stock. Each non-employee director elected to the Board of Directors after the adoption of the Director Plan will, upon his or her election, automatically be granted an option to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the grant date. Options granted pursuant to the Directors Plan vest in four equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant and generally expire ten years after the date of grant. As of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, options to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock were outstanding under the Director Plan.

#### (e) 1998 Stock Incentive Plan

The Company's 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the 1998 Plan) authorizes the Company to grant options to purchase common stock, to make awards of restricted common stock, and to issue certain other equity-related awards to employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company. The total number of shares of common stock which may be issued under the 1998 Plan is 18,000,000 shares. The 1998 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which selects the persons to whom stock options and other awards are granted and determines the number of shares, the exercise or purchase prices, the vesting terms and the expiration date. Non-qualified stock options may be granted at exercise prices which are above, equal to or below the grant date fair market value of the common stock. The exercise price of options qualifying as Incentive Stock Options may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the grant date. Stock options granted under the 1998 Plan are nontransferable, generally become exercisable over a four-year period and expire ten years after the date of grant (subject to earlier termination in the event of the termination of the optionee's employment or other relationship with the Company).

#### (f) Adjacency, Inc. 1998 Stock Option Plan

In connection with the acquisition of Adjacency, the Company assumed the outstanding options granted under the Adjacency 1998 Stock Option Plan (the Adjacency Plan). The Adjacency Plan was originally adopted by Adjacency in 1998 and provided for the grant of stock options up to an aggregate of 4,000,000 shares of Class B common stock of Adjacency. In November 1998, prior to the acquisition, Adjacency had granted a total of 437,000 options to its employees at exercise prices between \$2.36 and \$12.15 per share. As a result of the acquisition, the Company assumed options under the Adjacency Plan, and converted them into options to purchase 253,016 shares of the Company's common stock. The shares vested ratably over three years starting on the date of employment, except for certain employees who were granted accelerated vesting upon a change-in-control of Adjacency. The total compensation charge taken over the vesting period was approximately \$7.2 million, since the options were granted at below fair market value. Stock-based compensation expense, relating to these options, was approximately \$247,000 and \$440,000 for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The deferred compensation has been fully amortized as of December 31, 2001. No further grants may be made pursuant to the Adjacency Plan. Previously outstanding options under the Adjacency Plan remain outstanding, and are exercisable for shares of the Company's common stock.

#### (g) Human Code 1994 Stock Option/Stock Issuance Plan

Prior to the acquisition of Human Code, options to purchase approximately 2,864,000 shares of Human Code common stock were outstanding at exercise prices between \$0.10 and \$3.25 per share. As a result of the acquisition, the Company assumed these outstanding Human Code stock options and converted them into options to purchase approximately 471,000 shares of the Company's common stock at exercise prices between \$1.00 and \$32.64 per share. The options vest ratably over periods up to four years. The Company recorded

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

deferred compensation of \$11.2 million related to the intrinsic value of the unvested options, of which approximately \$184,000 has not been amortized as of December 31, 2002. Stock-based compensation expense relating to these options was approximately \$342,000, \$2.0 million and \$1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In connection with the termination of certain Human Code employees to whom the deferred compensation related, \$374,000 and \$6.9 million was reversed through additional paid-in-capital during 2002 and 2001, respectively. The remaining deferred compensation will be charged to operations at the rate of approximately \$75,000 per quarter for the next two quarters, and \$34,000 in total thereafter, spread over approximately two quarters. No further grants may be made pursuant to the Human Code Plan. Previously outstanding options under the Human Code Plan remain outstanding, and are exercisable for shares of the Company's common stock.

#### (h) 2001 Stock Option Plan

The Company's 2001 Stock Option Plan (the 2001 Plan) authorizes the Company to grant options to purchase common stock to employees and directors of, and consultants to, the Company. The total number of shares of common stock which may be issued under the 2001 Plan is 12,000,000 shares. The 2001 Plan is administered by the Board of Directors, or a subcommittee thereof, which selects the persons to whom stock options are granted and determines the number of shares, the exercise prices, the vesting terms and the expiration date. Under the terms of the 2001 Plan, no stock options, including non-qualified options, may be granted at exercise prices which are below the grant date fair market value of the common stock. Stock options granted under the 2001 Plan are nontransferable, generally become exercisable over a four-year period and expire ten years after the date of grant (subject to earlier termination in the event of the termination of the optionee's employment or other relationship with the Company).

#### (i) 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 2002 Purchase Plan) authorizes the issuance of up to 2,700,000 shares of common stock to participating employees through a series of periodic offerings. The precise length of each offering, and the maximum number of shares available for purchase in each offering, are established by the Company's Board of Directors in advance of the applicable offering commencement date. The first offering under the 2002 Purchase Plan ran from July 1, 2002 until February 28, 2003, and the maximum number of shares available was 720,000 shares. The second offering under the 2002 Purchase Plan will run from March 1, 2003 until August 31, 2003, and the maximum number of shares available will be 540,000 shares (plus any unpurchased shares from the previous offering). An employee becomes eligible to participate in the Purchase Plan when he or she is regularly employed by the Company for at least 20 hours a week and for more than five months in a calendar year on the first day of the applicable offering. The price at which employees can purchase common stock in an offering is 85 percent of the closing price of the common stock on the Nasdaq National Market on the day the offering commences or on the day the offering terminates, whichever is lower.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

A summary of the status of the Company's stock option plans for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is presented below:

	20	2002 2001		2000		
Fixed Options	Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price
		(In th	ousands, exc	ept per share	data)	
Outstanding at beginning of year	24,620	\$19.55	28,034	\$23.27	25,048	\$11.14
Granted	7,432	\$ 2.43	7,737	\$ 9.75	10,471	\$36.67
Exercised	(136)	\$ 1.56	(1,929)	\$ 4.85	(4,681)	\$ 6.33
Forfeited	(8,680)	\$19.96	(9,222)	\$25.73	(2,804)	\$22.97
Outstanding at end of year	23,236	\$14.04	24,620	\$19.55	28,034	\$23.27
Options exercisable at year end	10,627		8,822		6,963	
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year	\$ 2.43		\$ 9.75		\$ 37.26	
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year below fair value (see Note 12(f) and 12(g) relating to the Adjacency and Human Code Plan)	<u>\$</u>		<u> </u>		\$ 38.38	

The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The following are the weighted average assumptions for grants in 2002, 2001 and 2000: dividend yield of 0.0 percent for each year; expected volatility of 124, 117 and 119 percent in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively; risk free interest rates ranging from 1.7 to 6.2 percent; and expected lives of 4 years. The pro forma impact on the three years ended December 31, 2002 is not necessarily representative of the pro forma effects which may be expected in future years.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002:

	Op	tions Outstanding	Options Exercisable		
Range of Exercise Prices	Number Outstanding	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number Exercisable	Weighted Average Exercise Price
	(In thousands)			(In thousands)	
\$0.00 to \$0.15	564	1.5 years	\$ 0.15	564	\$ 0.15
\$0.16 to \$1.47	4,858	9.4 years	\$ 1.44	32	\$ 0.75
\$1.48 to \$5.93	2,512	7.8 years	\$ 4.80	1,034	\$ 5.18
\$5.97 to \$7.25	2,868	6.4 years	\$ 6.62	1,968	\$ 6.47
\$7.27 to \$10.31	3,483	6.6 years	\$ 9.70	2,353	\$ 9.66
\$10.33 to \$12.91	2,496	7.2 years	\$11.16	1,159	\$11.30
\$12.94 to \$28.69	2,741	6.8 years	\$18.61	1,811	\$18.02
\$28.97 to \$51.94	2,355	7.3 years	\$42.70	1,090	\$41.28
\$51.95 to \$69.27	1,348	7.1 years	\$54.96	610	\$55.45
\$69.28 to \$69.28	11	7.6 years	\$69.28	6	\$69.28
\$0.00 to \$69.28	23,236	7.3 years	\$14.04	10,627	\$15.61

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

#### (13) Retirement Plans

The Company established a 401(k) retirement savings plan for employees in June 1994. Under the provisions of the plan, the Company matches 25 percent of an employee's contribution, up to a maximum of \$1,250 per employee per year. Total Company contributions in 2002, 2001 and 2000 were approximately \$1.2 million, \$2.3 million and \$1.9 million, respectively.

#### (14) Stockholders' Equity

#### (a) Restricted Common Stock

On October 23, 2002, the Company granted 324,500 shares of restricted common stock to senior officers of the Company. The Company did not make grants of restricted shares to Messrs. Greenberg and Moore. These shares will vest ratably over a period of four years. The stock-based compensation charge was approximately \$17,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2002, and will be approximately \$25,000 per quarter for the next 47 quarters, or \$101,000 annually.

#### (b) Preferred Stock

On February 13, 1996, the Board of Directors authorized an amendment to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation giving the Board the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares, \$0.01 par value, of preferred stock with terms to be established by the Board at the time of issuance.

#### (c) Treasury Stock

On September 20, 2001, the Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to \$25.0 million over a one-year period. Any purchases under the stock repurchase program were made from time-to-time, in the open market, through block trades or otherwise. Under this program, the Company repurchased \$5.6 million of its common stock. On October 24, 2002, the Company announced a new stock repurchase program of up to \$20.0 million over the following year. This program became effective immediately. Purchases under the stock repurchase program may be made from time-to-time, in the open market, through block trades or otherwise. The Company also repurchased 299,696 shares of restricted stock for \$0.01 per share, as a result of forfeitures attributable to former TLG employees leaving the Company prior to vesting.

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

#### (d) Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The following information presents the Company's computation of basic and diluted EPS for the periods presented in the consolidated statements of operations (in thousands, except per share data):

	2002	2001	2000
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$(222,462)	\$(185,809)	\$49,226
Loss from discontinued operations	\$ (6,741)	\$ (3,959)	<u>\$(2,266)</u>
Net income (loss)	<u>\$(229,203)</u>	<u>\$(189,768</u> )	<u>\$46,960</u>
Basic net income (loss) per share:			
Weighted average common shares outstanding	124,961	124,256	119,191
Shares used in computing per share amount	124,961	124,256	119,191
Continuing operations	\$ (1.78)	\$ (1.49)	\$ 0.41
Discontinued operations	<u>\$ (0.05)</u>	\$ (0.04)	\$ (0.02)
Basic net income (loss) per share	\$ (1.83)	\$ (1.53)	\$ 0.39
Diluted net income (loss) per share:			
Weighted average common shares outstanding	124,961	124,256	119,191
Dilutive stock options			14,573
Shares used in computing per share amount	124,961	124,256	133,764
Continuing operations	\$ (1.78)	\$ (1.49)	\$ 0.37
Discontinued operations	<u>\$ (0.05)</u>	\$ (0.04)	\$ (0.02)
Diluted net income (loss) per share	<u>\$ (1.83)</u>	<u>\$ (1.53)</u>	\$ 0.35

Options to purchase approximately 22.7 million and 22.5 million shares of common stock were outstanding for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the Company recorded a net loss from continuing operations for each of the years. Options to purchase approximately 3.9 million shares of common stock for the year ended December 31, 2000 were outstanding but were not included in the computations of diluted EPS because the exercise price of the options was greater than the average market price of the Company's common stock for the period reported.

#### (15) Acquisitions

On October 25, 2000, the Company consummated an agreement to acquire TLG, a provider of strategy and business consulting services. In connection with the acquisition, the Company invested approximately \$2.2 million in cash directly into TLG, issued 671,000 shares of its common stock to selling shareholders, and issued approximately 1,529,000 shares of its common stock to the former TLG employees continuing with the Company. The shares issued to the former TLG employees continuing with the Company are restricted and subject to vesting based on continued employment with the Company. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. TLG's results of operations are included in the Company's consolidated statement of operations from the date of acquisition. Pro forma results combining the Company and TLG are not materially different from the Company's results of operations. The restricted shares had a value of \$10.0 million upon issuance, and the Company began to amortize the \$10.0 million of restricted common stock over the vesting period of 4.75 years commencing on October 25, 2000. The period should have been 4.0 years, which was corrected during 2002. The total compensation charge was approximately \$2.7 million, \$2.1 million and \$351,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Stock-based

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

compensation for the year ended December 31, 2002 includes a non-recurring catch-up adjustment of approximately \$461,000 to correct the amortization period. The Company expects this charge to be approximately \$267,000 for each of the next seven quarters, and \$91,000 for the final quarter. The Company reversed \$2.0 million of deferred compensation through additional paid-in-capital for the year ended December 31, 2002 as a result of forfeitures attributable to several former TLG employees leaving the Company prior to vesting in the restricted stock. Also, in connection with the termination of these former TLG employees, the Company accelerated the vesting of approximately 138,000 restricted shares. This resulted in a charge of approximately \$903,000, which was recognized in the statement of operations under the caption "Restructuring and other related charges," for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002.

On August 28, 2000, the Company acquired all of the outstanding common stock of Human Code for approximately \$133.1 million in stock and replacement of existing Human Code stock options, and direct acquisition costs of approximately \$1.9 million. Human Code is a provider of interactive design services for broadband applications. The Company issued approximately 1,508,000 shares of its common stock and approximately 471,000 stock options of the Company pursuant to this acquisition. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. In 2001, 150,334 shares were returned to Sapient upon resolution of an indemnification claim asserted by the Company pursuant to the terms of the acquisition agreement. These shares were valued at \$944,000, the fair value of the shares on the date that the former Human Code shareholders agreed to the return of the shares, and were recorded as a reduction to goodwill. Human Code's results of operations are included in the Company's consolidated statement of operations from the date of acquisition.

A summary of the acquisition follows (in thousands):

Common stock	\$100,228
Stock options	29,941
Transaction costs	1,941
Total consideration	132,110
Fair value of net liabilities assumed	2,161
Excess of purchase price over fair value of net tangible assets acquired	\$134,271

The excess of purchase price over fair value of net tangible assets acquired was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Customer contracts	\$	300
Assembled workforce and employment agreements		2,900
Deferred compensation		11,185
Developed technology		13,000
Deferred income taxes		(6,480)
Goodwill	_1	13,366
Total	<u>\$1</u>	34,271

The remaining intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over adjusted lives of fourteen months. These intangible assets will be fully amortized during the twelve months ended December 31, 2003. See Notes 5 and 6 for Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

Below are the pro forma results of operations for the Company and Human Code assuming that the acquisition of Human Code occurred at the beginning of the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2000 (in thousands, except per share amounts).

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	20	00
	(Unau	dited)
Net revenues	\$516	5,800
Net income	\$ 26	6,641
Basic net income per share	\$	0.22
Diluted net income per share	\$	0.20

The unaudited pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the operating results that would have occurred had this acquisition been consummated as of January 1, 2000, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results.

On June 30, 2000, the Company invested \$2.0 million directly in HWT, Inc. (HWT, formerly HealthWatch Technologies, L.L.C.) in connection with a reorganization of HWT. As a result of this investment and reorganization, the Company's equity ownership of HWT increased to approximately 55%, which resulted in the Company assuming control of HWT as of that date. Prior to the reorganization, the Company had a less than 50% non-controlling ownership interest in HWT and accounted for this investment using the equity method of accounting. The consolidated statements of operations include the results of operations of HWT from the date of this additional investment. The investment and reorganization has been accounted for as a purchase and, accordingly, the purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their respective fair values. Pro forma results combining the Company and HWT are not materially different from the Company's results of operations.

On January 24, 2003, the Company increased its ownership percentage in HWT to 69% by purchasing a total of 587,092 shares of HWT common stock from Jerry A. Greenberg and J. Stuart Moore, its Co-Chairmen and Co-CEOs, for a total purchase price of \$557,737, in cash. The purchase price per share paid to Messrs. Greenberg and Moore was \$0.95, which represented a substantial loss from their cost basis per share of \$5.00. Messrs. Greenberg and Moore are no longer shareholders of HWT. The Company also commenced a tender offer on January 24, 2003 to purchase the remaining shares of HWT, for \$1.05 per share, in cash. The tender offer period expired on February 24, 2003. As a result of the tender offer, the Company purchased a total of 773,151 shares of HWT common stock, for a total purchase price of \$811,809, and the Company's ownership percentage in HWT increased from 69% to 85%.

#### (16) Related Party Transactions

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company recognized approximately \$229,000, \$1.6 million and \$1.4 million, respectively, in net revenues from consulting services provided to related parties in which the Company has non-controlling equity interests. In addition to recognizing revenue for services provided to Sapient S.p.A., the Company reduced general and administrative expenses by approximately \$100,000, \$322,000 and \$992,000 for start up and administrative services billed to the joint venture during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. At December 31, 2001, the Company had receivables due from these entities of approximately \$434,000. At December 31, 2002, the Company had no net receivables due from this entity. The Company incurred costs of approximately \$9,000, \$361,000 and \$863,000 in start up services provided by DI to Sapient KK for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

On January 31, 2000, the Company entered into a strategic relationship with a client which included, among other things, the Company becoming a preferred supplier to that client and its affiliated entities. As part of the relationship, the Co-CEOs and Co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors of the Company each issued a \$10.0 million convertible note to the client. The notes were convertible into shares of the Company's common stock owned by the Co-CEOs and Co-Chairmen at a conversion rate equal to the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date the convertible notes were executed. The client's ability to convert the notes was subject to certain vesting restrictions, based upon the client's ability to achieve certain revenue targets to Sapient within prescribed time frames. During the three months ended June 30, 2002, the Co-CEOs

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

and Co-Chairmen of the Board of Directors of the Company each repaid these notes in full. The client had not converted any portion of the notes into shares of its common stock prior to the repayment and there are no future conversion rights which remain in existence.

#### (17) Discontinued Operations

On October 25, 2002, as a result of the decline in the demand for advanced technology consulting services in Japan and the resulting declines in Sapient KK's service revenues, the Company announced that it would discontinue its Sapient KK operations in Japan. In December 2002, Sapient KK ceased its operating activities and the Japan office was closed.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," which was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2002, the results of operations of a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale shall be reported in discontinued operations if both of the following conditions are met: (a) the operations and cash flows of the component have been (or will be) eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity as a result of the disposal transaction and (b) the entity will not have any significant continuing involvement in the operations of the component after the disposal transaction. A component of an entity that will be abandoned through the liquidation or run-off of operations shall be classified as a discontinued operation when operations cease. SFAS 144 supersedes the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30 (APB 30), "Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions," for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 retains the basic provisions of APB 30 for the presentation of discontinued operations in the statement of operations but broadens that presentation to include a component of an entity (rather than a segment of a business). A component of an entity comprises operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 144 in 2002, under the rules of APB 30, the Company would not have classified Japan as discontinued operations.

Japan's operating results for 2002 and for all prior periods presented have been collapsed and reclassified into a single line item under the caption "Loss from discontinued operations." The table below presents the carrying amount of Sapient KK's assets and liabilities, which are included in the Company's consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002 (in thousands):

Assets:	
Current assets	
Other assets	1,061
Total assets	1,508
Liabilities:	
Current liabilities	<u>167</u>
Net assets	\$1,341

The table below presents service revenues and pre-tax loss from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (in thousands):

	2002	2001	2000
Service revenues	\$ 2,401	\$ 4,533	\$ 375
Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations	\$(6,741)	\$(3,959)	\$(2,171)

The \$6.7 million pre-tax loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2002, includes losses on discontinued operations of approximately \$1.0 million for a charge related to the repurchase

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

of minority interest and approximately \$1.1 million for a write-off of cumulative translation adjustments. See Note 7.

## (18) Quarterly Financial Results (Unaudited)

The following tables set forth certain unaudited quarterly results of operations of the Company for 2002 and 2001. The quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations.

	•	Three Months	Ended (Unaudited	I)
	March 31, 2002	June 30, 2002	September 30, 2002	December 31, 2002
		(In thousands, ex	xcept per share da	ta)
Revenues:				
Service revenues	\$ 49,123	\$ 39,741	\$ 43,042	\$ 41,905
Reimbursable expenses	2,672	2,050	1,893	1,947
Total gross revenues  Operating expenses:	51,795	41,791	44,935	43,852
Project personnel costs, before				
reimbursable expenses	41,019	33,201	31,189	27,866
Reimbursable expenses	2,672	2,050	1,893	1,947
Total project personnel costs	43,691	35,251	33,082	29,813
Selling and marketing costs	6,803	7,002	6,532	5,855
General and administrative costs	24,344	21,350	17,333	16,311
Restructuring and other related charges	48,735	9,778	(4,269)	12,641
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets	•	107,430	_	_
Amortization of intangible assets	1,566	1,566	598	598
Stock-based compensation	638	701	1,358	464
Total operating expenses	125,777	183,078	54,634	65,682
Loss from operations	(73,982)	(141,287)	(9,699)	(21,830)
Gain on equity investment change in interest		1,755	_	_
Other income (expense)	(4)	8	(246)	275
Interest income	1,184	1,229	<u>975</u>	924
Loss before income taxes, net equity from investees and loss from discontinued	(52.000)	(120.205)	(0.050)	(20 (21)
operations	(72,802)	(138,295)	(8,970)	(20,631)
Income tax provision (benefit)	(19,460)	<u>451</u>	174	250
Loss before net equity from investees and loss from discontinued operations	(53,342)	(138,746)	(9,144)	(20,881)
Net equity income (loss) from investees	<u>(6</u> )	(529)	162	24
Loss from continuing operations	(53,348)	(139,275)	(8,982)	(20,857)
Loss from discontinued operations	(624)	(453)	(1,855)	(3,809)

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Net loss       \$(53,972)       \$(139,728)       \$(10,837)       \$(24,666)         Basic and diluted loss per share:       Continuing operations       \$(0.42)       \$(1.10)       \$(0.07)       \$(0.17)         Discontinued operations       \$(0.01)       \$(0.00)       \$(0.02)       \$(0.03)         September 30, 2001       \$(0.20)       \$(0.20)       \$(0.20)         Three Months Ended (Unaudited)         In thousands, except per share data         Revenues:         Service revenues       \$107,608       \$86,394       \$69,037       \$62,126         Reimbursable expenses       \$6,039       \$5,752       \$4,458       \$5,047         Total gross revenues       \$113,647       \$92,146       73,495       \$67,173         Operating expenses:       Project personnel costs, before
Basic and diluted loss per share:   Continuing operations
Continuing operations       \$ (0.42)       \$ (1.10)       \$ (0.07)       \$ (0.17)         Discontinued operations       \$ (0.01)       \$ (0.00)       \$ (0.02)       \$ (0.03)         Three Months Ended (Unaudited)         March 31, 2001       June 30, 2001       September 30, 2001       December 31, 2001         Revenues:         Service revenues       \$107,608       \$ 86,394       \$ 69,037       \$ 62,126         Reimbursable expenses       6,039       5,752       4,458       5,047         Total gross revenues       113,647       92,146       73,495       67,173         Operating expenses:       Project personnel costs, before
Continuing operations       \$ (0.42)       \$ (1.10)       \$ (0.07)       \$ (0.17)         Discontinued operations       \$ (0.01)       \$ (0.00)       \$ (0.02)       \$ (0.03)         Three Months Ended (Unaudited)         March 31, 2001       June 30, 2001       September 30, 2001       December 31, 2001         Revenues:         Service revenues       \$107,608       \$ 86,394       \$ 69,037       \$ 62,126         Reimbursable expenses       6,039       5,752       4,458       5,047         Total gross revenues       113,647       92,146       73,495       67,173         Operating expenses:       Project personnel costs, before
Discontinued operations   \$ (0.01)   \$ (0.00)   \$ (0.02)   \$ (0.03)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.43)   \$ (0.44)   \$ (0.
\$\\ \text{(0.43)} \ \ \frac{\\$(0.10)}{\\$(0.09)} \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \
2001         2001         2001         2001           (In thousands, except per share data)           Revenues:           Service revenues         \$107,608         \$86,394         \$69,037         \$62,126           Reimbursable expenses         6,039         5,752         4,458         5,047           Total gross revenues         113,647         92,146         73,495         67,173           Operating expenses:           Project personnel costs, before
Revenues:         Service revenues       \$107,608       \$86,394       \$69,037       \$62,126         Reimbursable expenses       6,039       5,752       4,458       5,047         Total gross revenues       113,647       92,146       73,495       67,173         Operating expenses:       Project personnel costs, before
Service revenues       \$107,608       \$86,394       \$69,037       \$62,126         Reimbursable expenses       6,039       5,752       4,458       5,047         Total gross revenues       113,647       92,146       73,495       67,173         Operating expenses:         Project personnel costs, before
Reimbursable expenses 6,039 5,752 4,458 5,047  Total gross revenues 113,647 92,146 73,495 67,173  Operating expenses: Project personnel costs, before
Total gross revenues
Operating expenses: Project personnel costs, before
Project personnel costs, before
reimpursable expenses
•
Reimbursable expenses
Total project personnel costs
Selling and marketing costs
General and administrative costs
Restructuring and other related charges 47,342 3,470 42,047 7,220
Amortization of intangible assets 6,593 6,593 7,504 7,436
Stock-based compensation         1,501         1,309         939         700
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Gain on equity investment change in interest 1,407 — — —
Other income (expense)
Interest income
Loss before income taxes, net equity from investees, and loss from discontinued
operations
Income tax provision (benefit)
Loss before net equity from investees, and loss from discontinued operations (47,970) (16,323) (93,064) (27,953)
Net equity loss from investees
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net loss

## NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

	Three Months Ended (Unaudited)							
	M	arch 31, 2001	J	une 30, 2001	Sept	ember 30, 2001	Dec	ember 31, 2001
		(	In th	nousands, e	xcept	per share da	ata)	
Basic and diluted loss per share:								
Continuing operations	\$	(0.39)	\$	(0.13)	\$	(0.75)	\$	(0.22)
Discontinued operations	\$	(0.00)	\$	(0.01)	\$_	(0.01)	<u>\$</u>	(0.01)
	\$	(0.39)	<u>\$</u>	(0.14)	\$	(0.76)	\$	(0.23)

## REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Sapient Corporation:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated January 29, 2003, except for the last paragraph in Note 15, for which the date is March 6, 2003, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K also included an audit of the financial statement schedule listed in Item 14(a) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Boston, Massachusetts January 29, 2003

# SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts	Balance at Beginning of Year	Charge to Expense (In thousa	Write-Offs ands)	Balance at End of Year
December 31, 2000	<u>\$1,246</u>	<u>\$6,347</u>	<u>\$(2,160</u> )	\$5,433
December 31, 2001	<u>\$5,433</u>	\$2,706	<u>\$(4,919)</u>	\$3,220
December 31, 2002	<u>\$3,220</u>	\$ 263	<u>\$(1,237)</u>	<u>\$2,246</u>

## Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

#### PART III

#### Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Company

#### A. Directors and Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

The response to this Item regarding the directors of the Company and compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act by the Company's officers and Directors will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions "Election of Directors" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" and is incorporated herein.

#### B. Executive Officers of the Company

The response to this Item is contained in Part I, after Item 4.

#### C. Code of Conduct

On January 22, 2003, our Board of Directors approved the Sapient Corporation Code of Ethics and Conduct. Our Code of Ethics and Conduct covers all employees, Directors and independent contractors of the Company, including our Co-Chief Executive Officers and our Chief Financial Officer. A copy of our Code of Ethics and Conduct is included as an exhibit to this Annual Report.

#### Item 11. Executive Compensation

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions "Director Compensation" and "Compensation of Executive Officers" and is incorporated herein.

#### Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and is incorporated herein.

## Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and is incorporated herein.

#### Item 14. Statement of Fees Paid to Independent Auditors

The response to this Item will be contained in the Proxy Statement for the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption "Statement of Fees Paid to Independent Auditors," and is incorporated herein.

#### Item 15. Controls and Procedures

#### **Evaluation of Controls and Procedures**

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, which we have designed to ensure that material information related to the Company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is properly identified and evaluated on a regular basis and disclosed in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. In response to recent legislation and proposed regulations, we reviewed our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls. We also established a disclosure committee which consists of certain members of our senior

management. After the formation of our disclosure committee, and within 90 days prior to the filing of this Annual Report, the disclosure committee carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Co-Chief Executive Officers, Mr. Greenberg and Mr. Moore, and our Chief Financial Officer, Ms. Johnson, of the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls. Based on that evaluation, Mr. Greenberg, Mr. Moore and Ms. Johnson concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls are effective in causing material information to be collected, communicated and analyzed on a timely basis and in ensuring that such information is disclosed in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations.

#### Changes in Controls and Procedures

There were no significant changes in the Company's internal controls, or in other factors that could significantly affect these internal controls, after the date of our most recent evaluation.

#### PART IV

#### Item 16. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

## 16(a)(1) Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements filed as part of this report are listed and indexed on page 45. Schedules other than those listed in the index have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information has been included elsewhere in this report.

#### 16(a) (2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves are included in this report.

#### 16(a)(3) Exhibits

The exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the exhibits. The Company has identified in the Exhibit Index each management contract and compensation plan filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K in response to Item 14(c) of Form 10-K.

#### 16(b) Reports on Form 8-K

Not Applicable.

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

## SAPIENT CORPORATION

	By: /s/ Jerry A. Green	BERG
	Jerry A. Greenb Co-Chairman and Co-Chief I	~
Dated: March 10, 2003		
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securi by the following persons on behalf of the Registr		
Signature	Title	Date
Principal Executive Officers:		
/s/ Jerry A. Greenberg  Jerry A. Greenberg	Co-Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer	March 10, 2003
/s/ J. Stuart Moore  J. Stuart Moore	Co-Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer	March 10, 2003
Principal Financial Officer:		
/s/ Susan D. Johnson Susan D. Johnson	Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer	March 10, 2003
Principal Accounting Officer:		
/s/ Bradley T. Miller Bradley T. Miller	Chief Accounting Officer	March 10, 2003
Directors:		
/s/ Jerry A. Greenberg		March 10, 2003
Jerry A. Greenberg		
/s/ J. STUART MOORE  J. Stuart Moore		March 10, 2003
/s/ Stephen Cheheyl		March 10, 2003
R. Stephen Cheheyl		,
/s/ Dennis H. Chookaszian		March 10, 2003
Dennis H. Chookaszian		
/s/ Darius W. Gaskins, Jr.		March 10, 2003
Darius W. Gaskins, Jr.		
/s/ BRUCE D. PARKER Bruce D. Parker		March 10, 2003
Druce D. Parker		

## CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned hereby certifies that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sapient Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Annual Report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Annual Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Sapient Corporation as of, and for, the periods presented in this Annual Report;
- 4. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for Sapient Corporation and we have:
  - a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to Sapient Corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this Annual Report is being prepared;
  - b) evaluated the effectiveness of Sapient Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this Annual Report (the "Evaluation Date"); and
  - c) presented in this Annual Report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;
- 5. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to Sapient Corporation's auditors and the Audit Committee of Sapient Corporation's Board of Directors:
  - a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect Sapient Corporation's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for Sapient Corporation's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
  - b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Sapient Corporation's internal controls; and
- 6. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this Annual Report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Jerry A. Greenberg	Co-Chief Executive Officer	March 10, 2003
Jerry A. Greenberg	Co-Chairman of the Board	

## CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned hereby certifies that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sapient Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Annual Report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Annual Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Sapient Corporation as of, and for, the periods presented in this Annual Report;
- 4. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for Sapient Corporation and we have:
  - d) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to Sapient Corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this Annual Report is being prepared;
  - e) evaluated the effectiveness of Sapient Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this Annual Report (the "Evaluation Date"); and
  - f) presented in this Annual Report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;
- 5. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to Sapient Corporation's auditors and the Audit Committee of Sapient Corporation's Board of Directors:
  - c) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely
    affect Sapient Corporation's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and
    have identified for Sapient Corporation's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls;
    and
  - d) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Sapient Corporation's internal controls; and
- 6. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this Annual Report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ J. Stuart Moore	Co-Chief Executive Officer	March 10, 2003
J. Stuart Moore	Co-Chairman of the Board	

## CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The undersigned hereby certifies that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sapient Corporation;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this Annual Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Annual Report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Annual Report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Sapient Corporation as of, and for, the periods presented in this Annual Report;
- 4. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for Sapient Corporation and we have:
  - g) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to Sapient Corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this Annual Report is being prepared;
  - h) evaluated the effectiveness of Sapient Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing date of this Annual Report (the "Evaluation Date"); and
  - i) presented in this Annual Report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;
- 5. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to Sapient Corporation's auditors and the Audit Committee of Sapient Corporation's Board of Directors:
  - e) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect Sapient Corporation's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for Sapient Corporation's auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and
  - f) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Sapient Corporation's internal controls; and
- 6. Sapient Corporation's other certifying officers and I have indicated in this Annual Report whether there were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

Signature	<u>Title</u>	<u>Date</u>
/s/ Susan D. Johnson	Chief Financial Officer	March 10, 2003
Susan D. Johnson		

## CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2002 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the Company at the end of such period and the results of operations of the Company for such period.

Signature	<u>Title</u>	<u>Date</u>
/s/ Jerry A. Greenberg  Jerry A. Greenberg	Co-Chief Executive Officer Co-Chairman of the Board	March 10, 2003
/s/ J. STUART MOORE  J. Stuart Moore	Co-Chief Executive Officer Co-Chairman of the Board	March 10, 2003
/s/ Susan D. Johnson Susan D. Johnson	Chief Financial Officer	March 10, 2003

#### **EXHIBIT INDEX**

Exhibit Number	<u>Description</u>
3.1(1)	- Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
3.2(2)	- Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
3.3(3)	— Second Certificate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
3.4(1)	— Amended and Restated Bylaws
4.1(1)	- Specimen Certificate for Shares of Common Stock, \$.01 par value, of the Company
10.1(a)(1)	- Lease dated March 30, 1994 between the Company and One Memorial Drive Limited Partnership for offices at One Memorial Drive, Cambridge, MA
10.1(b)(4)	Second Amendment to Lease dated April 1997 for offices at One Memorial Drive, Cambridge, MA
10.2*(1)†	— 1992 Stock Plan
10.3*(1)†	1996 Equity Stock Incentive Plan
10.4*(1)†	1996 Director Stock Option Plan
10.5*(2)†	1998 Stock Incentive Plan
10.6*(5)†	2001 Stock Option Plan
10.7***(6)	† — 2003 North American and India Bonus Plan
14.1**	— Code of Ethics and Conduct
21**	— List of Subsidiaries
23.1(a)**	— Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

- \* Exhibits previously filed pursuant to Item 14(c) of Form 10-K.
- \*\* Exhibits filed herewith.
- \*\*\* Exhibits filed herewith and pursuant to Item 14(c) of Form 10-K.
  - † Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
- (1) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-1586).
- (2) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 000-28074).
- (3) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 000-28074).
- (4) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 000-28074).
- (5) Incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement for the 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (File No. 000-28074).
- (6) Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions.

## Board of Directors

#### R. Stephen Cheheyl

Former Executive Vice President, Bay Networks, Inc.

#### Dennis H. Chookaszian

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, CNA Insurance Companies

#### Darius W. Gaskins, Jr.

Partner, Norbridge

#### Jerry A. Greenberg

Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors, Co-Chief Executive Officer, Sapient

#### Lt. General (Retired) Gary S. McKissock

Former Deputy Commandant, Installations and Logistics, United States Marine Corps Headquarters

#### J. Stuart Moore

Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors, Co-Chief Executive Officer, Sapient

#### Bruce D. Parker

Former Executive Vice President, Sapient Former Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer, United Airlines

#### Leadership Team

#### Jerry A. Greenberg

Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors
Co-Chief Executive Officer

#### J. Stuart Moore

Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors
Co-Chief Executive Officer

#### Sheeroy Desai

Executive Vice President Chief Operating Officer

#### Preston B. Bradford

Senior Vice President Managing Director, Canada

#### Joseph G. Carrolo

Vice President

Managing Director, Automotive and Industrial

#### Lawrence R. Colvin

Vice President
Managing Director, Public Services

#### Christopher R. Davey

Senior Vice President

Managing Director, Consumer and Transportation

#### Benoit Gaucherin

Vice President
Chief Technology Officer

#### **Amit Govil**

Vice President
Managing Director, India

#### Alan J. Herrick

Executive Vice President
Managing Director, Energy Services

#### Steven J. Hoffman

Executive Vice President
Managing Director, Financial Services

#### Susan D. Johnson

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

#### Donald R. Netson

Vice President
Chief Information Officer

#### Christian Oversohl

Vice President Managing Director, Germany

#### Jane E. Owens

Senior Vice President General Counsel

#### Amy B. Shah

Vice President Marketing

#### Alan M. Wexler

Vice President

Managing Director, Technology and Communications

#### Colin Windsor

Vice President

Managing Director, United Kingdom

## Transfer Agent and Registrar

## American Stock Transfer & Trust Company

40 Wall Street, New York, NY 10005 +1 800 937 5449

## Stock Trading Information

## NASDAQ National Market, Symbol: SAPE

© Sapient Corporation. Sapient is a registered service mark of Sapient Corporation. All other product, service and company names are trademarks or service marks of their respective owners.

Portrait photography @2002 Keith Robbins.



Making technology matter.<sup>™</sup>



#### Headquarters

#### Cambridge

One Memorial Drive Cambridge, MA 02142 +1 617 621 0200

#### Canada

## Toronto

277 Wellington Street West Suite 900 Toronto, Ontario M5V 3E4 +1 416 645 1500

## Germany

#### Düsseldorf

Speditionsstrasse 5 40221 Düsseldorf +49 [0] 211 540 34 0

#### Munich

Kellerstrasse 27 81667 Munich +49 (0) 89 552 9870

## India

## New Delhi

The Presidency
Mehrauli-Gurgaon Road
Sector-14
Gurgaon 122 001
Haryana
+91 124 2808018

#### Italy

#### Milan

Via Crocefisso, 19 20122 Milano +39 02 58217 1

#### United Kingdom London

One Bartholomew Lane London, EC2N 2AX +44 (0) 207 786 4500

#### United States Atlanta

## The Inforum 250 Williams Street

Suite 1400 Atlanta, GA 30303 +1 404 439 4000

#### Chicago

200 West Adams Street Suite 2700 Chicago, IL 60606 +1 312 458 1800

#### Los Angeles

1601 Cloverfield Blvd. Suite 600 South Santa Monica, CA 90404 +1 310 264 6900

## New Jersey

Ten Exchange Place 21st Floor Jersey City, NJ 07302 +1 201 938 2600

### San Francisco

101 California Street Fifth Floor San Francisco, CA 94111 +1 415 263 4000

## Washington, D.C.

1515 North Courthouse Road Seventh Floor Arlington, VA 22201 +1 703 908 2400